FROM THE PORTRAIT BY HAROLD SPEED, 10937




FRANCIS
YOUNGHUSBAND

Explorer and Mystic

DS ———

by
GEORGE SEAVER
Lirt.D.

I cannot praise a fugitive and cloistered virtue,
unexercised and unbreathed, that never sallies out
and sees her adversary, but shirks out of the race
where that immortal garland is to be run for, not
without dust and heat.

MILTON— Areopagitica.

*
LONDON

JOHN MURRAY,

ALBEMARLE STREET, W.



First published 1952

Printed in Great Britain by Butler & Tanner Ltd., Frome and London
and published by John Murray (Publishers) Ltd.



To
EILEEN
YOUNGHUSBAND



To the evolution of the modern idea of Personality, Christianity made the
most notable contribution in investing the human being as such with a character
of sacredness, of spiritual dignity and importance ... as a real factor which
forms the culminating phase in the synthetic creative evolution of the universe.
The Roman traced persona to the authority of the law. The Christian traced
Personality to the Fatherhood of God, which conferred it on all human beings as
a sacred birthright. The philosopher has translated this religious idea into the
universal language of the ethical reason. Here Personality becomes the last
term in the holistic series, a reality in line with the other realities which mark
the creative forward march of Holism. . . .

‘What should be the procedure of the new discipline of Personology ? It
should, of course, take cognizance of the special analytical contributions of
psychology and physiology, and of all the other human sciences, individual
and social, theoretical and practical. But it should do more. Following the
course above indicated, that the Personality is uniquely individual and that this
spedial individual character should not be ignored, it should study the biographies
of noted personalities as expressions of the developing Personality in each
case. . . .

We shall thus get the materials for formulating the laws of personal evolution.
These laws will form the foundation for a new science of Biography which
will take the place of the empirical unsatisfactory patchwork affair which
biography now mostly is. . . .

The lives for this scientific study as examples of personal holistic evolution will
have to be carefully selected. . . . We should select the biographies of people
who had real inner histories, lives of the spirit, as well as a fair capacity for con-
tinuous development during their lifetime. And among these the most helpful
cases would be those where the written record is fairly full in the form of writings
and diaries, and where there was no undue restraint in the process of self-
revelation and faithful portrayal of the inner life and history. On the whole,
the lives of poets, artists, writers, thinkers, religious and social innovators, will
be found the most suitable for the purposes of holistic study. . . . There is
nothing trivial in Personality, and the greatest, most serious work is usually
the most faithful index to the Personality behind. Both are in fact required—
the work as well as the personal record—for a full understanding of any particular
Personality.

Smuts—Holism.

Biography is a lamentable and unreal business in the case of a man who has
no real unique potentiality of his own, no special idiosyncrasy, and is therefore
a mere point of intersection for various fortuitous causal series, acted upon,
as it were, from without. Biography is only a real narration of a real life where,
by the interplay of stimulus and experience on the one side and predisposition
and natural endowment on the other, something individual and unique comes
into being, which is therefore neither the result of a mere * self-unfolding * nor
yet the sum of mere traces and impressions, written from without from moment
to moment upon a ‘ tabula rasa.” In short, to propose a history of mind is to
presuppose a mind or spirit determinately qualified ; to profess to give a history
of religion is to presuppose a spirit specifically qualified for religion.

Ot1o—Idea of the Holy.
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PREFACE

wo achievements of Sir Francis Younghusband captured

the imagination of his countrymen in his lifetime : one, his

penetration as a youth of the Continent of Asia from east to

west by an unknown route, immediately followed by his
crossing of the Himalayas by an unknown pass; the other, his
expedition through Tibet to Lhasa and the successful conclusion of his
diplomatic mission there.

His own record of these journeys, which fifty years ago and less
were in popular demand, are now rare even in public libraries. There
are also scattered references to them, and to intervening travels and
experiences, in several other of his books, two of which are disguised
scraps of early autobiography ; there are the official Blue-books of
East India and the North-West Frontier, and the unpublished cor-
respondence in connection with the Mission to Tibet in the India
Office (now the Commonwealth Relations Office) Library; and
there is a mass of letters, diaries and manuscripts—kindly placed by
his daughter at the writer’s disposal—which cover the whole period
of his long life. The task of the biographer is to weave together
all this scattered material into the pattern.of a consecutive narrative.
The result is a book which is edited autobiography rather than bio-
graphy ; a self-portrait rather than a critical study ; for it is always
better to let a man—when that man is honest—tell his own story
than to try to tell it for him.

In the nature of things by far the majority of his oldest friends,
who would have contributed valuable side-lights to the impression
of his personality, have long since also crossed the boundary ; but
happily there are others who are still in the land of the living and who,
in the words of one of them, are glad to *“ add one white stone to his
cairn . To each and all of them, whose names appear in the text,
the biographer is most grateful; and to Mrs. Longstaff for her
kindness in drawing the maps.

* * * * *

In him were harmonized without tension a combination of qualities
which though opposite were complementary to each other, and gave

to his character both its poise and its stability. Always a lover of
vii



Vil PREFACE

solitude—especially of mountains, wildflowers, and the stars—he was
also a lover of his fellow-men ; somewhat shy and diffident in youth,
he became in manhood the promoter of various societies with pro-
gressive aims. Seriously-minded beyond his years, with a sense of
a high vocation and even of a special destiny, he was acutely sensible
of his shortcomings and was essentially of a humble spirit. Fascinated
by the lure of the bright eyes of danger, he never, or seldom, failed
to exercise discretion and forethought in taking risks. With an
unbounded zest for life—for a life lived largely, strenuously, dan-
gerously, and always at the full pitch of one’s bent—he was con-
siderate for others and did not, unless in cases of absolute necessity,
demand from them the same exertions; though self-exacting to a
degree, he was by nature fundamentally tolerant, equable, and serene.
A soldier by profession, loyal to tradition, and devoted to discipline,
he was by preference an explorer in every sense of that word and
was at his best as a free-lance. English to the bone and intensely
patriotic, he respected the patriotism of other nations; and though
a thorough-going imperialist with a profound conviction of Britain’s
rights and responsibilities in dominating the child-races of mankind,
he was quick to recognize the political aspirations of Asiatic races
under European tutelage, and was one of the first to foresee and to
welcome the demands of the peoples of India for self-government.
Similarly, being himself a convinced Christian (though of no orthodox
persuasion), he deeply sympathized with the convictions of those who
were not, and in later life became the founder of a world-fellowship
of faiths. This last he regarded, and rightly, as the pinnacle of his
whole life’s work.
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Chapter I

ANTECEDENTS AND UPBRINGING

IR FRANCIS came of an old family and the tradition of the fight-

ing services was in his blood. The Younghusbands were of a

Northumbrian stock of Saxon origin, and were freeholders

of the lands of Budle in the parish of Bamburgh, off Holy
Island, from pre-Norman times till the beginning of the 19th century.
The name was originally Oswald, and this became corrupted to
Osborn or Osban; and when the younger of two brothers was
known as Young Osban the name underwent a further corruption :
hence Younghusband. Sir Francis could trace his descent through
eleven generations to an ancestor who was Sheriff of Newcastle upon
Tyne in 1492 and Mayor in 1507. For two hundred years their
residence was Tuggal Hall, near Bamburgh. The first of the family
to enter the services was George Younghusband, Commander R.N.
(1748-1816), whose elder son George, Captain R.N., fought his ship
with distinction in the Battle of the Nile, and whose younger son
Charles was a Major-General in the Royal Artillery. The latter had
five sons, all in the Indian Army: General Romer Younghusband,
C.B.; Lieut.-General Charles Younghusband, C.B. ; Major-General
John William Younghusband, C.S.I. ; Licutenant Edward Young-
husband, killed in action at Mooltan, 1848 ; Lieutenant George
Younghusband, mortally wounded at Kata Nuddea, 1858. (*“ Of
our branch of the family,” he wrote, *“ none who were not killed in
action died under seventy.”’)

Major-General J. W. Younghusband served under Sir Charles
Napier in the Sind campaign of 1843, and afterwards under John
Nicholson on the North-West Frontier. Invalided home in 1856, he
married Clara Jane Shaw, sister of Robert Shaw the Central Asian
explorer. There were five children of the marriage, three sons and
two daughters. The eldest son, Major-General Sir George Young-
husband, K.C.M.G., K.CI1E., commanded the Guides (whose
History he wrote), served with great distinction in several campaigns,
and on retirement was appointed Keeper of the Crown Jewels. The

second son, Colonel Sir Francis Edward Younghusband, K.C.S.I.,
1



2 ANTECEDENTS AND UPBRINGING 1863

K.C.LE,, is the subject of this biography. The youngest son, Major-
General Leslie Napier Younghusband, C.B., C.M.G., followed his
brothers in active service on the North-West Frontier : was twice
awarded the Queen’s Medal with double clasps ; in the first World
War commanded the Force covering the Persian Oil Fields ; and on
retitement to Folkestone promoted the erection of a new Concert
Hall and Pavilion, and the magnificent Sports and County Cricket
Ground. Such a family record must be almost unique in military
records and it has been maintained by two younger generations.

The second son, Francis Edward, was born on 31 May 1863, at
Murree, a hill station on the North-West Frontier. It is beautifully
situated on a high spur of the Himalayan foothills on the borders of
Kashmir, seven thousand feet above the sea. “It is appropriate ”,
his friend Frank Smythe the Himalayan mountaineer has written,
“ that he should have opened his eyes on a scene typical of the many
among which so much of his life was to be spent, the blue undulating
hills leading the eye forwards and onwards through the marching
clouds to the distant splendour of the eternal snows.”

But his infant vision was not allowed to rest there long. From
some scraps of autobiography we learn that when seven months old
he was taken by his mother with the rest of the family for a visit
to her own mother in Bath. His grandmother’s comment in her
diary is not entirely flattering to him : * Emmie interesting, George
bluff, Ethel a lively fairy. Baby looks poor, but merry and splendid
eyes.” This visit would appear to have been of some duration since
he records that “ my earliest recollection is of my Grandmother
giving me sweets. My next is of her funeral which I enjoyed
enormously.” What fascinated him was the long train of carriages
and the horses tossing their black plumes.

After her mother’s death Mrs. Younghusband returned to her
husband in Murree, and here Frank spent a happy childhood. “ No
one could have had a better father and mother than I had, and I
owe nearly everything to them both.” From his father he inherited
soldierly qualities and sound judgment, as well as a natural shrewdness
and swift insight into men and matters that were to stand him in good
stead in many awkward and dangerous situations. His mother had been
educated in several European centres of culture, was artistic and musical
and an accomplished linguist. From her he inherited the more serious
and reflective side of his nature, though none of her special talents.
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- Both my parents were deeply religious, but my father’s interests

were wider. My mother had a certain air of detachment from
this life which, in the vogue of the day, she was apt to regard as
a Vale of Woe ; for her, the real life was in the Hereafter. My
parents’ love and devotion to each other, though undemonstrative,
was of the most exquisite kind. It lit their lives with an inner
glow ; and though no outward display of it was ever made in
the presence of others, yet in the tone of the voice, in an emphasis
or in a glance, it shone out unmistakably. They both had very
gentle natures, though both of them had also tremendous grit.

His upbringing was Victorian in the best sense of an often misused
term : family prayers morning and evening; church twice on
Sundays ; filial duty absolute and obedience unquestioned. “Life
was steady, safe, and sure; it ran in well-oiled grooves; it was
regimented and yet it was also very gracious.” But any sort of
emotion was frowned upon as sentiment : so that when Frank, who
had witnessed few demonstrations of affection and was still a very
little boy, was seen off by his parents for schooling in England, he
was astonished to behold tears streaming down his father’s cheeks
and to feel his mother’s arms about him, hugging him as if she could
never let him go. *“ It was a terrible wrench to be torn away from all
the joys of my home-life and mountain beauty, to go to school.” For
he was naturally gentle and affectionate, sensitive and impressionable.

He was entrusted to the care of two of his father’s sisters who
lived in the little village of Freshford below Bath, at the junction
of the Perrot with the Avon ; a typical west-country hamlet built of
mellowed Bath-stone in the Cotswold style, sheltered by beechwoods
on the hillsides, where bluebells spread their carpets of heaven’s blue
in the springtime, and where the hedgerows bloomed with wild
flowers of every variety in profusion. * There the meadows by the
rivers were always green except in May, when the yellows of the
buttercups and cowslips almost prevailed against it.” But the dis-
cipline was even stricter than it had been at home. “ The Aunts
were severely strict. They wore poke bonnets ; they lived in Spartan
simplicity ; taught in Sunday school ; gave every penny they could
spare to the poor ; waged war against intemperance ; and beat me
with a leather strap for any sort of misdemeanour. But there was
never a trace of anger or irritability in these corrective measures ;

they were administered with good feeling on both sides. They
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taught me to regard ‘ Chapel’ as a sink of iniquity, so that I—with
mingled horror and fascination—longed to take a peep inside and
see what pagan rites were being enacted.”” In later life he always
referred to them affectionately as “ the Freshford Aunts”, and said
that next to his parents he owed them most. On his first leave
from India he made a point of visiting them as soon possible.

Not one atom had they changed. The same old bonnets,
cloaks and dresses, and the same warm welcome. Just before
dinner one of them took me aside and in a whisper said : “ Which
would you like to drink, dear boy, ale or port ? I have both.”—
‘““ My dear Aunt, what are you doing ? You used to be such a
strict teetotaller.”—" So I am still. But you must have just what
you like ; only I don’t know what you young men drink.”—I
was deeply touched ; I knew that they had never before had any
alcohol in their house. Here indeed was hospitality ; and there
was real good company too. They had lived the seemingly
narrow life of a tiny village ; yet they knew life far better than
most of those who live in the great world ever come to know it.
They knew only a few people, but those few they knew au fond.

Somehow the conversation after dinner turned to the subject
of Hell. 1 said cheerily to the elder and more formidable of the
two, *“ Well, anyhow there’s no chance of your going there.”
She eyed me gravely for a moment and then replied, *“ My dear
boy, it is quite certain that I shall. Iam far too bad to go anywhere
else.”  Yet if ever there was a good woman she was. Her whole
life had been spent in doing good. She was the best friend of
everyone, rich and poor. She had not an enemy in the world.
She had a great heart and a great head ; yet so exalted was her
standard of goodness that she did literally believe that she was a
poor miserable sinner and must go to hell. In spite of this she
was never morose ; no one I knew was more unfailingly cheerful.

High character is one thing, however, and doctrinal beliefs are
quite another. Some children’s minds, especially any as receptive
and impressionable as his, might have been permanently warped by
such puritanical teaching ; or worse still, repressed. But in his case
the reaction took the form of an instinctive recoil. There must be
something wrong, he felt, in thinking of God as a Being whose
omnipotence was shown only in pouring forth the vials of His wrath
upon guilty sinners who resisted His will. There must be a mistake
somewhere. ‘‘ The religion I was brought up in”’, he wrote years
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later, ““ never made me happy. The faith that I found for myself
has.”

The austerity of the Aunts’ régime was temporarily alleviated
when at the age of six he was invited to London to stay with Lady
Lawrence, sister-in-law of Sir Henry Lawrence, Bart., of Lucknow
who had been one of his father’s closest friends. (The clock that
was on the table when he died there was presented to the Young-
husband family and is still a treasured keepsake.) The little traveller
found the journey to the Metropolis depressing. The jolting train,
the stifling compartment, the footwarmers, the dingy oil lamps, and
the steamy windows through which he gazed at interminable rows
of shabby houses and belching chimney-pots—all these were dis-
illusionment. But the warmth of his kind hostess’s greeting, her
motherliness, tenderness and charm, were in such contrast to the
treatment to which he had been accustomed that he ‘was deeply
impressed. (She later married Sir George Young of Formosa, and
was the mother of Mr. Geoffrey Winthrop Young, former President
of the Alpine Club.)

Another happy recollection was of a holiday at Combe Florey
Rectory with the Rev. and Mrs. Sanford, made memorable by the
delights of Devonshire crcam and honey (hitherto unexperienced
luxuries), a pony to ride, and a park to roam in and woodland and
moorland for bird-nesting. But most exciting of all was his parents’
home-coming in 1871. He met them at Bath with mixed feelings
of joy and trepidation. He was awed by his father’s erect military
bearing, and remembered with pride being told that the ex-Emperor
Napoleon III had once stopped him in the street for a conversation ;
and he had nothing but reverence for his mother’s loveliness. It was
a family reunion, and for the first time they were all together.

Soon afterwards hc was sent to the village school as a day-boy
and there became infected with ring-worm.  Worse than the physical
discomfort was the scnse of shame, branded upon him as it seemed
by the ignominy of being forced to wear an odious black skull-cap,
and of being made to feel the outcast of his family. It made him
think that he was naughticr than other children, and that they scorned
him for it. About the same time as this small misfortune there
befell him another and a worse. He stole half a crown from a
servant’s pursc and spent it on sweets which he shared with his play-
mates. The crime was discovered and he was so severely scolded
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by his father that he now believed himself to be quite desperately
wicked and, more devastating still, that he was despised by everybody.
This incident cut deep and left a wound that took years to heal. “I
lost my childhood’s happiness, and became serious. Indeed I doubt if
I ever completely recovered it till my old age.” Perhaps this is an
exaggeration due to retrospect, but it well serves to illustrate how
clumsy sometimes, and all too often, are the methods of elders in
correcting the errors and training the tendrils of that most sensitive
plant, a child’s soul. For solace he would wander off alone to a
favourite haunt, a view across the valley of the Avon to a long flat
ridge, and would try to imagine what wonderful country lay beyond
it in the hazy blue distance. And he would gather wild flowers—
cowslips and wood violets and anemones—which were always a source
of inexpressible joy.

Half a century later, when the years of his adventures in foreign
fields were ended, he found himself able in another corner of old
England to recapture the spirit of his boyhood’s rambles in an unex-
pected way. Walking near his home at Westerham in Kent in the
early spring of 1922 he notes in his diary the sight of the first yellow-
hammers and the sound of the cuckoo, and then:

Going up from Brasted towards the hill to the north I met a
group of four little children—three boys and a girl—all between
three and five. They were searching like little birds in the
hedge-bank, a westward facing bank. I could not make out
what they were looking for till I saw the little girl had in her
hand a bunch of about a dozen white violets. Then came a scream
as one little boy discovered another violet and the other two
rushed to look at it. It was then carefully picked, handed round
to be smelt, and given to the little girl. I joined in the hunt
and found two or three. Then there were the wildest shrieks
from one little boy who had scrambled through a gap in the
hedge. I followed after him and found him sitting over a bevy
of about eight white violets, all fully out.

Now it must be fifty years ago and one or two more since I
looked for white violets in the woods at Freshford, but I remember
to this day the joy I felt. And the sight and smell of those white
violets are impressions which will remain with those children
all their days. It is one of those clear healthy impressions which
teach them God. And it is the capacity for enjoyment of this
kind that we should foster and develop. This is one of the
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foundations on which we should build. For it is quite natural
and it is universal.

His summer holidays were spent by the sea in the north or in the
south of Devon, and there he discovered fresh delights in watching
the long procession of great waves rolling in, out of the illimitable
west, and the tall cliffs against which they dashed in thunder ; in
shells and star-fishes and sea-anemones ; and vast clear expanses of
fresh-washed sand.  On one such holiday the family were joined by
Robert Shaw, just back from one of his journeys to Yarkand in
Central Asia, and Frank listened entranced to his uncle’s accounts
of adventures and experiences in distant lands. ““He was a clever
and attractive man, with a marvellous gift for oriental languages.”
His parents returned to India in 1873 and the family was again broken
up. His sisters went to school in Bath, his brother George to Clifton,
whilst Frank and Leslie were sent to a Dames’ School in Taunton kept
by three adventurous spinster sisters named Evans.

In retrospect Sir Francis imagined that at this stage of his career
he was a paragon of rectitude and a model of good behaviour. It
came therefore as a shock to this self-estimate to meet years later
in India a former fellow-pupil at this school, Major Baldock, who
told him that he had looked upon him * with considerable awe ”.
Sir Francis replied that that was quite the right attitude to take, but
what made him take it 2 “ Well,” replied the Major, “ when I joined
up as a new boy I saw you sitting on a box drumming your legs, so
I came up and said, * My name’s Charlie Baldock,” and you replied,
“Oh, it 15, is it ? Well, mine’s Frank Younghusband and I'm the
head of the school, so take that’—and you gave me a good clout
over the head !”

Considering how circumscribed a child’s horizons were in those
days, young Frank seems to have been lucky in his opportunities.
Of his lessons he remembered nothing, but of holiday tours with
his brother and the threc Miss Evans he remembered much. Mine-
head, then a sleepy little fishing village ; Swanage and Corfe Castle ;
the magic loveliness of Lulworth Cove ; Crewkerne Abbey with its
glorious tapestry ; Dunster Castle, and the even mightier bastions
of the Lizard and Land’s End with the tremendous Atlantic combers
rolling in. And a long summer trip through North Wales, with
its rushing streams and mist-wreathed heights : Barmouth, Dolgelly,
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the battlemented Castles of Harlech and Caernarvon, Cader Idris and
the Snowdon ranges. What lay beyond those craggy summits, and
those bare lofty ridges where the grey mists passed in endless batta-
lions ?——The climax came with a pony-ride up Snowdon on a clear
day, with ranks on ranks of peaks all round him, and the broad
glimmer of the Irish Sea stretching away to where the hills of Wicklow
hung like a thin blue-grey cloud on the sky-line :

Not in vain the distance beckons. . . .



Chapter 11

CLIFTON AND SANDHURST

N 1876 he followed his brother George and four cousins to Clifton
College, then—with Wellington and Cheltenham—partly an army
training school. 'The Head Master, Dr. John Percival (afterwards
Bishop of Hereford), was even in his youth remarkable. He
had been appointed, on the school’s foundation in 1865, at the age
of twenty-six : an early example of the modern preference for young
head masters. In his case the experiment was outstandingly successful ;
when Frank Younghusband entered there were already 400 boys,
and Percival had gathered round him several assistant masters of great
ability : T. E. Brown, the Manx poet ; T. W. Dunn ; H. G. Dakyns ;
and A. A. Asquith, brother of the future Prime Minister (known
because of his sarcastic tongue as *“ the Pup ”—but Frank came to like
him). The tradition of the school was already established.
Percival’s standard was no doubt modelled on that of Arnold at
Rugby. In his inaugural address he had laid it down that Clifton
was to be “a place where truth and uprightness and purity, and all
the Christian virtues, were to be held in honour both by masters
and boys. The only great thing in lifc is goodness. To be truthful
and upright, patient and forgiving, industrious and obedient—that
is to be your aim.” And certainly thesec were the standards set and,
what is more surprising, actually practised when Frank was there.
He sought to emulate the example of Tom Brown. And he greatly
admired the carnestness and sincerity of the Head Master’s sermons.
Nevertheless, *“ it was all mediocrity in a superlative degree. All the
graces of lifc were disregarded. No attention was paid to the arts
or natural history. In fact, all such interests were despised.” In
another respect, too, the tradition was overdone. This was in its
cult of * hardness”. It was part of the system that boys should not
have a moment to themsclves. Every physical and mental energy
must be kept constantly on the stretch. They were raced from
lessons to games and back again to lessons ; they were raced through
meals which were ill-cooked and ill-served ; their evenings were
devoted to  prep "—a feat of memory—in which they were expected
9
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to assimilate more than they could digest. Reflecting on all this
later, Sir Francis wrote :

During those great years of rapidly-expanding Empire, scholar-
ship at Clifton was almost of secondary account. The aim, like
that of every other great public school, was to produce MEN
—men of moral and political integrity, men imbued with the
qualities of administration and leadership, men unsparing and
unstinting of themselves in their country’s service; above all,
hard men. It was drilled into all of us that our main aim must
be CHARACTER—written in block capitals “ straight up and
down”, and on no account in graceful flowing lines. Anything
savouring of grace savoured also of femininity. To betray any
sort of sentiment was a crime. But however just the criticisms
of the public school system of yesterday may be, it succeeded in
its aim ; it produced the type of public servant that was needed
for the times.

He threw himself into the spirit of the school with zest, especially
into rugger and running, though it wore him thin as a rake. Once
when still in the Junior School he had, like Tom Brown, the soul-
satisfying experience of saving his side from defeat by an unbroken
run from the twenty-five through the opposing three-quarters, to
beat the back and touch down for the winning try, amidst a chorus
of terrific yells from the big boys on the touch-line of *“ Go it, little
'un! Well run, little "un Oh, well run!” And when only
sixteen he came in third in the Long Penpole cross-country race—a
great triumph for his House : * There were lines of cheering boys
all down the Avenue, and Reynolds the head of the house hugged
me.”  Such plaudits from his fellows made him proud. Though he
left school two years before the usual Public School age, he won nine
cups for running, from the hundred yards to the ten miles; and
in all ways outwardly lived up to the required standard of toughness.
But in his heart—though he kept it to himself—he loved all beautiful
things. A rendering of ““ Oh, for the wings of a dove !” by one
of the boys at a school concert seemed the most glorious thing he
had ever heard, whilst a violin rccital by Joachim quite carried him
away. And before he left school he was captivated by beauty of
another kind, in the person of a blue-eycd fair-haired Cornish maid
of about his own age, with the swectest smile in the world and a
voice like a bell. He met her in the spring-time holidays at Freshford,
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and for him she was “ as fair as the flowers in May "’ ; and though
they never met again he treasured a tender memory of that little
maid all through his life.

On leaving Poole’s House in the Junior School as head boy he
was posted to the School House in the Upper School, which was
under the direct supervision of the Head Master. * Every Monday
morning the form-master’s report was read out by him. We listened
in fear and trembling for the doom that might await us. There
was never a2 word of praise for a good report. For a bad one it might
be a couple of hundred lines of poetry (which made us loathe all
poets). For a very bad one a caning. In any case Percival’s stern-
ness was alarming enough in itself without any need for punishment.”
Though the actual curriculum was a burden grievous to be borne
he got through it somehow, but he laid the basis of his own education
independently of classroom work. This was by his discovery of
Napier’s History of the Peninsular War. He read and re-read with
avidity this masterpiece of the arts of strategy and tactics, in particular
the passages dealing with accounts of scouting and reconnaissance.
These fostered in him an already half-formed longing for self-reliant
pioneer work out ‘ in the blue’. But side by side with this ambition
went another, equally compelling. This was for the sea. His
supreme national hero was—and indeed remained so throughout
lifte—Nelson. He wrote to his parents on the subject, but their
insistence that he must regard the army as his career was decisive, and
so he returned the more eagerly to his Napier.

His study-mates were Robert (later Lord) Blackburn and his
brother Leslic Blackburn, with whom he formed a life friendship.
Leslic was killed in the Boer War. Robert married Lady Constance
Bowes-Lyon, and some years later they invited Frank to Glamis
Castle where, though he did not see the famous ghost, he made
acquaintance with the future Queen as a very little girl. Among
other of his contemporaries at Clifton were Henry Newbolt (the
poet) ; Douglas Haig, ‘“a good-looking but aloof boy, neither
popular nor unpopular ”’ ; and William (later Lord) Birdwood. The
hero of his day, however, was none of these, but A. H. Evans, Head
of the School, Captain of Cricket, and a notable all-round athlete.

One event, and only one, occurred to somewhat tarnish Evans’
lustre. Every year Clifton played Cheltenham at cricket and in
those days Clifton always won, or at least were not beaten. But



12 CLIFTON AND SANDHURST 1877

one year the impossible happened and Cheltenham won by twenty
runs. This awful news was telegraphed to Clifton. Instead of
going down en masse as usual to meet the Eleven on their return,
we refrained from intruding on their grief. Two of them were
in my dormitory. We viewed them in silent sorrow as they
got into bed, but no one spoke. In the chapel next morning
we eyed them askance with the respect that one shows to the
chief mourners at a funeral.

He did not meet Evans again till after the first World War when
Mr. Whitley, Speaker of the House, gave a dinner to Old Cliftonians.
“Both Evans and Field-Marshal Haig were there, Evans looking
much the fiercer of the two, in spite of having done nothing more
than run a Preparatory School in the intervening half-century.”

A quarter of a century after, Sir Henry Newbolt wrote for The
Monthly Review on 10th September 1904 a long “ Epistle”’ to his
old school-friend, recapturing the spirit of their Penpole runs. The
following lines are extracts :

Soldier, explorer, statesman, what in truth

Have you in common with homekeeping youth ?
“Youth” comes your answer like an echo faint;
And youth it was that made us first acquaint.

Do you remember when the Downs were white
With the March dust from highways glaring bright,
How you and I, like yachts that toss the foam,
From Penpole Fields came stride and stride for home ?
One grimly leading, one intent to pass,

Mile after mile we measured road and grass,

Twin silent shadows, till the hour was done,

The shadows parted, and the stouter won.

Since then I know one thing beyond appeal—

How runs from stem to stern a trim-built keel. . . .

Though, spite of all these five-and-twenty years,
As clear as life our schoolday scene appears.

The guarded course, the barriers and the rope ;
The runners, stripped of all but shivering hope ;
The starter’s good grey head ; the sudden hush;
The stern white line ; the half~unconscious rush ;
The deadly bend, the pivot of our fate ;

The rope again; the ﬁ)ng green level straight ;
The lane of heads, the cheering half-unheard,
The dying spurt, the tape, the judge’s word. . . .
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Old loves, old rivalries, old happy times,

These well may move your memory and my rhymes ;
These are the Past; but there is that, my friend,
Between us two, that has nor time nor end.

Though wide apart the lines our fate has traced

Since those far shadows of our boyhood raced,

In the dim region all men must explore—

The mind’s Thibet, where none has gone before—
Rounding some shoulder of the lonely trail

We met once more, and raised a lusty hail. . . .

“Forward ! ”’ cried one, “ for us no beaten track,
No city continuing, no turning back :

The past we love not for its being past,

But for its hope and ardour forward cast :

The victories of our youth we count for gain
Only because they steeled our hearts to pain,
And hold no longer even Clifton great

Save as she schooled our wills to serve the State.
Nay, England’s self, whose thousand-year-old name
Burns in our blood like ever-smouldering flame,
Whose Titan shoulders as the world are wide
And her great pulses like the Ocean tide,

Lives but to bear the hopes we shall not see—
Dear mortal Mother of the race to be.” . . .

Thereto you answered, “ Forward ! in God’s name :
I own no lesser law, no narrower claim.

Our free-born Reason well might think it scorn

To toil for those who may be never born,

But for some Cause not wholly out of ken,

Some all-directing Will that works with men,

Some Universal under which may fall

The minor premiss of our cffort small ;

In Whose unending purpose, though we cease,

We find our impulsc and our only peace.” . . .

So passed our grecting, till we turned once more,
I to my desk and you to rule Indore.

To meet again—-ah I when? Yet once we met,
And to one dawn our faces still arc sct.

In 1878 his parcnts returned again from India and rented a villa
I a vineyard on the outskirts of Lausanne, where he could join them
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in the summer holidays. The magic of this earthly paradise, the
view across the Lake at twilight to the luminous curtain of the distant
snows, thrilled him with an ecstasy he had never known ; and when
two years later they moved to a chalet near Diablerets close below the
Alps, then in the presence of those stainless white immensities he
caught his breath and felt again, but far more keenly than before,
the quest for the ideal, the lure of the unattainable. “It did far
more for me than all the poetry I had ever learnt, or all the sermons
I had ever heard.”

All too soon came an end to these heavenly interludes in the drab
prose of his boyhood’s existence. For before he left school his
parents, having now definitely retired from India, settled for good
in Southsea to enjoy the company of several old Anglo-Indian friends
and especially that of General Farrington. So his interests were now
diverted to the dockyards, workshops, and the shipping off Spithead
—his father’s visiting-card procuring for him and Leslie admission
aboard many a foreign freighter—and of course Nelson’s old flagship
the Victory.

The time now came for him to be confirmed and he was prepared
for the rite by the Vicar of Portsea, the Rev. Edgar Jacob (afterwards
Bishop of St. Alban’s), another of his parents’ old friends. He took
all that the good Vicar taught him on trust and supposed that there
must be some defect in himself because he could not genuinely believe
it all. Perhaps later on when he was wiser and better he would
come to do so. But at present such doctrines, for example, as the
virgin birth and the bodily resurrection and ascension, were simply
unintelligible to his mind. And vaguely he resented them. They
seemed so unnecessary ; more, they seemed to obscure and distort
his vision of Jesus as the Perfect Man. And though the ceremony
itself impressed him deeply, because he felt how very much in earnest
the Bishop and the Vicar and his parents and sisters and the whole
congregation were that he would be good now and all through his
life, and because the influence of their prayers was a reality and one
that lasted, nevertheless his doubts lingered as a disturbing factor in
it all. * As I grew into manhood, less and less could I rest satisficd
in the conception of a God who must be approached and placated
by means of ritual, and more and more did theology and ecclesiasticism
obtrude themselves as barriers—rather than offer themselves as bridges
—to the understanding of an all-loving universal Power.”
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At sixteen he took his examination for the Royal Military Academy,
for entry into the Royal Artillery. * There was precedent for this
in my family, for my grandfather had served in it and an uncle was
still serving, whilst my father had passed through the Academy for
his commission in the East India Company.” The Artillery, however,
hardly coincided with his own ambition for scouting and recon-
naissance ; so it was fortunate for him that he failed twice in the
examination. The alternative was Sandhurst. There were 900 can-
didates and only 100 vacancies. His chances were slim. So too was
his physique ; he would have been rejected by the Medical Board
had he not volunteered the information that his leanness was due to
“much rugger” and was not constitutional. Certain that he had
failed to satisfy the examiners, he began desperately to swot for
another try before the results were out ; mathematics was his weak
point and he had worked himself to a frazzle ; but when the list
was published his name was in it, and his father’s prophecy that
“even pigs might fly "’ came true after all. Bursting with pride and
enthusiasm he went to Sandhurst in February 1881, determined to
make the most of every minute of his year there, and he did. The
riding school, parades, manceuvres, tactics, problems of field fortifica-
tion—he threw himself heart and soul into them all ; and there was
leisure too, such as he had never known at school, for long fast walks of
exploration. “‘I was breathing an altogether fresher air and learning
more than I ever learnt at school.  Yet there is one thing of priceless
value that Clifton had taught me, worth all the lessons put together,
and that was esprit-de~corps, first for your House, then for your School,
later to develop into the fecling you have for your Regiment.”
There was another point of difference, and this also in favour of the
School. “ There the masters interested themselves in the boys as
individuals ; at Sandhurst the officcr-instructors took not the smallest
interest in their pupils outside their actual tuition.”

Already at Clifton he had, despite his short stature, shown fine
promise as a runner. At Sandhurst when only seventeen he entered
for the three miles in which cadets of twenty and even twenty-one
from the Universities competed.

It was the finest race I have cver run or seen.  The course was
a quarter of a mile round. Round and round we went, thinning
out with each successive turn. For the last three rounds there
was only one fellow in front of me, by a couple of yards, and
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when it came to the last round I thought he would sail ahead
for I was feeling pretty done. But half way up the straight, and
not till then, I braced myself for a spurt and gradually caught
him up, drew level, passed him and won the race. There was
great cheering and the Governor, General Napier, came up and
congratulated me.

In the same year he ran for Sandhurst against Woolwich in the
three miles, but was beaten. He also played rugger against Woolwich
and gained his cap.

“ There was great cheering and the Governor congratulated me.”
This is a characteristic touch. Though he never courted praise, he
liked it when it came to him and was disappointed when it did not.
He was not modest, but neither was he vain. He was quite frankly
interested in himself as a person, and desirous that others should be
so too. Of this trait his daughter writes: * He was quite aware
of it himself, and indeed it was the subject of a continual joke between
us. He had an almost childlike delight in achievement, that i,
pleasure that anything into which great effort had been put had come
oft well and was recognized. One could almost say that the achieve-
ment and the recognition were part of each other, that even in some
sensc it was the recognition that made the achievement. Of course,
too, it is only the simple-minded who can show pleasure in the
applause of others ! There was always about him an air of fresh
and innocent childlikeness and he carried it through manhood to old
age. Itisall of a piece with this trait that, whilst he was in every sense
and in all respects a man’s man, he was even more a woman’s man ;
and though he had several intimate friends among his own sex
throughout life, in old age he confessed without embarrassment that
on the whole he had preferred the companionship of women.

Among his contemporaries at Sandhurst were Allenby and Si
Herbert Lawrence (Haig’s Chief of Staff). But apart from sport he
was not socially inclined, preferring long walks and military books :
next to Napier’s classic his favourite study was Wolscley’s Soldier's
Pocket Book, and next to it a Life of Wellington and the Life of Sir
Henry Lawrence.  As before, it was the passages dealing with individual
and independent action which fascinated him most. All through his
boyhood he had had a feeling that he was born to ““ go ahead ”’, but
it was always dim, he could not see what it was or where it led. He
only knew it as an urge that he must at all costs satisfy. But when he
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passed out of Sandhurst *“ with Honours "—considerably higher than
those with which he had entered it ; and when his brother George,
who had served under Sir Frederick Roberts in the recent Afghan
war and gained a medal with clasp, suggested that he should apply
for a cavalry regiment in India and his father endorsed it—then the
fecling began to take clearer shape. The Cavalry—with all its chances
of patrolling and pioneering and “ going ahead ”—that was the thing
for him ! And so on 1oth May 1882 he was gazetted to the King’s
Dragoon Guards, a regiment with a fine record of service from Marl-
borough’s wars to Waterloo. They were then stationed at Meerut,
and he was given the choice of waiting till the hot weather was over
and going out in a troopship, or of booking as a passenger on the
next cargo vessel sailing early in July. Without any hesitation he
chose the latter, filling in the few weeks’ interval with drill at the
regimental depot in Canterbury.

Yet the actual moment of his departure in July was a sad one, for
he had just come to know and love his home, and the prospect of
six years absence from it was a heart-break. As the ship drew away
from Liverpool he suffered that conflict of emotion which is the lot
of many young men : love of one’s home and one’s native land,
and love of travel, ambition, and adventure. It was the harder to
bear because there had grown up between him and his elder sister
Emily a strength and depth of attachment which is rare in blood-
relationships, because based on a mutual sense of real spiritual affinity.
His was a nature that not only gave sympathy but that craved it, and
in her he had found the fulfilment of this need. “ You always are
what you seem,” he told her ; and to her he was always a true heart’s
brother, companion, and comforter.

With only three other passengers on board and twenty-four days
at sea, he had plenty of leisure for reflection. He spent it in reading—
mainly biographics, for these had always interested him, and among
them * Lives” of Christ; and in pacing the deck, thinking. The
thoughts of this newly-fledged subaltern took an unwonted turn.
Besides a very practical determination to succeed in his profession,
he had the ideals of a visionary and the curiosity of a philosopher to
understand the meaning of the world. No longer would he take
anything for granted, no longer would he accept faith on authority ;
it was the mystery of life and the universe that now gripped him and
thrilled him. Religious worship, so he had been taught, was a
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symbolic act of faith ; he must be good, they had told him, in order
to become religious. But now, as he saw it for himself, religion was
itself life and the living of it, it was no mere symbol ; he would
be religious in order to be good. The ““Lives” of Christ by Farrar
and others had failed to arrest him, but the Gospel story in its bare
simplicity had, very deeply. In Jesus he saw the perfect Exemplar
for all mankind. But if Jesus could not sin, he argued with himself,
how can he be a perfect example to boys like me who so very
obviously can? And if he was uniquely divine and incapable of sin,
what was the point of the temptations that he underwent ?

Surely it was truer, more helpful, and more inspiring to think
of Christ as a man, beset with all the frailties of men, 2 man of
indomitable courage and fortitude who was not great because he
could not help being great, but great because he made himself
great. Only thus could he be a practical pattern for other men,
and a leader and guide for struggling humanity. Once this
fundamental assumption was made, then the New Testament was
changed from something impractical into something most tre-
mendously, vitally, and intensely practical ; it was the record of
the most marvellous spiritual struggle of all time, the supreme
example of what was attainable by man. Thus looked at, religion
would be no theological conundrum, no mumbo-jumbo of lip-
worship and ritual, something to be brought out periodically,
carefully dusted and put away again—no, it would become a
practicable ideal, a simple and straightforward way of life.

“ That we may show forth Thy praise, not only with our lips,
but in our lives; by giving up ourselves to Thy service. . . . The
old words from the Prayer Book came back to him ; years later he
used them as a title for one of his books in which he described in a
disguised form the events and musings of his youth.

Years later too, in seeking to discover the secret of the profound
impression which Jesus had made upon the history of mankind, he
studied other * Lives "’ of Christ written by various authors—English,
French, German, Italian, Russian, Jewish, and Hindu ; and cast his
own conclusions thereon into the form of a drama entitled The
Reign of God. But—though he came to respect the faith that has
made saints of Roman Catholics and other ritualists—he never had
occasion to revise fundamentally the gist of his meditations at the age
of nineteen on the cargo-boat that took him to Bombay.



Chapter III

MEERUT AND RAWAL PINDI

£ was warmly greeted by the officers of the 15t Royal
Dragoon Guards then stationed at Meerut, chiefly for two
reasons. Sir Dighton Probyn had written on his behalf to
the Commanding Officer, Colonel Marter ; and his early
arrival enabled one of the officers to go on leave before the hot-
weather leave season ended. And the weather in the plains of India
in high summer is of a fervent heat. The day’s regimental routine
began at 5 and ended at 10.30 a.m., after which all ranks retired to
their billets till sundown. Billets were hermetically sealed all day
and half the night against the scorching wind, and screened with dark
green paper against the blinding glare. Sweat dried on the skin,
and a bare arm resting on a table would raise a blister. Adjutant’s
drill from $.30 to 7; Stables from 7 to 8 ; Orderly Room, and then
a gallop to the swimming-baths before breakfast of porridge and
quails or curry at 10.15—these filled in *“the day’s work ™ during
the torrid months. At 6 p.m. officers emerged from their bungalows
for polo, tennis, or racquets, riding or driving, until mess at 8.15,
itself a parade, followed by billiards and cards whilst the thermometer
stood at 98° in the shadowed cantonments, despite the punkahs.

The newly-joined subaltern was allotted quarters in a bungalow
which he shared with the Adjutant, Capt. Hennah, whom he came to
like and admire second only to the Colonel. His relations with these
two were sadly short : withina few months untimely death robbed
him of the former, and the latter was promoted to a higher command.

He beguiled his hours of solitude during the long hot days by
studying his profession, learning Hindustani and Urdu (neccssary
qualifications for any future Staff appointment), and in writing long
home letters—especially to his sister Emily. In them he poured out
without restraint all the flood of love and affection which had been
repressed in a lonely childhood by a stern upbringing ; in them too
he reproached himself for repcated failure to live up to standard,
and for his lack of sclf-disciplinc in the social distractions and tempta-
tions of army life. Truly, they are unusual sentiments for a subaltern
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in a crack regiment of cavalry. He recoiled from the atmosphere
of worldliness, the luxury and comfort, the obsequiousness of the
native scrvants, the ribaldry and gossip, and he deplored the apparent
lack of keenness in soldiering on the part of his brother-officers.

I had imagined that they would be as keen upon making the
regiment as masters were upon making the school. I thought
that there would be ardent discussion of military matters. . . . I
found, however, that the art of warfare was the last topic of con-
versation that was likely to rise. There were exceptions of course.
The Colonel was a good soldier, and so was Hennah.  But neither
of them had the fire and genius of a Wolseley or a Roberts.
I was at first disappointed to find this. I only recovered when
I found that these same men, as soon as there was any active
service in sight, would move heaven and earth to get there.
Keenness for sport did not mean indifference to service in the field.
All it meant was disinclination to the monotony of preparation.

On the other hand I was surprised at the friendship I experi-
enced. I had been taught to regard worldliness as synonymous
with wickedness, and had expected to find my brother-officers
steeped in iniquity. To my surprise I found them excellent
fellows ; and in my heart of hearts I envied them their good
nature. They never went to church except when paraded for
service. Their talk was of little else than ponies or dogs. Their
language was coarse. And yet they were a cheery lot, always
rcady to do each other, and even me, a good turn, and secretly
possessing an ideal of their own to which I would have been
thankful to attain : it was simply to be a “ good fellow ”, and a
good fellow in their eyes was above a good Christian or even
a good soldier.

The fact was that he had joined a regiment officered by leisured
men of independent means, and in many ways he felt himself to be
a misfit. Though a good rider, he could not afford to keep a polo
pony ; though a good marksman, he had no taste for shooting game;
and therc was not a soul in the mess with whom he could exchange
an idea on the things that, in his opinion, really mattered. Thesc
disabilities caused him acute depression and went near to undcr.-
mining his self-confidence ; and afterwards he looked back upon his
first few months in India as the most critical of his life. Two things
kept him from stagnating or from drifting into evil courses : onc was
his enthusiasm for his profession and his dctcrmination to succeed
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init; the other was the steadying influence of home-ties, his parents’
trust in him, and the loving letters which he received regularly from
them and from his sister by every mail.

But the crisis passed with the coming of the cold weather, and
“a cold weather in Central India is as perfect a climate as can be
found in the world . 'With it came regimental parades in the morn-
ings, and in the afternoons and evenings polo matches, cricket, tennis,
gymkhanas, dinners, and dances. Life was full and he was carried
away in the surging tide of it. Best of all were the morning parades.
“ The thought of what the regiment had done in the past and what
it might do in the future made me sometimes almost cry with pride.”
To feel himself part of this living majestic machine moving about
in perfect accord under a single control—and as part of it to keep one’s
wits about one and do the right thing at the right time and in the
right way—was *“ to feel a bigger person than one is by oneself alone ”’.
And then to crown all, the Colonel made him his galloper.  His cup
of happiness was full when the Colonel sent him to Agra in charge of
the cricket eleven to play against the Durham Fusiliers, and for the
first time he saw the Taj Mahal. * As I approached it from the end
of the avenue of dark cypresses with a line of fountains playing between
them, and mounted the steps to the stately gateway, and from the
top saw the white dome framed in the red sandstone arch, I felt
as if my very soul had been refreshed . Little as he knew it then,
it was his first introduction to the soul of India.

But now he was to experience two sudden shocks. The first was
death, the second was love.

In April 1883 his friend Captain Hennah, who was cight years his
senior and treated him as a younger brother, applied for two months’
leave to go on a tiger shoot. He was a big full-blooded man, inex-
pericnced with life in the jungle, and the hot season of another year
was beginning. Within a few days he was carricd back unconscious
to Mccrut, and Younghusband was by his bedside.

He soon awokc and recognized me. “* Oh, thank God, thank
God ! he said, and he put his hand on my arm. “ Now I don’t
mind dying.” Poor fellow, he knew that he was dying and was
evidently so anxious to get back among his friends. He had only
intervals of consciousness after that. The Hospital orderlies
irritated him so I stayed with him and helped with the poultices
and other things, till he dicd a week later. I used to like talking

8FY. C
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to him more than anyone else out here. He was not at all a
religious man, but he had such a fine spirit—very open and out-
spoken—and once I heard him snub some fellows in the mess for
trying to talk religion down. Before he died he asked me to
write to his sister and say good-bye to her. I feel it all so terribly
I can’t tell you more about it now.

On the day of the funeral he could not restrain his tears, and the
Colonel took him quietly aside while the regiment marched back
to barracks. That night he fell asleep at dinner. ““I just heard some-
one say, ‘ Poor boy, he has been up nearly every night’, and then
dozed off, completely done.” What touched him much was the
kindness of all his brother-officers, and especially of the second-in-
command Major Willan, “a typical comfortable English country
gentleman who insisted on my sharing his bungalow, and also on
lending me one of his ponies and making me train it for a race, which
the spirited little Arab won at the next winter Station meeting.
I knew that pony and what he had in him. I saved him till near the
end, and when we entered the straight he rode to a splendid finish.”
By this time he was getting over the feeling that he was of no use
in the regiment, and though from reasons partly of economy and
partly of temperamental shyness he did not go much into society
on the Station, his heart was warming to his brother-officers, and it
was evident that they liked him and admired him for his keenness
as a soldier. ““ But in doing good turns to one another, and in efforts
to be cheery, to be good company, and good sportsmen, I still felt
myself a long way behind them.”

In the summer of the same year he was invited for ten days’ leave
to Kasauli by Colonel and Mrs. Ewart, old friends of his parents,
whom he had met at school.  After six hours in the train to Umballa
and six hours in a dak gharri to the foot of the hills, and a ninc-mile
ride through the forest to a height of 7,000 feet, he arrived in  para-
dise . After the suffocating heat of the plains the air of this little
hill Station was life to breathe and the homely atmosphere and informal
hospitality of his hosts was a heart-salve in itself. But even more
refreshing was the society of their younger daughter May, with whom
he rode the leafy glades, whom he partnered at tennis parties, and
whose presence was a perpetual enchantment. And when the time
came to say good-bye and they were alone for a moment in thc
drawing-room together, to his impulsive *“ You won’t forget me, will



1883 LOVE AT FIRST SIGHT 23

you ?” her tremulous ““ No ™ was all he wanted to confirm his hope ;
and the picture of her waving to him from the gate—their first but not
their last farewell—a memory that he cherished to the end of his days.

It was love at first sight and he knew it, but what could a mere
subaltern do ? He was in no position to marry for six years at least,
when he would normally be due for his captaincy ; and the prospect
whetted his ambition still more to gain a Staff appointment.

Before Christmas he was invited by the Forest Officer (who had
made the arrangements for poor Hennah’s ill-fated hunt) for a few
days’ shooting in the jungle. He leapt at the invitation, though not
for the sake of the sport. His observations on this subject are worth
recording, both as an index to his character and as an example of
one way, among others, in which he was several years in advance
of his time.

I enjoy everything about shooting except the kill. "When the
tracking is finished and the animal in view, I prefer to watch it.
Wild creatures of every kind—beast, bird, and insect—are fascinat-
ing to me. I would much rather carry a pair of field-glasses than
a gun. It has always gone against the grain with me to destroy
life unless from absolute necessity, either in sheer self-defence or
to supply necessary food.

It happened that his companion—an experienced game warden—
sympathized with these sentiments in theory if not always in practice,
and kept a regular menagerie of tamed wild animals in his camp.
He sent off his young acquaintance with a native hunter. The forest
that to a new-comer from the haunts of men had seemed so noiseless
the day before, was now to his awakened sense vocal with sounds
of every kind. ““ But with all these sounds there was a stillness which
was like a tremendous presence. Though all was so still, there was a
fecling of intense activity all round. Hundreds of eyes were watch-
ing and hundreds of ears were listening to what you were doing.”
They tracked a sambhar, and watched it feeding till it moved away :
“ a creature alert in every faculty, fit in every fibre, sheeny with health,
dignity in cvery posture and grace and spring in every line ”’.  This too
was a new expcerience for Younghusband—contact with Nature at
close quarters. It never ceased to influence his thoughts : the over-
whelming thought of all the multitude of various existences inhabiting
this planet ; and the sense of mystery which this thought brings—
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the overpowering mystery of life in general and in particular, and with
it the humbling recognition that human existences are not the only
pebbles upon the beach of an eternal shore. And not only so: he
had also the much rarer experience of close contact with primitive
man. On the way to their dwelling in the heart of the forest he
came upon troops of lungoor monkeys swinging incessantly from tree
to tree, uttering their strange rhythmic “ whoop ”, their eyes alive
with intelligence and piercing the green gloom in every direction.

Insatiably inquisitive they were, too, incessantly prying into
things, turning over stones to see what was underneath, examin-
ing fruits, sticks, anything that came their way, handling things,
testing them, seeing if they would break, tasting if they were
palatable. And their keen inquisitiveness and with it the habit
they got into of handling things, breaking off branches to use for
defence, using stones for breaking nuts or throwing at animals,
must have been the chief means by which our ancestors made
their first step upward out of what we call the brute creation.
There was a big jump, of course, from the most intelligent group
of apes to the least intelligent group of men, but not so great a
jump that the apes could not make it. Realizing that these
creatures must be cousins of our own progenitors, I looked upon
them with no little reverence.

The theory of evolution was of course a commonplace of biological
science in those days, and he had been brought up on it ; in later years
he was to give it its true place in a much wider philosophy of universal
life.

At length they reached a Baiga village perched in a remote corner
of the hills : ““a queer collection of huts made of bamboo and mud,
which could be erected in a day, inhabited by men probably not
very dissimilar from the first human beings who, giving up their
tree life, had come to settle on the ground. They threw with marvel-
lous precision at a mark.” They clustered round the Forest Officer,
describing to him their ailments, for which he produced some simple
remedy from his medicine chest; for though they were shy of
strangers ‘‘ he, from living among them, had won their reverence
and affection ; they looked upon him as a kind of god . Young-
husband was allowed to look into some of their huts and to examine
their implements for harvesting and hunting. He was told that they
are kind to one another, that they are brave in danger and help one



1883 LIFE IN THE PRIMAEVAL FOREST 23

another in distress often at risk to themselves. Here, then, was a
link from the instinctive to the mental, and another from the mental
to the ethical. _

In the evenings he would listen enthralled to the Forest Officer’s
accounts of the ways and haunts of all the creatures of the wild, punc-
tuated by the chatter of monkeys, the screech of parrots, the chirrup
of the cicadas, the shriek of a night-bird, the bark of a jackal, or the
snarl of a leopard. And at night when the trees stood dimly round
about like stately sentinels, and the stars gleamed through their over-
arching canopy of leaves, he would think that “ there is a closer
connectedness of things than I ever imagined before. There are no
watertight compartments anywhere : wide differences between all
these innumerable forms and manifestations of life, but no insuper-
able barriers ; no gulfs that could not be leapt. Even the stars—
they are the great connecting links in the same universal scheme of
things. The self-same stars that saw mankind emerging from the
beasts ages ago will see another higher race evolve from ours far
ages hence.”

He would discuss too with his companion the age-old problem
of “ naturc red in tooth in claw ”, and he never saw causc to revise
subsequently the conclusions which he reached then. Though in the
view of the present writer they are not convincing, they form an
essential part of the whole texture of his philosophy of optimism and
healthy-mindedness.

Taking a general view of life in the forest it seemed to bc on
the whole happy enough. There was a deal of cruelty and pain
—young birds seized from their very nest to the despair of their
parents, the remorseless pounce of a beast on its prey, the torturing
sting of the snakc and the hornet. But there’s another side.
Birds and beasts of prey have often higher qualitics than the timid
creatures on whom they prey : courage, audacity, alertness, fit-
ness, intelligence, and skill. . . . Unless he perpetually keeps
himsclf up to the mark he dies, just as his prey, unless he likewise
keeps himself up to the mark, is killed. The penalty of death for
failing to live life to the full hangs over both alike. And the
general result is the fitness you sce everywhere in wild life.  Every
creature in the forest is in tip-top condition and alive to its finger-
tips. . . . Thercis a gooc{) deal besides cruelty in Nature ; and
the general result of the awful severity, besides great competence
and cfficiency, is extraordinary happiness. The discipline is ter-



26 MEERUT AND RAWAL PINDI 1883

rible, but the result is good. . . . Pain incites to good ; the pain
passes, but the good endures. Forest life is not so unreasonable
as it would appear when we focus our attention on the pain alone.
The life here 1s not all caprice. The more we know about this
forest life the more reasonable does it appear. Not cruelty and
pain, but joy and beauty is the main impression I get from it—
and the pain sharpens the enjoyment.

Fitness, alertness, vigilance, competence, efficiency—these were the
key ideas which he took back with him from his fortnight’s experience
of life in the wild ; they were also the prerequisite for the profession
of a soldier whose business was to fight ; and sooner than he guessed
came the opportunity not only for exemplifying them himself but
also for inculcating them in others.

“ At the end of 1883 the Regiment marched to Rawal Pindi all
the way; in their scarlet; carbines and swords; jackboots and
white helmets.” This was a welcome relief from the enervating
plains. Soon after their arrival the Major informed him that the
post of Adjutant was vacant, the officer who had filled it since Hennah's
death having been granted a year’s leave, and that his name had
been submitted with one or two others to the Colonel for con-
sideration. Would he accept it if offered? How old was he ?—
He would indeed, but he was not yet twenty-two. *‘ Rather young,”
said the Major, “ but I told the Colonel that living in the same
bungalow I had seen a lot of you, and that there was no one in the
regiment keener on soldiering ; that you worked hard and had a
decent amount of common sense. Besides, he wants to offer it
to you.”’ 1

1t is of interest to compare this promotion of so very young an officer with
that of another who, in the actual profession of arms, was a far greatcr figure.
In his biography of John Nicholson entitled The Hero of Delhi, Hesketh Pearson
writes :  ‘“ Nicholson was stationed at Meerut, still studying languages md
thoroughly bored by the social life that kept his brother-officers amused in
cantonments. . . . He was not popular with the other officers, who thought
him morose and boorish ; they could not get him to join in any form of pastimc ;
he seldom opened his mouth in mess ; he was on intimate terms with no one;
like Cromwell he lived  reserved and austere’. Probably because of his inde-
pendence and isolation the Colonel made him Adjutant of the regiment, which
in August ’43 was transfcrred to Moradabad, and his new responsibilities helped
to make a stationary life more endurable. Here he remained for over two years,
performing his duties with an efficicncy that must have made the soldicrs wish
that he had been of a more gregarious nature ; at last passing thc language
examination which qualified him for a Staff appointment.”
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Here was a task to which he could harness his exuberant energies.
His was a nature that always demanded more from life than the daily
round, the common task ; his eager spirit was beginning to chafe
at the ordinary routine of regimental life, and other interests—botany
and anthropology—were beginning to allure him. “If T had not
stuck to soldiering,” he said later, I should have turned to natural
history ’—apparently without thought as to how he could have made
a living at it.

He set about his new duties with two definite aims in view. He
would get his battalion to take a proper sentimental pride in ceremonial
parades, “to feel the dignity of their calling and all the majesty
of their country’s might.” There must be scrupulous attention to
smartness, cleanliness, polish and trimness in drills and company
inspections—not as ends in themselves but as means to this supreme
end. There should be any amount of fuss in these respects before
the great moment, so that there should be no fuss whatever when
the great moment came. But secondly was his determination that
the men should be made to take an intelligent, not merely a perfunc-
tory, interest in their profession: to be made as fit as humanly
possible for the actual business of war. * They must be as hard
as nails, with all their wits about them ; perfectly trained in the
use of their weapons for every circumstance, and taught to act together
efficiently as members of a single team.”

But just as he was getting into his stride and putting these laudable
ideals into full-scale operation, came a reverse. * The Colonel, who
had from the first taken such an interest in me and pushed me along,
was promoted to the command of a brigade, and a Colonel who
knew not Joseph arrived from the 2nd battalion to take his place.”
The new Colonel had other notions as to how a regiment should
be run.  Punctilious to the last degree, both in personal equipment and
behaviour, he expected a clockwork precision in the unit under his
command—that and nothing more. He looked for a perfectly-timed
mechanism, “in which the eye of the most inquisitive inspecting
General would be unable to find a flaw ”’.  But the young Adjutant’s
conception of a regiment was that it should be not only a perfect
mechanism but also a living organism, and not only that but a fighting
organism—somecthing with *life and fire” in it.

One day at field manceuvres the storm broke. The regiment
was moving over rough ground to take up position, and it was
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certainly not moving like a machine, but with considerable speed
and like a live being for all that. There was much apparent but
no real disorder, and the Colonel was furious.

“ Mr. Younghusband, you have been working the regiment as
if we were on active service. We are nothing of the kind. We
have the General coming to inspect us, and we must have it
orderly. Go to the rear of the battalion and Captain . . . will
take your place.”

Next day after Orderly Room the Adjutant requested a private
interview, and formally submitted a desire to see the General. To
the question “ Why ?”” he replied that he had been subjected to a
public reprimand and had been disgraced before the whole regiment.
He was within his rights by military regulations and his request
could not be refused.

The Colonel was taken aback at first. Then he smiled, got
up and patted me on the back, and said in a very kindly way,
“Don’t take things too seriously. You are an excellent officer,
and I am quite satisfied with you.” Being certain from his
manner that he would not dare to treat me so again, I said no
more. But I never felt the same with him as I had with Colonel
Marter. He was a drill-sergeant, and nothing more. The saving
feature was that he was a gentleman. And now that we had had
it out squarely we were on much better terms. But with all his
meticulous care for detail, he had none of the true soldier spirit in
him, none of the sense of the majesty of a ceremonial parade. In
the very midst of a stately movement he would burst out at some
irregularity and spoil the whole effect. 1 would shudder to the
marrow at the enormity. It was as bad as if a conductor, when
a concert was in full swing, was to shout at one of the orchestra.
During rehearsal there might be plenty of correction ; but none
at the concert itself.

Most tactfully, therefore, after parade I would inform the
Colonel of any irregularities I had noticed, and ask him if he had
observed any others, so that I could correct them at Ad_jutant’s
parade. Gradually I weaned him from his dreadful habit ! And
a ceremonial parade became a true work of art. . . . This same
regiment had fought the battles of England in old days on the
fields of Flanders, in the sweltering heat of India, in the Peninsular
War and at Waterloo, and lastly in South Africa. The com-
ponent individuals—the dress—the fabric of the colours—all these
changed. But the regiment remained the same, and the change
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in the colours was only to add to the number of battles inscribed
upon them. And in the glory of the regiment every man who
went to make it could share, if he deserved it.

These martial, patriotic sentiments he kept under his own hat,
however.

But the interview was productive of good in another and even
a more important way. Sir Frederick Roberts, then Commander-
in-Chief, had drawn attention to the need for greater consideration to
the physical and moral welfare of the men, and in this matter the
new Colonel was in fullest sympathy. “ This was the best side of
him, He had a strong fellow-feeling for the men: they were to
him human beings rather than soldiers; and he wanted their life
to be clean and wholesome.” It was on this matter that the Colonel
one day took his young subordinate into his confidence. * The
men are better paid out here than at home, and they are not worked
so hard. They have more leisure but less means of recreation in
which to employ it. We must do something to liven things up
for them.”—" Some counter-attraction to that eternal beer-swilling
in the canteen is what we want, sit.””  The Colonel agreed, but pointed
toa worse evil : the deplorable fact that numbers of able-bodied men
were incapacitated for active service through disease contracted from
women. “Iwant you to look to this ; you are always thinking about
active service. Keep their minds occupied, and their bodies too.”—
“ What would you specially like me to do, sir ? ”—* Get going with
games, sports, entertainments, theatricals, sing-songs and all the rest
ofit. Get T. interested. He is full of go, and has a good way with
the men, even though he has not been with us long.”” This officer,
familiarly known as ‘the Tiger’, threw himself whole-heartedly
into the project, gave up shooting and polo, and roped in a capable
Sergeant. The result was the institution of an Athletic Club, a
Dramatic Club, a Boxing Club, cricket and football matches, com-
petitive sports and gymkhanas, and a regimental magazine edited
by the Adjutant and ‘the Tiger’. Younghusband ascribes all the
success of this enterprise to his colleague who, he says, * was a natural
sportsman "’ ; and indeed the organization of such activities was not
his own special métier.



Chapter IV

THE CALL OF THE HILLS

N April 1884 he was granted two and a half months’ leave, as

a reward for hard work. How should he spend it ? There was

not a doubt. He would go where he had always longed to

go—to “the hills”. He would travel light and sleep on the
ground under the stars so as to get  the feel of them ”’. The Hima-
layas are visible to the north from Rawal Pindi, but he would go
east-south-east to Dharmsala, whence in 1869 his uncle Robert Shaw
(who had died six years previously as Resident of Mandalay at the
early age of thirty-nine) had started on the great journey that had
carried him across the Himalayas to Yarkand and the plains of
Turkestan. There he would meet men who had known him and
served him loyally, some perhaps who had actually travelled with
him.! A night-train took him to Amritsar and a branch-line to
Pathankote, whence he set out on a forty-mile walk up the foot-
hills to Dharmsala. And there he found his uncle’s old pensioners :
“staid, grave, dignified figures, with faces lined by strain and hard-
ship; and with a characteristic composure and politcness". He
gazed at them at first with awe, as men who had dared and endured
so much ; and then with reverence and affection as they gathered
round him and spoke of  Shah-sahib, their father and their mother ".
There too, in his uncle’s very house, he found not only men but
books—Shaw’s own book High Tartary and Yarkand among them—
as well as maps and manuscripts. ““1 was among the relics of an
explorer, at the very house in which he had planned his explorations,
and from which he had started to accomplish them. I pored over

1 Shaw and Hayward were the first Englishmen ever to reach Yarkand.
Hayward was afterwards murdered in Yasin, a valley of the Hindu Kush._ It
was in memory of Hayward that Sir Henry Newbolt wrote the poem entitled
‘ He fell among Thieves”. Shaw was appointed Political Agent in Yarkand,
and within a year had compiled a grammar and vocabulary of the language and
a history of the country. He was not only a courageous and competent exploret
but had a genius for adaptability among tribes of various races and won their
instinctive attachment and even their devotion. His early dcath was a loss to
British influence in that remote corner of the Chinese Empire and throughout
the whole of Chinese Turkestan.
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the books and maps, and talked for hours with the old scrvants,
till the spirit of exploration gradually entered my soul.”

An account of Younghusband’s first journey is given in the first two
chapters of his book Wonders of the Himalaya.! Though written
nearly forty years later it kindles with romance, the thrill and ardour
of impetuous youth. His journey was not a breaking of new ground
—time ruled out any such ambition ; but it was well off the tourist
route, and was of a nature to test one’s powers as a traveller. * That
first wild wandering through the Himalayas”, he wrote when he
was in the sixties, ‘“ is one on which I look back with almost keener
enjoyment than on any other journey I have made.”

With a shikari and his retriever dog, and a couple of mules to
carry his equipment and stores of eighty pounds weight all told,
he crossed the wide open Kangra Valley to Palampur, and atrived
next day at Baijnath, where the beauty of an ancient Hindu temple,
“ older far than Westminster Abbey ™, gave him pause for meditation.
Besides pilgrims and holy men he fell in with hardy traders, “ most
of whom I found to be robust and cheery, excellent company, with
plenty of intelligence and knowledge of men”. A four days’ march
brought him to the Babu Pass that separates the Kangra from the
Kulu Valley, and now he entered the primacval forest which extends
from Kashmir to Bhutan. Thence he could look downwards to
“the first ripples of the rising Himalaya, each ripple a deeper and
deeper purple as it shaded off towards the plains” ; and upwards
to the great ranges “ with their glistening snowy summits rising
close at hand above the trees " —deodar and spruce and pine all round
him, and the birches far above them, and higher yet the bare crags,
haunt of the ibex, the markhor, and the Kashmir stag. Magnificent
ctimson rhododendrons shone out like globes of flame amidst the
dark green of the cedars ; festoons of airy crcepers hung from the
boughs of chestnuts, sycamores, and maples ; maidenhair ferns over-
hung the edges of the sparkling watcrfalls, most exquisite in poise
and grace. Feasting his eycs on these glories, and inhaling deep
draughts of the tingling air and imbibing decp gulps of sparkling
water in the rocky mountain streams—new life with every gulp—
he followed the course of a torrent which came dashing down the
pass in a scrics of cascades. There was a nip in the air at the top
of the pass, though no more than 10,000 fect high, and across the

1 For his routc sce foot of map on page 135.



32 THE CALL OF THE HILLS 1884

wooded Kulu valley lay a snowy range. For warmth he ran down
6,000 fect between sunrise and breakfast to Sultanpur, to prepare for
ascending the Beas river to its source in the Rotang Pass, and make a
dash across that pass into Lahoul and back. But first he bought
in the bazaar a Kulu blanket of thick home-spun wool for six rupees.
It was a double blanket, twelve feet long. “‘ That blanket I had with
me on all my Himalayan journeys. And I have it to this day. It
looks out of its element in a trim English bedroom, so it is pensioned
off and allowed to pass its closing days in a remote cupboard. But I
like to visit it now and then, and with gratitude recall the many nights
it has kept me snug and warm when outside all was gripped in frost.”

At every level of the river-valley were encampments of traders
waiting for the snow to clear from the Rotang Pass so that they could
cross into Lahoul, and on to Ladak, and even to far Yarkand:
“ tanned, hardy men, not over-clean, but genial and-polite and ready
to talk”. They enlarged with cheerfulness upon the length and
dangers of the journey to Yarkand, and also of the joys of life in
Turkestan, where food and fruits were cheap and living comfortable.
There they would exchange their cotton-goods for hemp and felt
and carpets. Besides their strong, rough, sure-footed ponies, they
had flocks of sheep and goats both for the milk and for the wool
which they spun and wove on the journey. The animals were
allowed to wander about at will and would come when called. “ The
mountains, the men, and the animals all seemed extraordinarily close
to each other. The men knew the mountains and the animals, and
the animals knew the men. There was a homeliness between them,
and it scemed as if none would be very happy without the others.”

On May 8th he reached Bashist, with snowy mountains on cach
side and a giant of 20,000 feet filling the hcad of the valley in front.
The slopes were thick with pines and laced with waterfalls. These
were no more than the mere outskirts of the main Himalayan ranges,
but “I felt braced by the view of those stately pines clinging so
stubbornly to their precipices and any projecting picce of rock, purified
by the sight of those snowy heights, and calmed by the clear bluc
sky overarching all.”” Then came the country of the alpine flowers
—purple primulas, transparent saxifrages and anemones, white violets
—and he met a hill-man carrying a sackful of the latter, to be crushed
for medicinal use. Two days later, memorable as the second anniver-
sary of his commission, he crossed the Rotang Pass after a solid plug
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through soft snow to a height of 13,000 feet, suffering a bout of
mountain-sickness all the way, and ran down the other side to reach
warmer and less rarified air. He had crossed the main range of
the Himalayas and was well above the tree-line ; there was no life
but that of birds anywhere on the northern side. Weary and cold
he arrived at the rest-house beside the roaring Chenab river, to find
it icy and comfortless ; impervious to heat when he lit a fire ; and
himself on short commons, and “ everything inexpressibly dreary
and desolate ”’.  And yet in a few minutes he saw something ““ worth
while coming all this distance with my eyes shut to have seen”.

After my frugal dinner I was strolling disconsolately about out-
side having a look at the stars before turning in, when I noticed
that towards the east it was getting lighter and lighter. Peak
after peak was lit with silvery radiance. At last the moon at its
full appeared behind the mountains, and the valley was almost
as light as day. For the air at this height and on the far side of
the great wall range is clear like crystal ; and the snowy whiteness
of the mountains reflected back the moon’s white rays. And all
being again in the hard grip of frost, mountain and valley alike
were glistening and sparkling in the silvery light, and what had
only just before appeared the very desolation of desolation was
now transformed into a scene like fairyland. Not only the
dreariness but the solidity of the mountains seemed to have disap-
peared. They seemed unsubstantial as a dreamn, and glowing with
a radiance not of earth.

After a visit to the Kosker village in Lahoul he climbed back over
the pass—** fearfully steep and very slippery ”* ; and double-marched
the whole way back in rain to Sultanpur where there was both warmth
and food. ““Ihad had my little fling. But I thirsted for more moun-
tain beauty.” And so he double-marched again along the Simla
road to Rampur, hoping to make a detour up the Sutlej river from
whence to view the mighty gorges which it cleaves through the
Himalaya—only to find his passage barred. The bridge was closed
to travellers on account of some infectious disease the other side.

But if I could not go there I could at least dream—dream of a
Journey to that mysterious country. I would pierce through the
Himalaya, see marvellous mountains, visit the great lakes, explore
the source of the Indus, the Sutlej, the Brahmaputra, come to
know the curious people of that secluded country, and make a
famous name.
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All that, however, lay in the future. The present problem was how
to get to Simla. He had to climb 3,000 feet before descending to
another bridge. But the air of that shut-in valley was stifling and
the sun beat down into it with scorching heat.

There was nothing to look forward to now as a spur to my
lagging spirit. I was not making for any goal. I was indeed
turning back upon what had been my goal, and was making
down instead of up the Sutlej. I felt utterly listless and disinclined
to face the hill. Nevertheless, it had to be faced, so I determined
to make my mind a blank and turn myself into a pure machine.
I would think neither of the heat, nor of where I had to get to,
nor of future schemes. I would not even look up to where I had
to go. I would simply look on the ground and watch my feet
going tramp, tramp, tramp, mechanically upward. The plan
answered splendidly. After a time I did look up, fully expecting
to see the top of the ridge miles beyond me yet; but to my
astonishment it was close at hand. The air was cool. I was
well out of the valley, and very soon I was in a clean and com-

fortable dak bungalow.

Next day he descended the other side to the Sutlej again, crossed
it by a less painful ascent and reached Narkanda—only another four
days’ easy march from Simla. From Simla he pressed on to Kasauli;
and he ends his travel record with the cryptic words : ““ And there
what was bound in the nature of things to happen befell me, and
Kasauli holds for me sweeter memories than any other spot in all
the Himalaya.”



Chapter V

MILITARY STAFF APPOINTMENTS

HAT befell him at Kasauli was the flowering of his love.

But the opposition of his parents to any thought of

marriage at the outset of his career, and of her parents

to their daughter’s consideration of it when she was too
young to know her mind, his own diffidence and her consequent
hesitation—these factors brought about a feeling of constraint between
them and resulted in six years’ indecision, and for him a final heart-
break. Someone has written : ““ God gives us love, something to
love He lends us; but when the love has grown to ripeness, that
which was lent drops off, and love is left alone.” It was so in his
case. We are to picture him as outwardly a rather solemn youth,
of slow and measured utterance, correct and conventional in his
demeanour, not given to spontaneous self-expression. But inwardly
he was all tenderness and affection, and bubbling with mirth and
joi de vivre. “‘ T had none of that natural ease and assurance and grace
of manner which men acquire in the society of women,” so he wrote
long after. “I had no ‘way’ with them; I was too stilted and
restrained.”  And his daughter writes with understanding : “I think
that his warm-heartedness which never quite hit the mark, either
in giving or receiving, was the cause of his loneliness in early life
and is one of the clues to his personality.” Therefore it was ““in
the nature of things” that the flower should be plucked before
it could bear fruit, so that it slowly withercd; but its tender
fragrance was something that lived on, even to the end of his
days.

At the end of 1884 he was sent on a reconnaissance across the
Indus to the Kohat frontier. It was his first experience of extra-
regimental work. * The Divisional Staff had asked for the loan of
:1seni0r officer from the regiment to take charge, to be assisted by a
Junior officer from the infantry. But none of our senior officers were
particularly interested in reconnaissance and knew little about survey-
ing ; so the Colonel, knowing that I was keen on both, thought I
would be the most suitable one to send.” His instructions were to

35
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inspect and report on the roads and supply-lines of the frontier, in
case of a Russian invasion. His work must have been eminently
satisfactory, for no sooner had he returned to his regiment in March
1885 than the Divisional Staff sent for him again. A Russian force
had occupied Penjdeh on the west frontier of Afghanistan, and forced
the Afghans and some British officers to withdraw. * They should
have stuck it out,” says Younghusband, “and put the onus on
Russia.” It was an international crisis.  Gladstone’s Government was
prepared, if need be, for war. A force of 20,000 troops was concen-
trated at Rawal Pindi. The Emir was invited to meet Lord Dufferin,
the Viceroy ; and a durbar was held in his honour. Younghusband
was retained on the Divisional Staff, and with three or four young
officers was detailed to report on suitable sites for camps, help lay
them out, allocate units to them, conduct them thither on arrival
and generally facilitate the requirements of their commanding officers,
by night as well as by day.  He rode escort to the Duke of Connaught,
and was galloper for various Generals including the Commander-in-
Chief, Sir Donald Stewart. * But the Emir, with becoming Oriental
disdain, professed to being unmoved at seeing twenty-thousand men
paraded before him in a single line” ; and with equal nonchalance
he took the Penjdeh incident quietly.

But if Mr. Gladstone on a point of principle was ready to go
to war, the Government of India in actual practice was not.
Since the Afghan War in 1881 a blight had fallen on Indian
defence ; railways to the frontier had been torn up, establish-
ments reduced, armaments and equipment kept at a minimum.
And now, in the opinion of the Commander-in-Chief, we were
not in a position to oppose the Russians. This being the casc,
we had to cat humble pie, make the best of a bad job, ignomint-
ously draw in our horns, leave Penjdch in possession of the
Russians, and let the Emir think what he liked about our ability
to carry out our treaty obligations to protect him.

In the event, the Governments concerned agreed to send repre-
sentatives to the frontier and delimitate the boundaries between
Afghanistan and the Russian Empire.

Whilst Younghusband was engaged with his work on the Staff
of the Q.M.G., newspaper reporters would flock to the office for
information. Among them was a very dark young man with bushy
eyebrows, large spectacles, and unhealthy appearance, named Rudyard
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Kipling, in search of copy for the Civil and Military Gazette of Lahore.
“ He was looked upon with great disfavour by Staff officers as being
bumptious and above his station.” When in later years Young-
husband came to recognize him for what he was, a supreme
literary genius and a poet of Empire, he said that he admired
the manner rather than the matter of his work, both in prose and
verse.

“ The captains and the kings having departed, I with others of the
lesser folk was settling down to a dreary hot-weather with my
regiment, when another stroke of good fortune fell to me.” Early
in 1885 the Divisional Staff requested his services again. The Intelli-
gence Department at Simla wanted an officer to undertake the unex-
citing task of revising the Military Gazetteer of Kashmir. In May
he was comfortably installed there with every book and report on
Kashmir at his disposal and also—which was far more interesting and
important—some secret information about the disposal of the Russians
in Central Asia. From this he discovered that counter-measures were
being taken by the British authorities railways: which had been
heedlessly torn up were being hastily replaced ; a marvellously
engineered railway was being run to Quetta; vulnerable points
were being fortified ; the tribesmen were being secured, and a
mission under Colonel (Sir William) Lockhart was going to Chitral
and Hunza. So while diligently digesting the Kashmir reports and
amassing voluminous sheets of notes therefrom, he was carefully
studying the Russian position in the cast, and concluded that they
must eventually' make a move in the direction of Manchuria.

“ All was intense activity behind the scenes, though outwardly all
was gay. To readers of Kipling’s Plain Tales from the Hills and
Under the Deodars the Simla of this timec must scem desperately
wicked ; but to a guileless young subaltern there was nothing more
innocent than the gaicty.” Gymkhanas, races, dances, theatricals,
picnic and dinner partics were the order of the day. Viceregal
Lodge was not then built and Lord Dufferin lived at ¢ Peterhof’.
He was a great social figure and the life of Simla took its tone from
him. “ Lord William Beresford organized the theatre ; and the per-
formances by the Amateur Dramatic Socicty were as good as at any
ordinary theatre in London. The original of Kipling’s Mrs. Hawksbee
was by no mcans the clever designing busybody which he depicts.

She was just a genial, jolly soul, a friend of the Adjutant-General ;
S.F.Y. D
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and perhaps some poor officer, who might otherwise have had to
remain in the plains, was through her enabled to have a few months
at Simla in an office.”

Kipling’s short stories got Simla a bad name which it did not
deserve. Life in Simla was very delightful with its gay society, its
heavenly views, its brilliant atmosphere, life-giving air, and gorgeous
dawns and sunsets. And with his feet now well planted on the
military ladder, and the prospect of permanent employment on the
Staff, what more could a young subaltern desire ? But all the while,
behind the interests that now absorbed him and the diversions that
entertained him, he felt the whisper of an insistent summons; it
was the call of the wild, the lure of the vast lonely spaces; it was
now embodied in one word—Manchuria. How could he combine
military duties with exploration 2—that was the problem, and the
one which he set himself to solve. He read and thoroughly assimilated
the political history of the Far East, and took as his cue three facts:
the provocative speech of General Kuropatkin (later Chief of the
Russian army in Manchuria in the Russo-Japanese war), who pro-
fessed to fear a threat from the slow but continuous arming of the
Chinese nation ; an attack by China on the Amur; the natural
wealth and great untapped resources of Manchuria—a country that
had never been completely explored.

In the evenings I accordingly drew up a report on our existing
knowledge of Manchuria, and dwelt in moving terms on the
urgent necessity of knowing more. [ meant to show it first to
my immediate Chief, Colonel Mark Bell, V.C., and afterwards
to no less a person than Sir Charles Macgregor, the then Q. M.G.
in India, in whose department the Intelligence Branch was
included, and who had himself made a comment on Kuropatkin's
speech, which was friendly to the Chinese. I would somchow
convince them that if the Indian Empire were to be saved, I must
be at once sent on duty to Manchuria.

Help came from an unexpected quarter. Mr. H. E. M. James,
then Director-General of the Post Office in India (afterwards knighted
and Commissioncr in Sind), was contemplating a journey to Chinese
Turkestan.

We met first at a dinner-party, and the conversation between us
turned on Yarkand and Kashgar. I naturally waxed eloquent on
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the subject, and a week or two afterwards we again met at dinner,
and again talked about the same places. And then, after a few
days, on one Sunday afternoon Mr. James walked into my house
and asked me if I would go on a journey with him. Nothing
was said as to where we would go ; but to go a journey anywhere
was enough for me, and of course I said “ Yes”. I remember
sitting that afternoon in church at Simla and looking at the rows
of people in the pews, thinking how every man amongst them
would wish to be in my place, if he only knew what I was going
to do !

But a few days later Mr. James called to say that the journey he
had planned was off ; he could not obtain his leave in time to make
it; but he proposed instead another journey in March of 1886.
Where should they go? Younghusband expatiated on the virtues
of Manchuria, and it transpired that Mr. James had been recom-
mended Manchuria from another source—so to Manchuria they
would go.

So far so good. But permission to go there, either on leave or
duty, had still to be obtained. He knew that he would have no
difficulty with Colonel Bell, who was possessed of great physical
hardihood, loathed office work, and had compiled valuable reports
on Persia and China. But to tackle the Quartermaster-General was
a different proposition. True, he had made reconnaissances and had
greatly distinguished himself in the Afghan war.

He had written a secret book called The Defence of India, which
I had come to know nearly by heart, and which, compiled before
the Penjdeh incident, had forecast that move, and was intended
to arouse the Government to our danger if we did not take steps
to counteract the Russian advance. He never doubted that if
we exerted ourselves we could stave them off, for he was fully
aware of the dangers that lay before them in any serious invasion
of India.

He was a big, bluff, gruff man. When I was first introduced
to him all he said was : “ Damned rum name that is.”” Now,
however, he was more interested in me. He at least listened to
what I had to say. I asked to be sent on duty to China and
Manchuria for eighteen months. He replied that I was too young
and inexperienced to be sent at Government expense, and eighteen
months was too long to be away, but he would do what he could
to get me six months’ leave. I thanked him, but gently implied
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that he must not expect to see me back at the end of six months,
(In the event I was away nearly twenty.)

There followed a 300-mile march to Delhi for two months
manceuvres with his regiment, mock-battles in which two armies
proceeded from bases a hundred miles apart to find and fight each
other when they did and how they best could. A distinguishing
feature of these manceuvres was the presence, for the first time in
India, of military representatives from foreign Powers, including
Russia, by invitation of the Viceroy. Lord Dufferin, who had been
Ambassador at St. Petersburg and Constantinople, was impressed
by the efficiency of the Indian Army, and thought that we lost much
diplomatic weight through ignorance of this fact by foreign Powers.
That his policy was successful Younghusband had subsequent proof.
And years later, when Resident in Kashmir, he remembered Lord
Dufferin’s example, and purposely invited the German Consul-
General to spend a week with him, and to him and to an officer of
the German Imperial Staff who was there on another occasion, he
gave every opportunity and freedom to inform themselves.

“ The weakness is palpable enough. The strength needs showing ;
and unless the strength as well as the weakness is realized we are liable
to be involved in war—to our misfortune, indeed, but to the far
greater misfortune of our enemy. The Bolshevists may yet have to
learn this lesson.”

He had previously broken the news to his fellows of his impending
departure.

Subalterns are not usually enthusiastic when one of their number
is constantly away from the regiment, and they have to do his
share of the work. There were therefore no marked signs of
delight among my fellow-subalterns when I announced that I
would shortly again be leaving the regiment. And twinges of
conscience did, I confess, come to me at forsaking them.

But if they were not enthusiastic about my travelling, they
were about my running. Bets were made on my running
300 yards in 33 seconds. I consulted a professional runner in my
troop about this, and he told me I could only do it if my stride
was seven feet. I ridiculed the idea for I am only five feet six
inches in height. However, there it was. To cover 300 yards
in 33 seconds you have to cover 27} feet each second, and that
means four strides of practically seven feet each second. It
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seemed hopeless. But I did it; Iranthe 300 yards in 33 seconds
with a fraction of a second to spare.!

Then they wanted me to walk fifteen miles in three hours.
I said I would run it in two. We were now on the march
down to Delhi to take part in the big camp of exercise, and
going by the milestones on the Grand Trunk Road I ran the
fifteen miles in one hour and forty-nine minutes.2 So, anyhow,
I was in fit physical condition for the travels before me.

1 This must constitute a record. The 300 yards is of course not a standard
race and till recently was never officially timed. But only as recently as the
year 1949 it was run by the American negro, Harrison Dillard, Olympic
winner of the 100 metres and champion hurdler, in the phenomenal time of
31 seconds, which 1s the world’s record.

2 The fifteen miles is also not a standard race and I have not found an official
time for it. But such a combination of pacc and stamina must surely be almost
unique in running.



Chapter VI

MANCHURIAN JOURNEY

FULL account of the Manchurian journey is given by Sir

Evan James in his book The Long White Mountain,® and

more briefly by Younghusband in the first three chapters

of The Heart of a Continent (a book which, for its objectivity

and informative value, must be considered the second best of his

major works). Here, space unfortunately forbids more than the
briefest summary of this journey.

Leaving the camp of exercise at Delhi he went to Calcutta to
join Mr. James, and together they sailed for China on 1g9th March
1886. He was fortunate in his companion, * the most kindly, affec-
tionate, and generous of men ", as well as an accomplished botanist.
At Hong Kong he felt his work had begun and made notes on all
the forts up-river to Canton, ““and I eyed every Chinese soldier I
met as if to search his inmost soul ”. At Shanghai they were enter-
tained by a merchant prince of the old style, and at Pekin by the
chargé d'affaires Mr. (afterwards Sir) Nicholas O’Conor, formerly
Ambassador in Russia and Turkey and *“ evidently very capable ", but
who astonished him by the remark that for the first time he was acting
on his own responsibility. *In India we have to act on our own
initiative at a very early stage, and the contrast between the Indian
Service and the Diplomatic Service surprised me.”

From Pekin they proceeded to Newchwang, the port of Manchuria,
where they were joined by Mr. H. Fulford of the Consular Service
who, happily for them, spoke Chinese and knew the customs Qf
the country. Their first objective was a mountain well known 1n

1t is a matter for regret ", wrote the author, “ that the observations taken
by Mr. Younghusband could not be worked out in time for the final correction
of the map. He displayed untiring perseverance, and it needed no ordinary
resolution to stand outside at nights, with a bitter wind blowing and the thet-
mometer below zero, waiting till a star rose to its proper altitude. He also
took compass observations to fix the position of the hills and rivers as we passed
along. . . . It is his pencil, however, that has enabled my readers to sce in the
frontispiece the summit of the real ‘ Long White Mountain '.”—These facts,

and others which are added as footnotes to this chapter, are not mentioned by
Younghusband himself : not even the fact that he was the geographer of the

party.
42






- e

o 2 = . == BT -
H. E. M. James H. Fulford F. E. Younghusband

THE PARTY IN MANCHURIA



1886 THE YALU RIVER 43

Chinese legends—the Chang-pai-shan or “ Ever White Mountain .
It had been visited only once before, in 1709, “ by one of those
enterprising Jesuit surveyors who seem to have pushed their way
everywhere ”, but no European had since verified his account. On
May 19th they started from Newchwang, travelling in mule-drawn
carts driven tandem, seated at the base of the shafts with their legs
dangling over the side, and their baggage piled between them and
behind.! They slept in native inns, cheek by jowl with Chinamen
along the wide long platforms (kangs) from which they had supped.
At Mukden they were greeted by a yelling, hooting crowd, and
pestered to distraction in the room where they found a lodging.
Here they were delayed a week to assemble a caravan of mules for
mountain work ; so they visited several temples and the tomb of
Nurhachu, founder of the Manchu dynasty, ““set in the midst of a
park of sombre cypresses and pines, many miles in extent, impressing
the imagination with a sense of dignified repose”. On May 29th
they began their journey eastwards to the Yalu river on the Korean
border. The hills were wooded with oaks and elms, “ such as we
never see in India ”’, and the stream-filled valleys, set with thriving
little hamlets and gay with “ English flowers”, were enchanting ;
in one day they found five different kinds of lilies-of-the-valley and
various species of maidenhair fern.2 Then came days of persistent
rain, they were drenched on the march, and the ground was slush.
“ More than once I remember being so tired that I lay down on a
fallen log, propped myself against some branch, and fell fast asleep
n spite of it.” They had no milk nor butter, for the Chinese and
Manchus do not milk their cows. The rivers swelled, and a dozen
miles from their source were unfordable. They would wait till the
flood subsided somewhat, overhaul and repair their kit at some farm-
house, and study John Chinaman at leisure ; and were impressed
by the industry and vigour of the Chinese colonists of this region,
who were supplanting the original Manchus. The Yalu river at the
point where they reached it, where it takes a southerly bend, is a noble
waterway 300 yards wide ; the meadows of its banks were *“ covered

1% Our mules looked a sorry lot when we started, but they improved on
acquaintance. Younghusband’s veterinary skill soon relieved their galls, and
the cure of onc enormous abscess was a real triumph of surgery.”

2 “ Younghusband was an entomologist, and he pointed out to us several

rare English kinds of buttcrflies : swallow-tails large and small, purple emperors,
tortoise-shells, rare clouded ycllows, and others, most of them very plentiful.”
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with flowers of every description—often with masses of stately lilies,
some specimens of which measure six inches across, or with waving
sheets of irises and columbines . Here, however, at the village of
Mao-erh-shan, 280 miles from Mukden, where they had expected to
find food, they found nothing but uneatable pork and a curry made
of salted eggs six months old. They then began a toilful ascent of
the seemingly endless series of ridges encircling the White Mountain ;
through dense forest undergrowth, up slopes and gullies, shoving the
mules along in front of them, plagued with midges, mosquitoes,
gad-flies, “ and the wretched mules were often covered with blood
and driven wild by their attacks”. They slept in sable-hunters’
huts, squeezed tightly together in a row on the kang, lying heads to
tails with the Chinamen ; a smoky fire burning against the mosquito
pest—and this in the heat of a summer’s night. * That period of our
journey was a very trying one.” Reaching the junction of the Yalu
with the Sungari river they ascended the bed of the latter, but after
two days the mules were brought to a standstill by a bog. Leaving
the animals and securing the assistance of a porter they shouldered
their loads and pushed on, on half rations. * This was the hardest
piece of work we had done, for we covered from 15 to 20 miles a
day, and that through ground where we frequently sank to our
knees and never felt sure of our footing, and with a load on our
backs.” But the thought that they were now within striking distance
of their hidden goal spurred them on. On the fourth day of their
load-carrying they found themselves at its base.

It was with a sigh of infinite relief that we looked upon it, but
I cannot say that, here in its solid reality, it inspired us with awe
commensurate with the mystery which had been attached to it.
It certainly rose high above all the surrounding forest-clad hills,
and perhaps in the British Isles would pass muster as a mountain ;
but it was not the snow-clad monarch we had expected to sce,
and it afterwards proved to be but eight thousand feet in height.
Still, here the mountain was, and what it lacked in grandeur was
made up for in beauty, for its sides were covered with the most
exquisite meadows and copses. In Kashmir there are many
beautiful meadows, but none to compare with those of the Ever-
White Mountain. These were such as I have never seen equqllpd.
Masses of colour, flowers of every kind, whole meadows of irises
and tiger-lilies and columbines, with graceful stately fir-trees
scattered about to relieve any excess of colour and add to the
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beauty of the whole. And, looking closer, we found ferns of
the most delicate tracery, deep blue gentians, golden buttercups,
azaleas, orchids, and numbers of other flowers of every type of
beauty, all in their freshest summer bloom.

Next day they explored some springs which form one of the main
sources of the Sungari ; the day following they ascended the moun-
tain and emerged upon slopes of long grass, dwarf azaleas, heather,
yellow poppies, and gentians. The ascent though steep was not
difficult, and they made for a saddle between two rugged peaks, to be
rewarded at the summit with an unlooked-for discovery. The moun-
tain was an extinct volcano; its perpetual whiteness was due not
to snow but to powdered pumice-stone, and its crater, in a setting
of weird fantastic cliffs, was filled with water of a peculiarly deep
clear blue. The lake appeared to be some 6 or 7 miles in circum-
ference, and at its farther end was an outlet from which flowed the
main branch of the Sungari, a river which in its lower reaches attains
a breadth of over a mile.

We tried to descend to the brim of the lake, but could find no
way down the precipitous cliffs ; so, after boiling a thermometer
to ascertain the altitude, I set out to ascend the highest of the
rocky peaks which formed a fringe around it. The climb was
a stiff one, but I succeeded in reaching the summit, and from
there I looked out over a billowy expanse of forest-clad hills
stretching away on every side, as far as the eye could reach in the
direction of Manchuria, and as far as one could see over Korea ;
nothing but forest, except where the lake lay below me like a
sapphire in a setting of rock, and it was only by this and by
occasional glints of the river that the monotonous green was
broken.!

Doubling back on their tracks, in three days they picked up their
patient beasts of burden, and ravenously devoured some eggs.

! Mr. James wrote : * The ascent was very stecp and not unaccompanied
with danger, as the foothold was trcacherous and, had Younghusband slipped,
he might have rolled over the edge and dropped five or six hundred feet into
the lake. However, he succeeded better than we did, and got up to the highest
pinnacle, creeping out to the very edge of a piece of rock which projects over
the lake like a bowsprit, and waving his hat to us. From below it looked as
though nothing but an eagle could find a resting-place in such a position. He
calculated the height to be 7,525 fect, but allowing for an error in the reading of
the boiling-point thermometer which he subsequently discovered, 500 feet must
be added on to that.”



46 MANCHURIAN JOURNEY 1886

It is said to be good to rise from a meal with an appetite. In those
days we always rose from our meals with magnificent appetites.
It was the greatest relief, however, not to have to carry a load any
longer, and, happiness being merely a relative quality, we felt thor-
oughly happy on the following day as we trudged along beside our
mules, with no weight on our backs to crush the heart out of us.

They now struck 300 miles northwards to Kirin. After many days
of weary plodding through the forest, climbing of ridges, wading of
tributary streams, ““ one of which we forded twenty-four times in a
single march, and always waist-deep ™, they suddenly found them-
selves clear of the trees and “ in a populous district of extraordinary
fertility ’.  The soil, reclaimed from the forest, was rich and black;
the houses new, large, and well-built ; everywhere were signs of
prosperity. ““In Asia one sees plenty of the old age-worn life, but on
that continent it is only in a very few places that one can see the fresh
young life of a colony pushing vigorously ahead.” On August 12th
they reached Kirin, picturesquely situated on a wide bend of the
Sungari amid wooded hills; and here, despite incessant rain and
consequent increase of the filth and smells of the place, they remained
three weeks, paying off the muleteers who had brought their baggage
from Mukden and engaging carts to continue their journey. Inan
arsenal erected and equipped entirely by the Chinese they found
magazine-rifles, gatling-guns, and field-guns being turned out “in
a very creditable fashion” ; and this many hundreds of miles from
the coast, without railways or water-ways or even good roads for
the carriage of heavy and delicate machinery. Here they were
regaled with Chinese dinners: “ course after course, till we must
have had between 30 or 40 of them, including such delicacies as sea-
slugs, sharks’ fins, and birds-nest soup ”’, but there were also some
less alarming and more substantial viands. They found the cultured
Chinese gentlemen who entertained them excellent company and
perfect hosts, with an elaborate politeness and punctilious etiquette
which was too habitual and natural to be mere veneer, and was off-set
by their genuine heartiness and joviality. This was a marked contrast
to the rude, coarse, and unmannerly behaviour of the lower classes
whom they had previously met and who had been their bed-fellows
in wayside inns, “ who hate foreigners and make no secret of doing
so, and from whom the traveller is apt to form an unfavourable
impression of the race as a whole ”.
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A Chinaman is perhaps rather too celestial, rather too much
up in the clouds and above ordinary mortals, and certainly shows
too little interest in the common everyday affairs of this world ;
but he is an interesting man to meet at home, and, mingled with
the irritation which his superciliousness so often inspires, I often
had a feeling of real regard for a man who can aspire to such a
lofty stand-point as the Chinaman does, and in his case I felt that
it was not all simple self-conceit, for he had in him the pride of
belonging to an empire which has stood intact for thousands of
years, and was approaching civilization when we ourselves were
steeped in barbarism.

On September 3rd they headed north again, this time towards
Tsi-tsi-har. Rain had reduced the roads to quagmires, and they
were sometimes obliged to relay the mules. The valleys widencd
into richly cultivated lands, thickly inhabited ; the grain of millet,
now ripe, was unusually heavy in the ear. . . . Still further down,
in the swamps of the Sungari which were ten miles wide and looked
a likely place for snipe, ““ we had an experience with mosquitoes
which quite eclipsed all former records. We heard a kind of sup-
pressed roar, like that of a distant sea, and we thought it must come
from the river. But it was nothing but mosquitoes. For a foot
or two above the marsh they were in myriads.”” Though there
were snipe about, there was nothing for it but a hurried retreat. They
crossed the river by ferry and at once entered the open rolling steppes
of Mongolia, carpeted with luxuriant grass and flowers, where herds
of antelope grazed ; the hollows filled with lakes, the haunt of multi-
tudes of waterfowl. Having gone milkless for nearly four months
they were now refreshed with an abundance of solidified cream,
surpassing even the produce of Devonshire.r  They reached Tsi-tsi-har
on September 20th, but there was little of interest to be seen and
the northern winter was coming on apace. So they struck south-
castwards for Hulan and, the roads being now dry, could average
over 30 miles a day. The boundary-line between Mongol and

1% This was indced a miserable piece of journeying and it ended up by a sin-
gular, and what might have proved to be an ugly accident. Younghusband,
who was reclining on the kang, suddenly jumped off it, upsetting a pair of
scissors which were lying upon his bedding ; his foot caught them before they
rcached the ground and he ran the points, which were slightly open, more than
an inch perpendicularly into the sole of his foot. He at once got on his back

again and we bandaged him up, but it was a fortnight before he could put his
foot to the ground.” Younghusband himself never mentioned this accident.
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Chinese territory, though a purely artificial one, was clearly defined
as “ that between the desert and the sown”. Hulan was a new and
thriving town, with a busy bustling air about it. Thence they turned
north again to visit Pei-lin-tsu where a Roman Catholic mission
was cstablished, but, finding the priest in charge away, turned south
to Pa-yen-su-su, another mission station, where they found both him
and the director of the latter. No European save the French consul
in the previous year had ever visited these distant mission stations,
““ and to have that warm and heart-felt greeting which one European
will give to another, of whatever nationality, in the most distant
corners of the world, was a delight that can well be imagined .

But apart from that, we were very deeply impressed by the
men themselves. They were standing, transparent types of all
that is best in man. There was around them an atmosphere of
pure genuine goodness which made itself felt at once : no weak
sentimentality or flashy enthusiasm, but solid human worth. Far
away from their friends, from all civilization, they live and work
and die ; they have died, two out of the three we met there, since
we left. When they leave France they leave it for good ; they
have no hope of return. Others may bring discredit on the
missionary cause, and produce the feeling of hostility to it which
undoubtedly exists, but these are the men who are a true light
in the world, and who will spread the essence of Christianity—
the doing of good to others—abroad. Their strong yet simple
and gentle natures, developed by the hardships of their surround-
ings and the loftiness of their ideals, and untainted by contact
with worldly praise and glamour had, as we saw evidenced in
the people around, affected even the Chinese.

At Sansing, which they reached on October 13th, they procured
some long loose sheepskin coats, and visited a fort armed with heavy
Krupp guns. Requesting a sentry to unlock the doors of the maga-
zine, they finished their inspection of the fort, and were going
unobtrusively away, when the Coloncl in command of it sent out
and begged them to come in to tea ! Whilst being thus hospitably
entertained, a messenger arrived in hot haste from Sansing with an
order from the General that they were on no account to be allowed
inside the fort. “ This was most embarrassing. And, having seen
all that was to be scen, we assured our host, with every mark of
sincerity, that, these being the orders of the General, nothing should
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detain us for a single moment, and that we would leave the fort
instantly.” The kindly old Colonel, however, insisted on their finish-
ing their tea. “I hope”, adds Younghusband, “ that he never got
into trouble, owing to the slackness of discipline in his men, for
letting us inside.”

This fort would absolutely bar the passage of the Sungari if the
guns could be trusted, for they were of far larger calibre than
any that could be brought against them ; and I marvelled at the
perseverance and energy of the Chinese in bringing them here,
across hundreds of miles of land, and over hilly country. ... But
with the Chinese there is always a doubt as to whether their guns
will go off at the critical time, for they are so utterly careless of
them and of their delicate machinery, and will allow it all to go
to rust and ruin with perfect disregard of the consequences.

The party now ascended the Hurka river to Ninguta along a road
“fit only for pack-animals’. On one occasion a cart and its team
turned two complete somersaults as it rolled down a hillside, and
yet with little damage. It was hauled up and repacked. ““ The mules
merely shook themselves and then stared stonily ahead, as if it were
all in the day’s work and not to be wondered at.” On another
occasion a mule fell under the wheels of the cart, which was double
harnessed, and was dragged for some hundred yards before the team
could be stopped. * We thought he must be dead—suffocated with
mud if nothing else. But he got up, shook himself, stared stolidly
about with an aggrieved expression, as if it were really rather harder
luck than usual, and then allowed himself to be put in the shafts again
and go on with the rest of the day’s work.” Bogs filled the hollows
between out-cropping spurs of rock, and these were a source of
frequent difficulty.r But there were also copses of oak and birch,
where they found excellent pheasant-shooting ; there were flocks
of ducks and geese ; and the river abounded with fish, mostly salmon ;
“so that we werc now living very comfortably, making up for
our privations in the forests of the White Mountain”’. At Nin-
guta, on the borders of Russian territory, which they reached on
October 26th, they found a telegraph officc manned entirely by

1% A meek little pony which Younghusband was riding signalized itself by
suddenly kicking up behind and shooting the bold dragoon, who never dreamed
of such effrontery, clean over his head into a muddy ditch. It was a startling
and beautiful spectacle, and even the victim roared with laughter.”
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Chinese, but where the language in use was English. Halting there
two days, they next made southwards for Hunchun, a garrison post of
importance, where Russian, Chinese, and Korean territory meet.
The going was again difficult and they took a week to reachit. They
found it well fortified and the forts, as at Sansing, mounted with
heavy Krupp guns. They called on the Lieutenant-General in charge
of the frontier, by whom they were received very ceremoniously.
Having written to the commander of the Russian post across the
frontier for permission to visit Novo-kievsk, they started off towards
it before receiving a reply ; they had barely crossed the boundary
when they were met by a couple of mounted Cossacks who resembled
in every particular the popular illustrations they had seen of these
warriors. The Cossacks saluted, and handed Mr. James a letter from
Colonel Sokolowski who said that he would be most happy to allow
them to cross the frontier, and hoped that they would visit his post
and “ accept the cordial but frugal hospitality of a Cossack ”.

The Colonel’s house was bare of luxury, having only one room,
part of which served him for a bedroom and dressing-room, heaped
with military stores, piles of saddlery, racks of arms, and miscellaneous
articles of equipment. After some light refreshment, he showed
them round the barracks. By comparison with that of the British
soldier tfie standard of living here was decidedly low ; but the men
were hard, cheery, and good-natured, and had about them a very
workmanlike air. In the evening there was a small dinner-party:
themselves, three Cossack officers, and a Chinese interpreter. . . .
But Younghusband’s description of this dinner is as impossible to
abbreviate as was the dinner which it describes. It must therefo.rc
be quoted verbatim. There is an almost Dickensian touch about it.

After eating some small dishes, such as sardines and salmon
chips, at a side table, and washing them down with a glass or two
of vodka, which the Colonel informed us was quite a necessary
proceeding, to clear our throats for the dinner that was comng,
we sat down to the main business. First of all, a great soup-
tureen was placed on the table, filled with a good subsﬁm@al
soup. ‘“ No ceremony, gentlemen ; je mange énormément, said
the Colonel. And he proceeded to ladle himself out a good
helping, and everyone round the table then did the same. Each
of us had at his side six bottles of wine and beer, and these we
were expected to attack indiscriminately. * You're drinking
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nothing,” shouts out the Colonel, as he stretches across the table
and fills your glass with claret—a very excellent sort of claret, he
said, they got it from the Crimea. Before that was finished,
another officer would fill your glass—the same glass '—with
sherry. Then the Colonel would insist upon you trying the beer.
Meanwhile course after course of the most substantial dishes were
being served up. Each one helped himself'in turn, but in addition
one or other of the officers would cut off a huge slice and put it
down on one of our plates. The hospitality was genuine and
most hearty ; but how we got through that evening was a marvel
to us. We had been leading a hard, healthy life lately, so had
good appetites, and were able to keep fairly well in line with the
Russians in the eating way. But the drinking was terrible. If
we had been allowed to keep at one liquor we might possibly have
survived ; but the mixture of port and beer, and sherry and
claret, and Guinness’s stout and vodka, backwards and forwards,
first one and then the other, was fatal.

In the middle of dinner a jingling of bells was heard, and up
drove a tarantass. The door opened, and in came a young
Russian officer. He had arrived with his wife. * Just in time
for dinner,” said the Colonel. “ Make room over there, will
you ? ” and down the officer sat, while his wife went to her house.
The dinner went on without any break, and the new arrival was
treated as if he had been expected, and had merely come in a little
late. Yet he and his wife were new to the post, and had just
travelled for three weeks through Siberia, across those awful
roads ! No question seemed to be asked of the lady whether she
was tired or not, and it never seemed to strike anybody that she
could be.

Meanwhile the Chinaman was making himself thoroughly at
home. There is seldom any need to tell a Chinaman not to be
shy, and there certainly was not in this case. Before dinner, he
had arrived while the Colonel was out, and had proceeded without
any compunction into his dressing room, and made every use of
his dressing and washing things. And now at dinner he was
cqually free and easy. He ncver had to be pressed to take some
more to eat, or to fill up his glass ; and he talked away incessantly
the whole time.  Nor did he think it nccessary, though the guest
of the Russians, to refrain from telling storics very detrimental
to them. He thought, I supposc, that these storics would please
us; but, coming from such a shifty gentleman, we were able

to put them at their real value, and beg him not to trouble to
continue.
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Dinner being at long last ended, Colonel Sokolowski became com-
municative. He spoke bitterly of the Russo-Turkish war, in which
he had scrved ; enumerated the units under his present command ;
explained that as a frontier officer he must be a linguist (he spoke
French and German) ; and on comparing notes with Younghusband,
it was found that he, a Russian Colonel, was drawing less pay than
a British subaltern of cavalry. *“ And as for Mr. James, he could,
with his pay, have bought up a dozen—literally a dozen—of these
frontier commandants.”

After we had eaten and drunk and talked for some hours,
the other officers went off, and the Colonel said to us, “I don't
know quite where you will sleep. There is a sofa for one of
you ; the other two had better sleep on the floor.” This we
proceeded to do, and so passed our first night in Russian territory.
The Colonel had spoken of his Cossack hospitality as being rough
but cordial. It was both.

Next day they made for the garrison town of Novo-Kievsk proper,
on the coast near Vladivostok. It was a bleak and dreary outpost,
but there was a hill beside it overlooking Possiet Bay, which a British
fleet had lately visited, and of course they climbed that hill. A
Russian commissaire who had befriended them on the way was
“immensely tickled” when they told him. He had often heard,
he said, that it was a characteristic of Englishmen to climb a hil
immediately they saw one; that he had scarcely known a single
Russian to climb this hill ; but that whenever an Englishman arrived,
it was almost the first thing he did. They watched the drilling of a
party of recruits in full kit : a kind of goose-stepping ; the men were
small but thick-set and hard, and the discipline brutal. ~After another
night with friendly Colonel Sokolowski they now, on November IItl}.
divided : Mr. James by a short-cut to Kirin, the others with their
carts to Ninjuta for expected letters. The thermometer now stood
at zero and light snow was falling. They passed the body of a man
murdered by brigands the previous day, but themselves met with
no incident, and rejoined their companion on the 26th.  Icc now lay
on the Sungari to the depth of a foot, and they trotted their carts
smoothly across it. They visited the head-quarters of the Roman
Catholic Mission in North Manchuria at the village of Hsiao Pachiatzu,
where all the inhabitants were Christian since childhood * and scemed
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like a different race from the cold hard Chinamen around them .
The cold was now intense ; they rose in the small hours of darkness
to secure early lodging at the inns ; once at sunrise they encountered
frozen mist ; but the ice-hard roads made travelling easy. Arrived
at last in Mukden, they were kindly treated at the Scottish Mission.
Bearded, with brick-red faces, tattered clothing, worn-out boots,
and with galled and blistered feet, they were welcomed into a cosy
drawing-room where the ladies were at tea. “ We had had many
trials on the journey, but this facing a ladies’ tea-party in our dis-
reputable condition was the hardest of them all. As soon as, by the
light of comparison, we had discovered our unpresentable state, we
begged to be allowed to go and do the best we could for ourselves.”
Forthwith they were provided with clean shirts and socks and every
kind of clothing, and a cosy bedroom for each. This mission was
designed for the purpose of influencing the higher classes ; its ministers
were married men and highly trained ; there was a qualified doctor
in every station. Though therefore less inspiring than the Catholic
missions in the desolate north, it was eminently practical and effective
for its aims. They reached Newchwang on December 19th, exactly
seven months after they had left it, and there the party broke up,
Mr. James proceeding to Port Arthur and thence to Japan.

After all these years I feel strongly how much I owe him. It
was through him that I had thus gained my first experience of
rcal travelling, and though I did not appreciate it at the time—
for to a young subaltern the thing was natural—I have wondered
that a high Indian official, of more than twenty years standing,
should choose to rough it in his holiday time as he did. When
afterwards I had myself to lead an expedition, I realized what
sterling qualities of steady dogged perseverance he must have
possessed to lead our party successfully through the forests to the
mystcrious Ever-White Mountain.

With Mr. Fulford he set forth before Christmas for Tientsin,
crossing the Great Wall of China where it runs down to the coast at
Shan-hai-kuan, where were several modern forts.  These proved an
irresistible attraction to Younghusband, who, as he did elsewhere,
entcred them by the simple process of walking straight in, disregarding
the sentry if one happened to be present and allowing it to be assumed
that he was onc of the forcign officials in Chinese employ.

At Kaiping thcy passed strings of carts laden with coffins, each
S.F.Y E
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surmounted with a caged cock which by his crowing would keep
the spirit of the deceased awake while passing the Great Wall ; other-
wise it might go wandering off somewhere, forgetful of its body,
and the body might be brought in for safe burial in China but its
spirit left behind.

They reached Tientsin on New Year’s Day of 1887, in time to
take part in a mounted paper-chase, and got some skating and ice-
boatsailing. Mr. Fulford returned to his Consular duties, and Young-
husband to Pekin where he was the guest of Sir John and Lady
Walsham at the British Embassy. Sir John placed all the archives
at his disposal in order that he might complete his military report,
but told him kindly but quite firmly that, now that he had come
to the Legation, he must wean himself of his addiction to walking
into Chinese forts. Younghusband’s own conclusions were that,
while the Russians had nothing to fear from Chinese encroachment
in the north-east corner of the continent, the British had somewhat to
fear from Russia in the south-west of it. Among other personages
of note whom he met, and about whom he has left interesting com-
ments, were Sir Edward Goschen (our Ambassador in Berlin in 1914) ;
Sir Walter Hillier (later Consul-General in Korea) ; Herr von BrandF,
the German Minister ; M. Constans, the French Minister ; and.SII
Robert Hart, Inspector-General of the Chinese Imperial Maritime
Customs.

He intended to complete his report and rcturn in the spring to
India by sea in order to have a look at the ports, but at the end qf
March a surprising event occurred which changed his plans. Tl'ns
was the unexpected arrival of his chief, Colonel Bell, V.C., in Pekin.



Chapter VII

ACROSS THE GOBI DESERT TO YARKAND

OLONEL BELL was a brisk, blunt, tough soldier, who had
travelled much in Persia, Baluchistan, Burma, and China,
and was always eager for more. He briefly explained to
his young lieutenant that he intended an overland journey

back to India through Chinese Turkestan along the main populated
route, in order to acquaint himself with the military resources of
China. Younghusband begged to be allowed to accompany him.
This proposal Colonel Bell declined on the ground that it would be
a waste of man-power, and suggested instead that he should go by the
unknown route across the Gobi Desert—provided that he could get
the necessary extension of leave ; and that they should meet on an
appointed day at Hami, approximately half~way between Pekin and
the Himalayas.

I nearly burst with excitement at the prospect. Since the time
of Marco Polo, six centuries before, no European had travelled
from China to Central Asia. This route had never previously,
nor, as far as I am aware, has it ever since, been traversed by a
European. It lies midway between the high-road to Chinese
Turkestan and the route which Mr. Ney Elias followed in 1872
on his way from Pekin to Siberia. . . .

Colonel Bell then left Pekin, after fixing a date on which we
should meet at Hami, and my friends in the Legation said that,
judging from the general style of his movements, they thought it
extremely improbable that he would wait for me there more than
three-quarters of an hour.

The difficulty about leave was at once removed : Sir John Walsham
telegraphed direct to Lord Dufferin.  Not only that, but he procured
for the young cxplorer the best possible passports obtainable from the
Chinese :  and, to facilitate agreements for transport, Mr Hillier
“ provided me with a document which appeared as comprehensive
as a royal proclamation or a lawyer’s deed”. A wait of a few days
was necessary for the cxpected reply from Lord Dufferin, which

55



Map continued on opposite page

200 300
roule ccvean
td‘. é;.\
- N\
/é';
/\/‘\"'
kua-l1

100

Scale of Miles

o

Younghusbands
2
Z
‘A

Lo
245 SRR

. {
A ,mmrf LI FN Ty

PERKIN TO YARKAND




300

_——

200

Joo

Jecale oFf ACiles

;
)
A
%
:
&
E’

o




58 ACROSS THE GOBI DESERT 1887

was favourable, and 4th April 1887 was fixed as the date of his
departure.!

The evening preceding my departure was one which it will be
hard indeed to forget, and I think I realized then for the first
time clearly what I was undertaking. Lady Walsham asked me
after dinner to mark out on a map for her the route I proposed
to follow, and to tell her exactly what I hoped to do. Then,
as I traced out a pencil line along the map of Asia, I first scemed
to appreciate the task I had before me. Nowhere in Pekin had
we been able to obtain information about the road across the
desert. I had never been in a desert and here were a thousand
miles or so of one to be crossed. Nor had we any information
of the state of the country on the other side of the desert . . .
Lastly, at the back of all, looming darkly in the extremest distance
were the Himalayas, to cross which had previously been con-
sidered a journey in itself.

All the terrible vagueness and uncertainty of everything im-
pressed itself upon me as I traced that pencil line on the map.
It was a real plunge into the unknown that I was about to
make. . . . That last night in safety and civilization, all these
difficulties and uncertainties weighed heavily upon me. But with
the morning they were forgotten, and they never troubled me
again.

The first stage was to Kwei-hwa-chang, a mere 200 miles distant
from Pekin and within the borders of oricntal civilization. It could
be covered easily enough on horseback with mule-carts, and with two
servants : Chang-san, who as interpreter had accompanied the paty
through Manchuria ; and Liu-san, who eventually travelled with him
the whole way as interpreter, cook, tablc-servant, groom and carter.
“ When I think of all that depended on him, my single servant and
companion, I cannot fecl too gratcful for his fidelity.”—At Kalgan
he was hospitably welcomed at the American Medical Mission, and
also met a Russian tea-merchant who produced some useful books of
information and presented him with a new and particularly good map-

1 A few days after he had started a sccond cablegram came from India cancel-
ling his leave. The Military authorities had protested to the Viceroy that hg
had no power to grant it. But the British Ambassador in Pekin was 2 goo
diplomatist. * Sir John cabled back that I had alrcady started. He did, how-
ever, communicate with me even after this, sending me some comforts for the
journey ; but through some lapse of memory he omitted to mention that l:x
leave had been cancelled, and I was able to proceed on my way unhindecred.
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It is always a pleasure to meet a Russian. He is invariably so
frank and hearty. . . . Ilike to record these little acts of kindness
and consideration which I have received from Russians individu-
ally, because I believe there are no two nations that would take
to each other more than the Russians and ourselves, if the oppor-
tunity were forthcoming, and the more the members of each
nation know each other the better it would be for us both.

The words are prophetic, and the word ‘ individually ’ is significant.

At Kalgan he branched off the great caravan route that leads from
Pekin to Siberia and advanced through walled villages up the broad
valley of the Yang-ho. Cold north winds blew with great force from
the high plateau of Mongolia, filling the air with desert sand-dust and
producing, wherever opposed by counter air-streams, that curious
deposit known as the loess formation. It reaches a depth of some
hundreds of feet upon the plains of China, and crumbles under the
pressure of traffic with a vertical cleavage. The constant passage of
carts across the same route results in a track bounded by high perpen-
dicular cliffs, so that it is necessary to send a scout in advance to stop
an oncoming cart before entering the defile. On April 14th he
emerged on the broad open plain of Mongolia, and *“ an extraordinary
bounding sense of freedom came over me”. The prairie seemed
illimitable ; there were scattered herds of deer (huang-yang), flocks of
geese and duck flighting northward, bustards, larks high overhead,
and coveys of partridges on the ground which would not stir when
approached. Black dots descried on previous marches now resolved
themselves into yurts, the dome-shaped tents of lattice framework
covered with felt which the Mongols use, thin columns of blue smoke
rising from them in the morning air. A fire burned below the
ventilator in the roof. “ Being allowed to enter one of them, I was
charmed with the comfort of the place”, and, as later experience
proved all too frequently, its rounded sides were infinitely better
adapted to the wind than his own flat-sided tent.

Arrived at Kwei-hwa-chang he was given a warm reception by the
representatives of the China Inland Mission, * whose zeal and energy
are marvellous . This mission was composed of lay as well as of
ordained men, and also of followers of varying persuasions. *‘ It must
be a stern, truc heart indeed which can stand dreary years alone in a
remote Chinese town, surrounded by cold-blooded unemotional
Chinamen who by instinct hate you.” —Here information about the
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route was at last forthcoming : he must follow the caravan route
towards Guchen (north of the Tian-shan Mountains), and strike
southwards from it when ten marches distant from Hami. At length
and after much search a Chinaman was found willing to hire out five
camels, to carry 300 lb. each, for 180 taels (about £45), and also to
provide a guide. Three more camels were obtained. In addition to
ofovisions, one camel was loaded with brick-tea (the usual medium
in exchange), and another with two casks of water. Some delay was
previtable to satisfy Chinese superstitions and consult their almanac
for an auspicious day, so that the start was not made till April 26th.
“ A solemn agreement was drawn up and it was stipulated that, for
the above sum, we were to be landed at Hami in sixty days.” The
heart of Chang-san had failed him at the prospect of a long desert
journey and he returned to Pekin. The retinue now consisted of
three : the Chinese ‘boy’ Liu-san; a Mongol assistant Ma-te-la ;
and a guide, *“ a doubled-up little man, whose eyes were not generally
visible, though they sometimes beamed out from behind his wrinkles
and pierced one like a gimlet”.

Younghusband’s account of this journey is an even, steady narrative,
sober in style like that of every other born explorer, enlivened with
humour and humanity and sometimes with passages of really fine
descriptive power. Written as it was from his old diaries on the
march, when he was only twenty-three, it is still a classic of its kind.
On every page it reflects the steadfast, judicious, eager, cultured per-
sonality of the writer, and the versatility of a mind quick to seize and
assimilate every impression. Though untrained in natural science
(a fact which he always regretted) he had an innate aptitude in that
direction, and his diary abounds in observations—geological, botanical,
zoological, ethnological—that are of considerable interest. These
unfortunately, for lack of space, cannot be noticed here.

The routine adopted was to start each day at about 3 p.m. and
travel until midnight or later. They thus avoided the heat of the
day (it was hottest in the forenoon), and allowed the camcls to graze
by daylight (if loosed by night they might wander too far and get
lost). “ Through the long dark hours we would go silently on, oftcp
finding our way by the aid of the stars alone, and marking each as I’E
sank below the horizon, indicating how far the night was advanced.
Except when there was a sand-storm the nights were u11cloud§d-
There was no dust-haze now. The vault of heaven was of unsullied
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urity, and every star shone out in fullest radiance. “ And in the
stillness of those long hours,” so he wrote in 1927 in Life in the Stars,
“night after night, and week after week, that radiance made an
impression on my fresh young mind which has deepened with the
years. I began to feel at home with the stars.”

Between breakfast and dinner he would stroll about, write up his
diary, plot his map, and make preparations for another march. Then
silence unbroken save for the quiet thud of the soft-footed camels.
“So marked, indeed, was this silence of the desert that when we
arrived at the first oasis at the end of our journey, the ordinary hum
of insects and singing of birds seemed almost deafening.”—Not less
remarkable was the extraordinary dryness of the air. An arid wind
from the north would generally spring up before noon and blow the
heat away ; but if from the south—clouds would collect and rain fall,
only to be reduced to steam before it reached the ground. *“ Every-
thing became parched up, and so charged with electricity that, in
opening out a sheep-skin coat or a blanket, a loud cracking noise
would be given out, accompanied by a sheet of fire.”” Within a
month the closely-woven coat which Sir John Walsham had given
him, and guaranteed to last forever, was rent with creases and in shreds.

Changes of temperature were sudden and extreme, but the wind
was the greatest enemy. Sometimes it was so strong that the camels
could not face it and tents were pitched with the greatest difficulty ;
when dry it impregnated everything with sand ; but if it occurred
at night, and worse if accompanied by heavy rain—discomfort reached
a limit. On May 14th and 15th, when in the inhospitable Galpin
Gobi the party was completely tent-bound by the wind, and waited
till sunset of the sccond day hoping that it would abate. It only
seemed to.increase. Younghusband, however, determined on a start.
Soon dark clouds gathered, it blew yet harder, and heavy rain began
to fall. It was now pitch dark, and the guide was literally feeling
the way with his hands ; so they halted and camped having covered
only threc miles. The lantern could not be lit, they groped among
the camels, got the loads off, felt for the tent, pitched it somchow,
though hardly able to keep their feet. The next day they proceeded,
though the storm had obliterated all tracks ; and on the night of the
17th at cight o’clock a hurricane produced first a sand-storm and then
a deluge. Younghusband wrote temperately : * Putting up a tent
in a sand-storm is onc of thc most irritating things I know of. No
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sooner do you hammer a peg in than it is pulled up again ; the sand
gets driven into your eyes as you kneel to drive in the pegs; and to
add to it all, it was pitch dark, and heavy spurts of rain would come
driving down at intervals.” Next day the guide wanted to halt
because of the wind, but Younghusband * objected * and they started
at 6.30, lost their way, and camped at 11.30 without water. But on
May 19th they found the track, and with the range of the Hurku Hills
to guide them reached a well ; and after watering the camels pushed
on for the next well, gradually ascending the range. He here points
out a geographical fact of interest (apparently not previously noted),
that the Hurku Hills are a prolongation of the Altai Mountains.

He has much to say in gratitude to his faithful —though not entirely
trustworthy—retainers. And first the Chinese guide, who is other-
wise not named.

He was a wonderful man, and possessed a memory worthy of
a student of Stokes. The way in which he remembered where
we were, at each march in the desert, was simply marvellous.
He would be fast asleep on the back of a camel, leaning right
over with his head either resting on the camel’s hump, or dangling
about beside it, when he would suddenly wake up, look first at
the stars, by which he could tell the time to a quarter of an hour,
and then at as much of the country as he could see in the dark.
After a time he would turn the camel off the track a little, and
sure enough we would find ourselves at a well. The extra-
ordinary manner in which he kept the way surpasses anything
I know of. As a rule no track at all could be seen, especially
in the sandy districts, but he used to lead us somehow or other,
generally by the droppings of the camels of previous caravans,
and often by tracks which they had made, so faint that I could
not distinguish them myself even when pointed out to me.
Another curious thing about him was the way he used to 80
sleep walking. His natural mode of progression was by bending
right forward, and this seemed to kecp him in motion without
any trouble to himself. He had however one failing—he was a
confirmed opium-smoker. . . . I was obliged occasionally to
differ in opinion from this gentleman ; but on the whole we got
on well together.

Poor Ma-te-la’s was the hardest part. He had such a prodigious
amount of work to do in tending to the camels that Younghusband
out of sympathy one day mounted him on his own, “ but he would
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never get up again, as he said the guide would give him no wages if
he did .

He was a careless, good-natured fellow, always whistling or
singing, and bursting into roars of laughter at the slightest thing.
He used to think it the best possible joke if a camel deposited one
of my boxes on to the ground and knocked the lid off. He never
ceased wondering at all my things, and was as pleased as a child
with a new toy when I gave him an empty corned-beef tin.
That treasure is probably as much prized by his family now as
some jade-bowls which I brought back from Yarkand are by
mine. The Mongols carry about half their personal effects in
their boots, and one day he produced from his boots every little
scrap that I had thrown away, such as bits of paper, ends of string,
a worn-out sock, and numerous other trifles.

With Liu-san an early understanding was reached. Soon after
leaving Kwei-hwa-cheng “ sonmie uncanny-looking gentlemen came
prowling about the camp ”’, and the guide advised him to have his
revolver ready. He did so, and in order to add to the effect gave
Liu-san another—but unloaded.

I was at first afraid that if a loaded revolver were given him
he might make it very unpleasant for me one day in the wilds.
But afterwards, thinking that doing things by halves was little
good, I loaded it for him, and told him that I had the most com-
plete trust in him. He and [ must be true to each other ; I would
look after him, and he must look after me. The plan answered
admirably ; he used to swagger about with the revolver, showed
it to everybody he met, and told the most abominable lies about
the frightful execution he could do with it. Nobody can lie
with such good cffect as a Chinaman, and as he told the gaping
Mongols and Turks that, though he could only bowl over about
twenty men at a timc with his weapon, I was bristling all over
with much more deadly instruments, they used to look upon me
with the greatest awe, and I never had the semblance of a disturb-
ance on the whole of my journey.

Liu-san neither smoked nor drank, and professed to be afraid even
of lime-juice. He took his master to task one day for giving away
an old lime-juice bottle to an ordinary Mongol.  Such valuable gifts,
he said, ought to be reserved for the big men ; so the next *“ swell
cncountered was presented with a lime-juice bottle “ with great state,
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and given to understand that he was not likely to get such gifts as
that every day in the week.”—Liu-san had but little English, and the
other two had none. Younghusband set himself to pick up what
he could of Chinese by nightly conversations with Liu-san. But he
never got very far with it.

After passing the terrible Galpin Gobi and ascending the Hurku
Hills they were assailed with sudden furious hurricanes. The air

would be perfectly still, the sky clear, when black clouds would appear

in the far distance.

Gradually they overspread the whole sky, and as the storm
came nearer we heard a rumbling sound, and then it burst upon
us with terrific force, so that we were obliged to lie at full length
behind our baggage. There was fortunately no sand about—we
were on a gravel plain—but the small pebbles were being driven
before the wind with great velocity, and hurt us considerably.
‘The storm lasted for half an hour, and it was then as calm and
bright as before, and much cooler.

This was on June 3rd. Two days later they descended a wide
hollow between the Hurku Hills and the southern range, flanked by
“ a most remarkable range of sandhills . It was forty miles in length
and fantastically ridged, some of the ridges attaining a height of goo
fect ; pure white from top to bottom, and without a vestige of
vegetation. The guide called this ridge Hun-kua-ling.  After passing
its western end they entered upon

a scene which, for its extreme wildness and desolation, surpasscs
anything I have ever scen. The elements of the air seem to have
fought with and rent the very surface of the land, and the scene
is one of indescribable confusion. To add to the weirdness of
the spectacle, the country was covercd with tamarisk bushes, the
gnarled and contorted roots of which had been laid bare by the
wind.

Thence they turned southwards through the steppe that separatcs
the Altai from the Tian-shan range.

On June 8th, towards dark, after passing through the sandhills,
we approached a low range of hills. The guide halted here and
told me to take out my revolver, as, he said, the hills werc a
favourite resort of robbers. So I dismounted and went on ahead
of the caravan, revolver in hand ; the boy and the guide (the
latter armed with a tent-pole) each took a flank. We took the
bell off the camel, and approached the hills in dead silence. I¢
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was most sensational, as it was now quite dark, and we could see
nothing but the black outline of the hills against the sky, while
the absence of the * tingle-tingle * of the bell made the death-like
silence of the desert still more impressive. 'When we got close
up to the range, the guide said we had better wait till daylight,
as the robbers had a nasty habit of rolling big stones down upon
caravans going through the pass. So we put on our sheepskinsand
lay down on the ground till day broke, taking it in turns to watch.,

Nothing happened, despite the fact that Liu-san let off his revolver
twice ; but the guide was still apprehensive, and the next day * we
repeated the stage-conspirator performance, advancing noisclessly,
revolvers in hand. Nobody appeared, however, and when we got
on the open plains again, we resumed our former peaccful demeanour.”

Time was getting on and Younghusband was becoming impatient
of their frequent delays ; they were already a week behind the stipu-
lated time. He realized that he had been provided with camels that
were unserviceable for such a long journey ; and further, that both
his Chinese retainers were dishonest: the one having underpaid
Ma-te-la, and the other having defrauded him in payment of the
camelmen at the start of the journey. He now had ‘a fling ” at both
of them, confronting them with their misdemeanours, and looking
them full in the face the while in an effort to unmask them. But their
attitude of injured innocence was such that he could hardly keep from
laughing ; he realized, however, that they were in league and that
there was nothing he could do about it. * These rows will happen
in the best regulated families, but they are a nuisance. I limit them to
once a fortnight, when possible, as one cannot be always ‘ nagging’
at the unfortunate guide.”

Snow lay on the summits of the Altai Mountains—"“ a delightful
thing to see ”.  Herds of wild camels, wild asses and wild mules, were
sometimes sighted through his telescope across the plains below them.
Their own poor long-suffering camels werc ncarly spent. Young-
husband’s constant refrain was, * How far arec we from Hami?” In
crossing the desert of Zungaria, *“ one of the most absolutely sterile
parts of the whole Gobi”, the heat of the wind was such that
“T shrank from it as from the blast of a furnace .

After a long and trying march we (or I, at any rate) scarcely
got a wink of slcep, for the heat was stifling, without a breath
of air, and T was lying on the ground in a Kabul tent, pestered
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by a plague of sand-flies which got into my eyes, nose, and every-
where.  That was the most despairing time of my whole journey,
and many times that night I accused myself of being the greatest
fool yet created, and swore by all the gods that I would never
go wandering about the wild places of the earth again. But ’tis
always darkest before the dawn, and I could just see the first
glimmering of awakening day—the snowy summits of the
“ Heavenly Mountains " (the Tian-shan) were rising above me,

But there were still some hard marches ahead, and difficult ground
to cover. After a day of blistering heat over gravel on which not even
scrub could live, they suddenly found themselves at ten o’clock on
turf, and were hailed through the dusk by a clear human voice. Its
possessor was a Turki woman, who led them through bushes over
cultivated ground to a house—"* the first I had seen for nearly a thou-
sand miles . Beside it was a little stream * flowing rapidly, with a
delightfully gurgling noise, and deep enough for me to scoop up
water between my hands. I gulped down mouthful after mouthful
ofit . . . and while the water-casks were being filled, I thought that
the trials of the desert journey were nearly over.” But hardly fifty
yards away the vegetation ended, the gravel reappeared, and they
continued to ascend the outliers of the Tian-shan range, halting at
dawn on a slope where there was scrub enough for provender and
fuel, but not a sign of water. Next day they rounded the eastern
extremity of the range, which was covered with loose stones and cleft
with dried-up watercourses, till they descended upon another Turki
habitation. The faces of these Turki tribesmen were slightly more
elongated than the Mongols’ to the east, and considerably more
intelligent ; though not so much so (Younghusband found) as were
the Kashgari further west. He gives historical reasons for this, attri-
buting it to the westward trend of racial migration across Asia. There
was a sharper and ever sharper delineation of feature, the broad and
rounded Tartar type disappearing and giving place to the longer
narrower features of the Turanian.

At Morgai he saw several Turki women in the light of day, and
describes their appearance and costume, which were picturesque.
“ They stared with great astonishment at the sudden appearance of
a white man (though I fancy at that time my face was not quitc as
white as an Englishman’s generally is). But we had not much time to
examine each other’s charms, for I had that day to cross the Tianshan.
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They crossed the range at an altitude of 8,000 fect, over soft green
turf and a mass of meadow flowers, chiefly forget-me-nots, ““ and I
am sure I shall not soon forget the pleasure that they gave me”.
They camped beside a stream of cold, clear water, under a small
grove of trees, where birds were singing. “It really seemed the
height of bliss—a perfect paradise, and the desert journey a terrible
nightmare behind me.”  Far away over the desert they could see two
poplar trees; these they reached at midnight, only to be told that

Hami was still a long way off.

Now as my constant inquiry for the last month had been,
“ How far are we from Hami ?”’ and as the guide for the last
few days had each time said we were only sixty miles off, I was
rather exasperated to find that, instead of having ten or twenty
miles more to get over, there was still a good fifty. So on
striking camp at two the following afternoon, I told my men
that my tent would not be pitched again till Hami was reached,
so they had better prepare themselves for a good march. We
travelled on all through the afternoon—a particularly hot one ;
then the sun set before us, and still we went on and on through
the night till it rose again behind us.

We halted for a couple of hours by the roadside to ease the
camels, and then set out again. At eight o’clock the desert ended,
and we began to pass through cultivated land, and at last we saw
Hami in the distance, and after traversing a tract of country
covered with more ruined than inhabited houses, we reached an
inn at 11 a.m., and it was with unspeakable relief that I dismounted
from my camel for the last time.

He had accomplished the journey (1,255 miles) in seventy days,
having travelled 224 miles in the last week which included the crossing
of the Tian-shan Mountains.

His first inquiry was concerning Colonel Bell. That hardy traveller
had beaten him by three weeks, but had waited for him a whole day.
His next inquiry was for a cart, a pair of ponies and a pair of mules,
and a riding pony. Thesc he secured, as well as a carter whom he
later described as  the worst carter in Asia”.  The cart was an araba,
large and covered, with onc pair of very high wheels. One animal
was in the shafts, and three tandem-wise in front.

He made a new agreement with his “ boy °, which answered admir-
ably.  This was that Liu-san should undertake to land him at Kashgar
in forty days for onc hundred tacls ; seventy to be paid at once, and
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thirty on arrival ; with two taels bonus for every day inside the
stipulated date, and two taels deducted for every day exceeding it.
“I was to be regarded as a piece of merchandize to be carted from
onc place to another, and he was to undertake the whole of the
arrangement. It fully answered my expectations. . . . I became an
impassive log, and enjoyed myself immensely.”

In the event, leaving Hami on the evening of July 8thand arriving
at Kashgar on August 18th, he made this part of his journey in exactly
forty days.

Since the route lay along the base and southern slopes of the Tian-
shan range, it was broken by gorges, sometimes precipitous, intet-
spersed with strctches of desert or with stony, dried-up watercourses,
and populated here and there with Chinese or Turki villages, mostly
half ruined. At this time of the year there were frequent thunder-
storms. On the second day Younghusband wrote : ““ There is a sort
of half-dead air about this country ; for every inhabited house, at
least two in ruins are to be seen ”—and this proved to be the case,
more or lcss, along the entire route. “In passing through villages,
scarcely an inhabitant is met with, and in the fields no one seems to be
working. 1f I had come from anywhere else but the Gobi, I should
probably have found it extremely depressing.”

The kangs in the inns were generally unclean, being of caked mud.
“ The smallest village in Manchuria would not call such a place an
inn. They would put up cows in such places as thesc.” The natives
were hospitable, but timid, slack and listless. The heat was intense,
but the mosquitoes not as numerous as to make life unbearable. “ Had
they been so, I should feel very much inclined to take myself off to
the snowy Tian-shan Mountains which accompany us march by match,
exhibiting their cool refreshing peaks in the most tantalizing way to
us perspiring mortals down below here.”

Younghusband noticed an extraordinary fact about the town of
Turfan and its neighbourhood, namely, that though at the foot gf a
mountain range it must lie well below thc level of the sca : he estim-
ated between 200 and 300 feet. His barometer read 29:48. He found
later that Colonel Bell had noticed this depression, and its existence
was later confirmed by Russian travellers. The heat of the place was,
however, already proverbial.

I had read in some book that at Turfan it was so !101: thflt
people lived in holes undcrground. I never quite believed it,
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but today I found it was a real fact. Here in the inn yard is a
narrow flight of steps leading underground. I went down them,
and found a room with a kang, and a Chinaman on it smoking
opium. It was perfectly cool below there, and there was no
musty smell, for the soil is extremely dry. The room was well
ventilated by means of a hole leading up through the roof.

Beyond Toksun the going became difficult, and the country wilder.
Skeletons of horses, and even of men, were a grim reminder of previous
disasters to travellers, and to judge from the series of accidents that
befell him during the nine days’ negotiation of treacherous ravines,
he well might, but for good luck and good management, have
added to the toll. “ Arrived at last at Sho-Shok. My clothes-bag
was full of water. At sunset the mosquitoes came in swarms ; and
though we lighted four fires to smoke them off, it had no effect. We
were to start at 1 a.m., and I lay down between the fires, but could
not get a wink of sleep—rather hard luck after having been up till
one the night before.”

At Korlia he changed one of the cart-ponies and the next day paid
off the incompetent carter from Hami, taking on a Chinaman instead.
The difficulties of negotiating the desert stretches did not lessen, but
were now surmounted more satisfactorily. Fortunately for himself,
as it transpired, he engaged an Afghan whose name was Rahmat-ula-
Khan to accompany him to Kashgar through the mountainous region
of the Syrt country, while the cart went southwards by Maralbashi
along the easier desert route. West of Ush Turfan they came upon
a Kirghiz encampment—the first of these nomads he had seen—and
here, following the custom of the country, they asked for a night’s
accommodation, which was readily given. “In this way I found
myself quartered in a tent with four very old ladies, one of whom was
a great-grandmother, and the youngest a grandmother. They were
very hospitable old ladies, and we took a mutual interest in each
other.””  One of them, finding holes in his socks, whisked them away
and carefully mended them. She then said her prayers, and indeed
onc or other of them ““always appeared to be praying ”.

One of the Kirghiz men accompanied them to the Kara-kara Pass,
but left them “ stranded in the midst of a series of bare low hills and
sterile plains, without apparently any water, or any inhabitants, or
any special road”. They pushed on in the gencral direction of

Kashgar, and cventually after a very hard march reached another
S.F.Y. P
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Kirghiz encampment of six tents. Here their reception was much
less friendly.  After another hard day’s march of 46 miles they reached
another such encampment of fully a hundred tents. Here their recep-
tion was not only unfriendly but openly hostile. Only after con-
siderable difficulty, and much tact and persuasion on the part of
Rahmat-ula-Khan, were they allowed to lodge there the night.

Next morning matters were worse. As I mounted to ride
away, crowds of these rough Kirghiz collected round me, gesticu-
lating wildly. I asked Rahmat-ula-Khan what was the matter,
and he said they had determined not to let me through their
country. They argued that no European had been let through
before . . . and that they did not see any reason why I should
be allowed to. Some of the more excited were for resorting to
violent measures, but Rahmat-ula-Khan, who all the time was
keeping very quict and even smiling, talked and reasoned with
them, while I sat on my pony and looked on, well knowing that
the Pathan could arrange matters best by himself.

He had come so far and was now so nearly at the end of this, the
second stage of his long journey ; and for a few minutes it might
have seemed to him that his enterprise and life itself were to be
untimely ended—not by the forces of nature, but at the hands of his
fellow-men. Only a few weeks later Mr. Dalgleish, well known in
Yarkand and thereabouts for twelve years as an honest trader, having
undertaken what Younghusband calls *“ one of the most adventurous
and daring journeys that has ever been made in Central Asia, a journey
right round Chinese Turkestan and into the very heart of Tibet”,
was murdered near the summit of the Karakoram Pass on his way
back to Yarkand, in very similar circumstances. Just such a fate might
have overtaken Younghusband but for the loyalty and impcrturbability
of his Afghan companion.

It was curious to watch the gradual effect of his arguments,
and the cool way in which he proceeded. He first of all drew
them all out, and allowed them to expend all the spare encrgy
for vociferation they possessed, and then asked them what
advantage was to be gained by stopping me. He said I had
come direct from Pekin, and had a passport from the Empcror
of China, which I could show them: and that, having thf{t
passport, I was known and my whereabouts known, so that if
anything happened to me they would have Chinese soldiers
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swarming over their country, and every sort of harm done them.
He went on to say that it was a matter of indifference to him
personally whether they let me through or not; but as an out-
sider it seemed to him wiser on their part to let me go quietly
on to the next place, and so end the matter. If they did this,
nothing more would be heard of me ; whereas, if they did any-
thing to me, a good deal more might come of it. The upshot
was that they allowed themselves to be persuaded, and it was
agreed that I should be permitted to proceed on my way. Rah-
mat-ula-Khan had successfully extricated me from what might
have been a very awkward situation. He was one of the best
men for this kind of work I could have found, for he was always
well-spoken with the people, and cool in difficulties. He was a
good companion too. . . .

He would beguile the long hours of their marches, and afterwards
in the tent, with tales of his travels in Egypt and elsewhere and of his
experiences in Constantinople during the Russo-Turkish war; he
would insist that the Russians were ‘ pukka’, that is, hardy soldiers,
but disliked their passion for passports since it obstructed his move-
ments and interfered with his constitutional habit of roving. A strict
Mohammedan, he seemed, like the elderly Kirghiz ladies, to be always
praying ; but whether in spite of this propensity, or because of it,
Younghusband felt that he was a man entirely to be relied upon in an
emergency. On the subject of prayer “ he assured me that he only
prayed the regulation five times a day. As to us, he thought we had
no religion. He had observed us going to Church on Sundays, but
he did not know what we did for the remainder of the week.”

Before leaving the hostile encampment Younghusband has an inter-
esting remark to make upon the habits of these nomads. I noticed
some houses scattered about the plain and asked who lived in them,
but was told that they were merely store-houses. The Kirghiz said
that houses were good cnough to put supplies of grain in, but they
would not live in them for fear of their falling down.”

He would appear then to have parted from them on good terms.
However—* from this place we determined to march on as hard as
we could till we got out of the country inhabited by Kirghiz, and
down into the plains again, where the people are all Turkis. This
we succeeded in doing the same day.” They followed a stream and
then, after passing a small Chinese post, emerged on the great central
plain of Turkestan again, near Artysh.
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From here I saw one of those sights which almost strike one
dumb at first—a line of snowy peaks apparently suspended in
mid-air. They were the Pamir Mountains, but they were so
distant, and the lower atmosphere was so laden with dust, that
their base was hidden. One of these was over 25,000 feet high
and another 22,000, while the spot where I stood was only four
thousand ; so their height appeared enormous and greater still
on account of this wonderful appearance of being separated from
earth.

He little guessed how soon, and under what circumstances, he was
to make closer acquaintance with those snowy ranges. Meanwhile
he was content to hail them as *“ a landmark of progress "’ on his long
journey.

More than a thousand miles back I had first sighted the end of
the Tian-shan Mountains from the desert. I had surmounted
their terminal spurs, and then travelled week after week along
their base, their summits constantly appearing away on my right
hand. Now at last arose in front of me the barrier which was
to mark the point where I should turn off left and south to India.
It was a worthy ‘termination of that vast plain, for the greater
part desert, which stretches away from the borders of Manchuria
to the buttress range of the Pamirs.

At Artysh, and even more so at Kashgar, everything was bright,
the people kind, the corn-fields ripe, the gardens full of luscious fruit.
He felt that he had arrived again “ on the fringes of civilization "
He sent in his card and passport to the yamen, and received a visit from
the Afghan Aksakal who struck him as *“ a born soldier "’ and whose
knowledge of firearms of every kind of make was phenomenal. Next
day he went to call upon the Russian Consul-General. * The Afghan
Aksakal had an idea that Russians and Englishmen were rather like
cats and dogs in their relation towards each other ; so, just as I was
mounting my pony to go off, he caught me by the arm and whispered
confidentially to me, ‘ Now, sahib, do your best to be politc, and
don’t go fighting with that Russian ! * ”’—His reception at the Russian
Consulate, however, was very cordial, and M. Petrovsky surprised
him by his knowledge of British rule in India and of Central Asian
affairs no less than by his scientific learning. _

Returning to his serai the Afghan *“eyed me closely, to see if
there were any signs of a scrimmage with the Russian ”, but being
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informed that M. Petrovsky was coming next day to return the visit,
“ he seemed relieved .  The visit was in fact returned in great state
with an escort of sixteen Cossacks and a flag, and Younghusband says :
“ M. Petrovsky is an exceptionally interesting man, and I was sorry
I could not stay longer to see more of him.” Four years later, how-
ever, when he was again in Kashgar and saw much more of him, he
wrote : ““ But here again I did not take to the diplomatic agent as
I had taken to the soldier, and always felt it necessary to be on my
guard. He was an agreeable man to talk to, but not a man you could
trust a single yard.”

At Kashgar Liu-san with the cart rejoined him, having fulfilled his
contract to the day; and on August 29th, from nearly half across
Asia and from the opposite dircction to that which he had ever con-
ceived as possible, he arrived at the city of his boyhood’s dreams—
Yarkand.



Chapter VIII

ACROSS THE HIMALAYAS BY THE MUSTAGH PASS

T Yarkand he found a letter from Colonel Bell, written from
the Karakoram Pass :

I have heard nothing of you and do not know what to
expect. . . . From a batch of letters received here I glean
that your leave was granted. . . . Don’t come back by any of
the roads from Khotan or Yarkand onLeh. They are well known
and all equally bad. I wanted to cross [the Himalayas] by the
direct road on Kashmir, i.e. by the Shimshal Pass and Mustagh
Pass, but the road is not open till September, and I could not
wait. It is your shortest road—wants to be explored—any time
that you may spend over your leave can be accounted for and
you held blameless, and I will inform authorities when I reach

India—so don’t hesitate to go. . . . Don't fail to try the Mus-
tagh—it is your shortest route, and you have every excuse for
trying it.

“1 did not fail to try it,” Younghusband says, *“ and did not fail to
get over it, and by putting on a great spurt at the end of my journey
I did not exceed my leave, but rejoined my regiment on the very day
it was up.”

Here too he was greeted with deferential solemnity by the Chinese
traders’ representative and a small crowd of Indian traders who had
heard of the arrival of a British officer. The best room in the inn
was placed at his disposal with creaturely comforts of all kinds. A
sumptuous feast was given in his honour in a fruit-garden outside the
city, when gravity gave place to mirth, and the merchants hilariously
raced their guest and each other home on horseback.

He paid his respects to the Chinese Governor, whose residence in
Yarkand, at the uttermost extremity of the Chinese empire, was of
precisely the same pattern as those in Pekin. An hour after Young-
husband had taken his leave this Governor, returned the call, “ and in
every way showed a friendly feeling. He was one of the best
Governors Yarkand has had, and had taken considerable pains to con-
struct canals for irrigation and to build new bazaars.”

74
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All formalities concluded, he set about making preparations for his
journey, but found that the Indian merchants had already got together
and ‘ formed a committee * about him. His very youth enlisted their
sympathy : ** They felt a responsibility in secing me through that they
might not have felt towards an older man.”  First, they secured the
services of a splendid guide, Wali, a Balti native of Askol, who had
crossed the Pass twenty-five years before and said that he could
remember it. (Events proved that he could not, because the ice-
formation had shifted in the interval.) * He said he would show me
the way, but only on condition that I trusted him. He had heard
that Englishmen trusted their maps and not their guides, and if T was
going to trust my map I might, but he would not go with me as guide
—what was the use ? T had no scruple in assuring him that I would
not look at a map—because there was no map to look at.” Next, for
control of the whole caravan was a Ladikhi native, Mohamed Esa—
a Buddhist turned Moslem—who accompanied Younghusband on
subsequent travels including the expedition to Lhasa, and was lent by
him to Sven Hedin for his last journey to Tibet. * He could endure
cold and blizzards and privations better than any man I met in the
Himalaya, and cover longer distances.”” Under him was another
Ladikhi, ‘ dear old’ Shukar Ali. * Never, under any circumstances
whatever, did I see him anything else but cheerful. In fact, the harder
things went the more cheerful did he become.” Another first-rate
man the ‘ committee * produced was a Balti named Turgan, who had
been captured by Kanjuti raiders and sold into slavery. * The com-
mittee recommended e to purchase his release and take him back
to his native country. I got full value for my money.” Three other
Baltis were engaged as porters, and three other Ladikhis to look after
the thirteen ponies. Lastly, there was the faithful Chinaman, Liu-san.

Next as to equipment and supplies. Heavy sheepskin coats, fur
caps, and new foot-gear for all the men; new pack-saddles and
blankets and three scts of shoes for the ponies; a long loose robe
and a sheepskin sleeping-bag for himself. The ‘ committee ’ sent an
order to Kugiar—the last village this side of the ranges—to have ready
three weeks’ provisions for men and ponies.

All this involved a greater expenditure of money than I had
calculated upon when leaving Pekin. But again the ‘ committee ’
came to my aid, and offered to lend me what money I required
simply on my writing an order. Years after I was given back
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the actual order I wrote. It was no regular cheque, but was
written on half a sheet of ordinary notepaper. Yet this was
quite sufficient for these kindly and confiding traders. And that
they should have trusted me like this is a testimony to the good
name my predecessors had established.

The start was made on September 8th. “ My first night’s halting-
place gave little indication of the hardships I would have to endure ;
my bed was in a delightful fruit-garden, underneath a bower of vines
where the grapes hung in enormous clusters, ready to drop into my
mouth.”

The crossing of the Mustagh Pass must be reckoned as an exploit
unique of its kind in the annals of exploration, and among all the
feats of mountaineering in the Himalayas it constitutes a minor epic.
What renders it unique is the fact that it was accomplished by a young
man who had never set foot on an ice-cap or a glacier, who was
totally without experience of ice-work or of rock-climbing, totally
unacclimatized to altitude and cold, and was just fresh from a journey
of months across a blazing desert ; that neither he nor a single man
in his party had crampons to grip the ice, or ice-axes to cut steps in
it, or even an alpine rope. They wore heel-less and nail-less native
boots, and carried nothing but some pieces of ordinary packing-rope,
alpenstocks, and a pick-axe. Long before their dangers were behind
them, their footwear was in shreds, their clothes in tatters, and their
ropes in frayed strands. 'What added to their preliminary discomforts
and anxieties was the fact that at heights ranging from 10,000 to
16,000 feet they were obliged to sleep, not in their tents, but behind
rocks, in the open, as a precaution against raids from the Kanjuti
bandits who would issue from their deep-set Hunza valleys to plunder
caravans and kill or enslave the travellers. This they ‘would do by
cutting their tent-cords and overpowering them as they struggled
under the canvas. Three of the party had been captured in this way
and could speak from cxperience. Younghusband slept with his
revolver in his hand, “ and in the morning I would wake with my
moustache and beard frozen together across my face "'

But once more, as in the desert, the stars were his companions.
Before sleeping and on waking he would gaze up into the unfathom-
able immensities beyond the stainless snows, alive with quiVCUPE
points of light, like the eyes of watchers that stirred and yet were still.
They were so intent—intent on their business of shining. All the
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powers of their being seemed to be concentrated, focused into a single
diamond point of living radiance. Bright, steadfast, and serene—that
host of silent witnesses seemed to be filled, as he was, with an eager
joy. And gazing at them thus he would whisper, wordlessly, his
gratitude. It was awe that he felt in this presence of the beauty of
holiness : awe which was not dread, but bliss ; for this presence was
not something alien to his inmost self, it was akin. “In the great
stillness of the night the calm composure of the stars made me feel
that I belonged quite as much to them as to this earth. We all seemed
one together—my men and I, and the spotless mountains, and the
radiant stars.”

The first few marches led up and down the precipitous gorges of
the Yarkand River, and there was frequent fording. At one place
the river was unfordable and they built an aqueduct with boulders,
humped their loads and led the ponies over. The minor tributaries
were worse : drenched to the waist in icy water, shoving and hauling
the ponies up slippery rocks, “ Wali showing the general line of
advance and I reconnoitring alead,” they were at length confronted
by what appeared to be an impenetrable barrier of rock behind which
rose a snowy wall of mountains without the vestige of a pass. This
was a feature new to geography and Younghusband named it the
Aghil range. The guide now frankly confessed that he had forgotten
the way across it, but said that, as they approached it next day, he
might remember, *“ and with that amount of consolation we had to
settle down for the night ”.

They were now at an altitude of about 15,000 feet, and at sunset
“one could almost see the cold stealing over the mountains—a cold
grey creeps over them, and the running streams become coated with
ice. . . . In the morning they are frozen solid.” The day’s march
had been exhausting both for men and beasts, but they had found a
place where there was scrub enough for fuel. They gathered round
a blazing fire and hungrily consulted the contents of the cooking-pot.

Then tongues began to wag. Wali tried to rake up his
memories of twenty-five years before. He was sure there was
a gap in the barrier somewhere : but whether to the right or
left he could not remember. Turgan discussed the chances of
a band of Kanjuti raiders coming upon us, for we were right
on the track they followed. Mohamed Esa told stories of the
Karakoram. Good old Shukar Ali would corroborate each point
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with his cheerful jolly laugh. And Liu-san would smile and
chuckle away and put in a word or two in broken pidgin-English
to show he was well satisfied with life.

Years afterwards, when he was Resident in Kashmir, they came to
see him, these men, and laughed delightedly and stooped and kissed
his feet, when what he wanted was to take them in his arms and hug
them.

When darkness fell they betook themselves and their beddings from
the places where they had ostentatiously left them to mislead any
prowling Kanjutis who might have been watching, and hurried off

behind the rocks.

Tired as I was, I was too excited to sleep at once. And lying
on the ground in my nice warm bag, with my staunch com-
panions about me, and the phantom, fairy mountains round me,
and the steel-blue sky with all its glittering stars above, I thought
to myself this—this is really living. Now I really am alive.
Now I am doing something worth doing. Deep ‘inner satis-
faction came upon me. And gradually I sank off to sleep.

He had never doubted for a moment that Wali would find a way
somehow, and with the morning his confidence was justified. When
close under the barrier a wide valley opened sharply to the left; it
rose in undulations to the skyline ; Wali recognized it at once, and
said that beyond it lay the Pass. Younghusband, unable to restrain
himself, walked on rapidly ahead breasting the rises one by one, but
at 16,000 feet fast walking is impossible : ““ My pace began to slacken
just when I was wanting it to increase.” The summit seemed posi-
tively to recede, but when at last he reached what must be the last
rise, * I braced myself for a final effort and literally ran up it . And
there before him lay the “ other side .

Before me rose tier after ticr of stately mountains, among tl'le
highest in the world—peaks of untainted snow, whose summits
reached to heights of 25,000, 26,000 and, in one supreme case,
28,000 feet above sea-level—across a deep rock-bound valley,
and away in the distance, filling up the head of this, was a vast
glacier, the outpouring of the mountain masses which gave it
birth. . . . How strange it seemed that so few men should
ever see this grandeur ! Century after century, for thpussmds
and thousands, perhaps millions of years, those mountains have
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stood there in all their radiant glory. But how wasted was it,
with no human eyes to see it ! And perhaps it is because of
this that we, who have been privileged to sec such sights, have
a peculiar longing in us to communicate to our fellows some-

thing of the glory we have known.

Breathless in more senses than one, he lay on the ground and
gazed until the very spirit of those distant mountains, so unearthly and
yet of the stuff of earth, seemed to pass into his own, bracing and
stiffening him in every faculty and fibre of his being for the task ahead.
The splendour of that transcendent purity, though beyond human
attainment, was not beyond human aspiration; the capacity of
response was there, and the glistening snows evoked it : the Beyond
which is also the Within. But indeed the task at first sight seemed
insuperable. The glacier stretched up and away before him to a
distance of apparently 25 miles to the summit of the Mustagh Pass :
but the immediate problem was how to descend the steep declivity
below him (from this, the minor summit of the Aghil Pass) to reach
the Oprang River which lapped round the bases of the glacier itsclf.
It would be a matter of fighting one’s way with every step to get
within even striking distance of the most formidable obstacle of all.

Within an hour the caravan arrived. Slowly and cautiously they
began the descent, to be brought to a standstill by a sheer cliff that
dropped 200 feet to the river’s edge. But Younghusband had noticed
some tracks of kyang (wild asses) higher up—certain evidence of their
passage down to the river to drink ; where asses could go, men and
ponies could. Retracing their steps and unloading the ponies, they
followed these precarious tracks—one man leading each pony and two
men holding on to its tail—and thus after great labour negotiated the
descent.  Following the course of the river for a mile they found a
patch of scrub where they could camp. Continuing next day they
reached its junction with another river (called by the Baltis the Sarpo
Laggo) and, following it upstream to reach another patch of scrub
(their last), they turned left-handed round a sudden bend—and Young-
husband found himsclf at the very base of a Himalayan giant which
the defile had hidden. It was nonc other than K.a.

It made me literally gasp. My whole being seemed to come
to a standstill, and then to go rushing out in a kind of joyous
wonder. The sight of that tremendous mountain, so massive,
firm, and strong, so lofty and so dazzlingly pure, left an impression
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which has lasted through life. For some time I stood aj)art,

absorbed in contemplation of this wonder. Then we marched on.

From now on “ our real difficulties began. The very prospect at
first glance was appalling enough. To take a caravan of ponies up a
glacier like this seemed to me an utter impossibility.”  Wali thought
so too, for the simple and sufficient reason that when he went this
way 25 years before no glacier was there. A river of ice now filled
up what had been an open valley. Enormous boulders at its base
now resolved themselves into mounds of ice thinly coated with frag-
ments of moraine—the debris of the glacier. Younghusband decided
upon sending the ponies back by the Karakoram Pass and going on
himself with two men to the Mustagh Pass. This in itself would have
been to incur great risk, as well as delay, and provisions were running
short. But while deliberating, he turned to find that his men were
already gallantly leading the ponies up the ice. Heaving and hauling
and sometimes almost lifting them along they made some way, “ but
the ponies would slip and fall and cut their knees and hocks about in
a way which distressed me much. I did not see how this sort of
thing could last.”” He called a halt for the day and went on with two
men to reconnoitre. Luck held. They found a narrow stretch of
ground between the glacier and the mountainside, marked it, and
returned to bivouac after dark. But next day, only a mile beyond
the passage they had found, another stream of ice blocked further
progress. ° My last remaining pair of boots were quite worn out,
and my fect so sore from bruises that I could scarcely bear to put them
to the ground.” So he stayed with the ponies and sent two men to
prospect. They returned after some time and said they could find no
possible way, but they begged the sahib to have a try ; peradventure
by his igbal (good luck) he might find one. Accordingly with a
couple of men he retraced his steps along the glacier edge, and found
a way which led up to the middle of it, and in which lay a long stretch
of medial moraine, leading up to a névé of smooth snow at the head
of the glacier. Here the ice itself was clear of debris; it was a vast
river of pure white ice hemmed in by snowy mountains, *“ and down
their sides rolled the lesser glaciers, like clotted cream pouring over the
lip of a cream-jug.” Having ascertained this beyond a doubt they
returned ; but darkness fell ; they nearly lost their way and for a
time *“ we had a dreadful fear ™’ ; but at last they hit off their party,
had a warm meal and turncd in exhausted.
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They were now within a day’s march of the head of the glacier, if
all went well. There were two passes, known as the Mustagh, which
crossed the range. That to the east (to their left) was the Old Pass
and was formerly in use, but the advance of ice had made it too
difficult, and a New Pass had been discovered ten miles to the west.
No European hitherto had crossed either of them, though a British
officer had in 1862 reached the southern foot of the New Pass. It
seemed the more promising of the two, so Younghusband sent two
men on next morning to report on its practicability. The rest of the
party proceeded without serious difficulty up the moraine to the head
of the glacier. At dusk the two men returned to say that a route up
to the New Pass was impossible for ponies and would be difficult even
for men. The plan they suggested was to leave the ponies behind
with a few men, cross the Old Pass, push on to Askoli, and send back
supplies from there to enable the pony-party to return and make for
Shahidula, 180 miles distant, and thence to cross by the Karakoram
Pass to Leh. “ This was evidently all we could do.” They had an
anxious conference that night as they sat round their small fire and
ate their rice and mutton hot from the cooking-pot.

Wali was grave, but determined. He had undertaken to
see me through. And see me through he would. Mohamed
Esa and Shuker Ali were cheerful and ready, but did not realize
what they might be in for. Liu-san was as imperturbable as
ever. We had together overcome a good many obstacles, and
he supposed we should overcome this one. As for myself, I
simply took it for granted we should get over. The thought
of failure never crossed my mind.  Quite unconsciously I counted
on my capacity to meet and overcome the difficulties as they
arose. A man can do a great deal more when a crisis is on him
than he can calculate on in cold blood. And that is why I so
firmly disbelieve in cold calculations. . . . All the same I felt
graver that night than I did at the foot of the Aghil range. The
difficultics were undoubtedly greater than I had expected. The
severc cxertions of the last few days and the altitude (about
18,000 feet) were beginning to tell. And we had to economize
fuel ; we had only enough to cook by.  The cold was also greater.
As we laid ourselves down upon the glacicr the cold seemed to
come strecaming down from the icy peaks, and to take a grip
on us and all about us. Not a breath of air was stirring ; all
was absolutely still. But the cold itself appeared to be in motion
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and gripping tighter all it touched, till we had covered ourselves
cosily up for the night. Though then, with our bodies warm
and in reposc, came the great peace of the stars, which glistened
so steadfastly on us as we slept on the face of the glacier.

Next morning, September 28th, Wali roused the party while it was
still dark.  After a breakfast of hot tea and bread they divided forces.
The ponies, with nearly all the baggage, were left in charge of Liu-san
and the older men. The Mustagh Pass party, numbering six, took
with them a roll of bedding, sheepskin coats for each man, dough
biscuits and tea sufficient for three days, a tea-kettle and a bottle of
brandy—the whole forming one load. The ascent to the Pass was
easy but trying, for the névé snow was soft and the altitude nearly
19,000 feet. “ We could only take a dozen or twenty steps at a time,
and would then bend over on our sticks and pant as if we had been
running hard uphill” At noon, after six hours’ trudging, they
reached the summit. Then came the shock. There was nothing
below them but an almost sheer precipice of ice. The only possible
chance was to traverse a very steep ice-slope on to a jutting cliff of
rock, but as Younghusband looked down at this he shuddered. Even
to experienced mountaineers properly equipped with ice-axes and
alpine ropes and, more than all, propetly shod, the descent of such a
place would be 2 hazard. But to men with none of these things the
attempt seemed madness. So Younghusband thought—but he did
not say so. So his men thought too—but they did not say so either.

Had the decision rested with me alone, the probability is we
should never have got over the pass at all. What, however,
saved our party was my holding my tongue. I kept quite silent
as I looked over the pass, and waited to hear what the men had
to say about it. They meanwhile were looking at me and,
imagining that an Englishman never went back from an enterprise
he had once started on, took it as a matter of course that, as [
gave no order to go back, I meant to go on. . . . The incentive
to risk it was tremendous. And at the back of all was the con-
fidence that somehow or other the thing would be done.

So Wali and I looked at cach other, and without saying a word
he commenced making preparations for the descent. No order
by me was given. No order from me was asked. We were all
of us men who meant business, and we proceeded to our business.

The transport problem was solved by the simple method of hurling
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their one load of baggage over the precipice. Younghusband tied
handkerchiefs round the insteps of what was left of his soft leather
boots, and the men tied strips of leather and cloth round theirs. Wali
led on with the pick-axe, and the rope round his waist ; the others
holding it followed in this order: Younghusband, Shukar Alj,
Turgan, another Balti, and Mohamed Esa. (The rope at this stage
was actually not only useless but a danger, for if one of them had
slipped the others could never have held him without the anchorage
of an ice-axe.) The noonday sun beating on the face of the ice-slope
melted the steps which Wali cut and made them dangerously slippery ;
their soft footwear became moist and slimy.

Outwardly I kept as cool and cheerful as I could, but inwardly
I shuddered at each fresh step I took. I was in a state of cold,
horrible fear, which was not lessened by Turgan kicking frag-
ments of ice from the slope to watch them hop down and dis-
appear over the edge into the abyss. But I was made still worse
by Mohamed Esa from the end of the rope saying he could face
it no longer and must go back. Ihad looked to him next to
Wali as my great stand-by, and up to now he had been most
dependable. But he was shaking so with fear that he was almost
a danger to us. So I told him to go back and look after the
ponics.

By a miracle the slope was crossed at last without mishap, and they
crouched on the ledge of rock above the cliff. This was for the time
a relief ; but the prospect of descending the rock-face was even more
appalling than the traverse of the ice-slope.

Poor Mohamed Esa had summoned up courage to come across
the ice-slope after all and join us on the precipice. But only
for a few steps. Then he utterly collapsed. He said he could
not stand it any longer, and salaaming profuscly to me, a little
way down by now, said he really must go back. This was for
me the very tensest moment of all.  But I dared not show m
feclings. And I braced myself up with the thought of what
other men had done in perhaps tighter places.

But Wali scemed now more in his element. He did not
mind the rocks so much as the ice, and he proceeded to lead the
way down, discarding the rope, which I too was thankful to
have donc with.  The dreadful part was that we had to lct our-
sclves down, step by stcp, on to rocks which were by no means
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secure. We had neither firm foot-hold nor firm hand-hold, All
we generally found was a little ledge, upon which we could grip
with the tips of the fingers or side of the foot. The men were
most good to me, whenever possible guiding my foot into some
secure hold, and often supporting it there with their hands ; but
at times it was all I could do to summon sufficient courage to
let myself down on to the veriest little crevices which had to
support me. There was constant dread, too, that fragments of
these ledges might give way ; for the rock was very crumbly,
as it generally is when exposed to severe frosts, and once I heard
a shout from above, as a huge piece of rock which had been
detached came crashing past me, and as nearly as possible hit
two of the men who had already got halfway down. . . . With
great trepidation I would lower my foot, feeling for some firm
hold ; but now and then, as I gradually let my weight come
on it, it would give way. And even when I had found firm
foot-hold, I feared to let my hand go. One slip of hand or foot
and all was over.

He called to mind descriptions and pictures of members of the
Alpine Club in tight places; and of men hunting markhor and ibex
on high crags ; and of his own lessons in rough-riding on the drill-
ground in the K.D.G.”s—" and between them all they managed to
make me present a decent appearance before these Himalayan men I
had with me”.

As if by another miracle they reached a position where the rock-face
endcd and another ice-slope began. Protruding through this slope were
three solid pieces of rock which, if they could be reached, would serve
as successive halting places. Knotting together every scrap of rope,
together with all the men’s turbans and waist-bands, they tied one
end of it round Shukar Ali’s waist and lowered him slowly down to
the rock, he cutting steps in the ice-slope at regular intervals. Young-
husband followed, and then Wali. Then came the Balti native. ““ He
slipped, fcll over on his back, and came sliding down the slope at a
frightful pace. Luckily he managed to keep hold of the rope with
onc hand, but when he reached the rock his hand was almost bared
of skin. Wali, however, gave him a sound rating for being so care-
less, and on the next stage made him do all the hardest part pf the
work.” Last came Turgan, whom Wali had selected for this, the
most dangerous picce of work, as a punishment for his foolery on
the first ice-slope. He was, however, next to Wali himself, the
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toughest man of the party. As last man, he was obliged to unfasten
the rope from its anchorage above him and come down with the aid
of the cut steps alone ; the others, standing on the rock below him,
hauled in the slack of the rope so that, if he fell, they could check his
fall at the shortest possible point and haul him to safety. Luckily he
made the descent without this necessity, and the whole party now
assembled on the first of the island rocks. In similar fashion they
descended to the next, and then to the next, without accident, and
finally at sunset reached the glacier at the other side of the Mustagh
Pass. ‘‘ Those moments when I stood at the foot of the pass are long
to be remembered . . . but such feelings as were mine cannot be

described.”

The moon was nearly full, the sky without a cloud, and in the
amphitheatre of snowy mountains and among the icy séracs of
the glacier not one speck of anything but the purest white was
visible. The air at these altitudes, away from dust and with
no misty vapour in it, was absolutely clear, and the soft silvery
rays of the moon struck down upon the glistening mountains
in unsullicd radiance. The whole effect was of some enchanting
fairy scene; and the sternness of the mountains was slowly
softened down till lost, and their beauty in its purcst form alone
remained.

With tension of nerves and strain upon muscles thus suddenly
relaxed, their relicf was enormous; and, having picked up their
bundle of food and clothing at the foot of the Pass, they were wending
their way *“in a drcamy, careless fashion” down the glacier when
Younghusband happened to turn and look back. The last man, the
Balti native, was not there.  Hurriedly retracing their steps they found
that the poor fellow had fallen into a crevasse, the mouth of which
had been covered by a snow-bridge which had collapsed under his
weight with the baggage. Happily it was not wide and he was
wedged into its sides by the load which he had been carrying, and
had dropped no morc than 15 feet. Letting down a rope they hauled
him to safcty, unhurt. They now roped up together, as they should
have donc at first ; and Younghusband kept in rear, with the baggage-
carricr in front of him. As they closed up for a temporary halt, he
detected a smell of brandy, and found that a bottle of this cordial which
Lady Walsham had given him in Pekin was broken inside the bedding

~—just at the moment when they all necded it most. At cleven o’clock
S.F.Y. G
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that night, having been constantly on the move since before sunrise,
they came upon a little patch of ground clear of snow, though without
a vestige of scrub ; and breaking a couple of alpenstocks they made
a diminutive fire, sufficient to boil water for tea, and with this and
some native biscuits to satisfy their hunger they huddled together for
the night. “ We lay down and slept as if nothing could ever wake us
again. .

Rising at daybreak with no hot drink and nothing but biscuits to
eat, they reached at ten o’clock the remnants of a hut which had been
in use when this route was open years before ; here they made their
first good fire, ate a fairly substantial meal, rested for an hour, and
pushed on till they reached the edge of the Baltoro Glacier. This,
which was since explored by Sir Martin Conway’s and the Duke of
the Abruzzi’s expeditions, is one of the greatest glaciers in the world.

Fascinating though it would have been to have wandered
among these mountain giants, in a region unsurpassed for sub-
limity and grandeur by any in the world, I could only now
think of reaching an inhabited spot again as rapidly as possible. . ...

This and the two following days were agony to me, for my
native boots were now worn through, and I had to hobble along
on my toes or heels to keep the balls of my feet from the sharp
stones and rocky débris of the glacier. On account of this tender-
ness of my feet I was always slipping too, falling and bruising
my elbows, or cutting my hands in trying to save mysclf.

At sunset thcy came upon a little clump of fir-trees on the mountain-
side and madc a big fire ; ““ and if only we could have had more to
cat we would have been perfectly happy . Next day they reached
the end of the glacier (now well below 12,000 fect), but from it
flowed a rapid waist-dcep stream of water laden with floating blocks
of ice.

It was an unpleasant prospect, and when the faithful, ever-
ready Shukar Ali offered to carry me over on his back I could
not help accepting. He sturdily faced the stream. But unfor-
tunately it had an icy bottom. He slipped in midstream and fell
backward in the water with me under him ; and in his struggle
to right himself he kept pressing me down. I was very ncarly
drowned, but both of us eventually managed to struggle to our
feet and make our way to the opposite bank. Soaked to the
skin in the icy water I felt completely numbed. The only thing
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to do was to walk on hard till we could find some shelter. When
we came to a cave I took off my clothes—the only clothes I had
—and got into my sleeping-bag while they were hung for an
hour in the sun to dry. Poor Shukar Ali and the men had not
even that comfort. But in some fashion or other they managed
to get themselves fairly dry, and then we trudged on again.

He must have been very tough—this young Englishman—both in
physique and in morale to weather these conditions. Even to his
older, hardier Himalayan companions, well used to hardship and
privations, they were severe enough. And their tribulations were by
no means over. That night they slept together in a cave in a narrow
rock-bound valley. Next day, after a long and very painful march,
they reached the village of Askoli. “Never did I think we were
going to reach that spot. By midday we saw its green fields and
trees in the distance ; but I could only get along very slowly, for the
going was rough and stony and my feet werc terribly sore. At last,
however, at four o’clock, we did reach it.” It was an unspeakably
dirty little village, and their reception was not friendly. The privacy
of the villagers had been violated by these strangers, and that too from
the very direction whence the dreaded Hunza raiders might come ;
Wali had brought them here ; he was a traitor and should be killed.
Wali’s own view was that, but for the presence of an Englishman, they
would indeed have killed him ; and both he and the Balti native kept
very close to Younghusband during their stay there. The suspicious
villagers were persuaded, though with great difficulty, to send supplies
back to the men and ponies on the far side of the Mustagh Pass ; and
the following day a party was dispatched, equipped with ropes and
long poles. They succeeded in their mission, though threc men were
badly injured in doing so.

Younghusband’s next decision shows the spirit of the born explorer.
Only a few hours previously he had written: “T could only now
think of reaching an inhabited spot again as rapidly as possible.”
True, he had reached one, such as it was; and now he was almost
within sight of all the comforts of civilization. He was weary, foot-
sore, and unwell ; just a few marches more and all these trials would
be over ; and yet, when so near the end of his long journey, he
deliberately turned back to finish the job to his own satisfaction,

I would now willingly have had a rest, but, though I could not
start on the day following our arrival, for I was seriously unwell
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from having, in the excess of my hunger, caten too much of
the messy greasy dishes the inhabitants had provided for me,
on the day after I set out to try the other Mustagh Pass—what
is called the New Mustagh Pass. I could not feel completely
satisfied in my mind about it till I had seen with my own eyes
that the route by the west was as impracticable as the men had
reported. It was depressing, just as I had reached the first village
on the Indian side, to have to turn my back on India: but I
did not like to leave this Pass untried, and with Wali and a party
of men from Askoli we set out to explore it.

It was a going backwards—not onwards. “I could not get my
heart into that little backward trip.” And his men were no more
enthusiastic about it than he was. These Balti natives were in dread
of the mountains, and on the first evening desired to sacrifice a bullock
to the tutelary god of one of them, and prayed and salaamed to it.
“ As they subsequently ate the bullock, and as I paid for it, this little
ceremony was doubtless very helpful to them. Their spirits rose
visibly as more and more of the animal disappeared down their
throats.” But on the third day the party reached an impasse : they
found themselves completely ‘ cornered ’ between the Punmah Glacier
and the ice-torrent of the New Mustagh Pass. *‘ At this point there
had evidently been an immense ice-slip on to the glacier, and gigantic
blocks of ice were tumbled about in a way that made it perfectly
impossible to get any footing at all. . . . All I wanted to make sure
of was that there was no feasible trade route or military route by this
way, which I would have overlooked had I not gone thus far.”

On the day after their return to Askoli the relief-party also returned
with the news that they had succeeded in reaching the pony-party,
which had started off safely round the Karakoram Pass to Leh.  Satis-
fied on this point Younghusband set out on October 14th by double
marches for Kashmir. Just beyond the village a rope-bridge spanned
a deep and narrow chasm over the Baltoro River. It was compacte
of three thick ropes plaited with birch-twigs : one below for the feet
and two each side for the hands.  Like all such constructions of course,
it swings and sways unpleasantly to the tread ; and this, combined
with the swirl of the water down below, is certainly somewhat
discomposing.

But I was astonished to find that Wali, the man who had crossed
the Mustagh Pass without the slightest sign of nervousness, and
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certainly without any hesitation, absolutely refused at first to
cross this bridge. To me it seemed such a paltry thing, after
what we had so recently gone through, and with two ropes to
hang on by there seemed no danger at all ; but Wali shivered
and shook, and could only be induced to come over when he
had two men to support him. But once he was over he lighted
up more cheerily than I had yet seen him, and let the men chaff
him to the full and give back to him all that he had given them
on the Pass. This is one of the most remarkable instances I have
met with of a man, who had no fear when faced by one form of
danger, being totally taken aback when faced by another.?

He was now shortly to take leave of those five Balti followers who
had served him so well and faithfully over the Mustagh Pass and each
side of it. Of the Baltis in general he writes :

They are a patient, docile, good-natured race, whom one
hardly respects, but whom one cannot help liking in a compas-
sionate way. . . . But there are some for whom I have borne
respect because of their intense devotion to what they believed
to be their duty. . . . And for Wali I entertain a regard such
as I do for few other men.

I picture him now as he was first brought before me in Yarkand
—a short, thick-set man, with an iron-grey beard, a prominent,
rather hooked nose, and an expression of determination and
proud indiffcrence to danger about his chin and underlip. . . .
No one could have more loyally carried out his compact, and
but for him we should never have crossed the Mustagh Pass.
Hc went to work in a steady, self-reliant way which gave every-
one confidence, and all the men looked up to him and obeyed
him implicitly. The more I sec of men like him the more
convinced I am that if once these Baltis are given responsibility,
shown trust, and left to work out their own salvation, they may
devclop latent qualitics which probably neither they nor anybody
elsc believed to be in them.

1 As another instance of the samc apparent anomaly he noticed the case of
Mohamed Esa, who “ could endurc cold and blizzards and privation better
than any man I mct in the Himalaya, and cover longer distances. Where he
would have failed, and where I never tried him, was where courage rather than
cndurance was required. Hc would stand up against nature, but he quailed
before his fellow-men.  He would run no risks from the raiders on the Yarkand
road. And when fighting commenced in Tibct he unostentatiously withdrew
to where he would be least likely to be noticed cither by friend or foe.”
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As for Turgan, the released slave—* he was a wild-looking char-

acter, but the hardest-working man I have known ™.

Now that he had regained his freedom, was being liberally
paid, and was on his way home, he did not mind how much
work he did, and all through the march from Yarkand he behaved
splendidly. 'We passed by his native village as we were marching
through Baltistan, and left him there. But the next day he
caught us up, carrying an immense load of fruit and provision
for a big dinner for the men. He had brought all this twelve
miles, and he came and kissed my hands and feet, and said he
could not allow us to go away without showing how grateful

he felt.

The companionship of these men, who by any standard of civiliza-
tion, east or west, would be considered primitive, had meant much
to him ; and after so many hardships shared together he felt his parting
from them as a genuine wrench.  Once out of the precipitous Braldo
valley and into the open Shigar Valley with its fruitful vines and apricots
and walnuts they proceeded merrily along. *‘ Shukar Ali especially
was in great form, and the very broadest smile never left his face from
the first thing in the morning till the last thing at night.”” They
reached Shigar on October 17th and here Younghusband waited three
days for the arrival of money to pay the Baltis of Askoli for supplies
and services. It was his first point of communication with the outside
world, and here he was entertained by a Hindu clerk who had a turn
for music.

I am no musician myself, but I was fascinated by watching
this man—watching his soul coming out, and sceing quite
clearly to what it was aspiring. 1 have no recollection whatever
of what he was like. But his playing I remember as one of the
occasions on which I have best seen into the soul of India. Intense
yearning was the keynote. Of sweetness there was none. It
was an impassioned longing for a higher spiritual state other _:111d
better than the present.  He did not give the impression of joy.
Rather he seemed to be consumed by the fire within him.

Not that I did not really much prefer my good and faithful
Wali, Shukar Ali, and Turgan, but there are certain refinements
of civilization which one misscs greatly when onc does not have
them.

He was now longing for nothing so much as for his first contact
with a fcllow-countryman. The Kashmir Governor of Ladak, who
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had telegraphed to him the needful money, got up a game of polo on
his behalf and gave him a sumptuous Indian dinner. “He was a
high-caste native of Kashmir, of the true old-fashioned type, exquisitely
clean in his dress and habits, and with remarkable composure and
grace of manner. Centuries of strict and rigid training have gone to
make a man like that—against whom the ordinary Englishman looks
rude and uncouth.” After a couple of marches—now on a pony—
beyond Skardu, he encountered the first European south of the
Himalayas, who, though he spoke fluent English, proved to be a
Frenchman. A few marches further, and he met another European—
this time a Russian : he was, in fact, the original of the Russian in
Kipling’s “ Kim . Asked where he had come from, he replied, from
Kashmir. Younghusband, in reply to the same inquiry, said that he
had come from Pekin. It much amused me, therefore, when on
leaving he said in a theatrical way, © We part here, the pioneers of the
East !’ He turned out afterwards to be a regular adventurer—in the
worst sense of that noble word.”

Next day he crossed the last pass—the Zoji-la—11,000 feet, but easy
of approach from the north. It forms a barrier to the monsoon winds
that beat up from the Arabian Sea. Hence there is little rainfall to
the north ; and the region through which he had been travelling is
barren and austere, with bare sun-baked rocks ; but to the south, over
which he now looked, the mountain-sides were dense with forest.
“ Warm human life seemed to come into me once more. Life seemed
extraordinarily easy and pleasant. I was in a wholly different atmo-
sphere.””  Arrived at Srinagar, clad in a Yarkand sheepskin coat and
belt and shod with long native boots, his face blackened by exposure
and roughly bearded, he was addressed by the people of the place as a
Yarkandi. He rushed off to a barber’s shop for a haircut and a shave
and a good wash, and then to a merchant’s for a clean shirt and a
knickerbocker suit. “ When I had expended nearly two hours upon
these preparations for my plunge into civilization, I went to see the
political agent, Captain Ramsey. It was very trying thercfore when
he, almost immediately after shaking hands, said, * Wouldn’t you like
a wash?’  This was the first of the many shocks I had on returning
to civilization.” Another, more agreeable, was a telegram of con-
gratulations from the Commander-in-Chief, Sir Frederick Roberts,
and a very kind letter from General Chapman, then Q.M.G. in India,
together with a box of cigars.
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I was anxious to accomplish my task in precisely the seven
months which I had said at Pekin would be the time necessary
for it. So I pushed on, and after arriving at Barmula by boat
on November 2nd at 7 p.m., had dinner, rested for a while, and
then at midnight walked the first march of twelve miles; then
got into an ekka (native cart) which conveyed me three marches
down the newly-constructed road. Then I rode another ten
miles uphill towards Murree, and arrived at a dak bungalow at
sunset. Here I rested, and at 3 a.m. started again, marching the
remaining ten miles to Murree on foot.

It was his birthplace and he had not seen it since he was six years
old, but it is evident that he had no time for sentimental reminiscences,
since ““ from there I took a tonga and drove rapidly down the hill the
last thirty-nine miles into Rawal Pindi”’. No one was in the Mess,
so e went on to the regimental lines.  “ There I met the post-corporal
riding round with the letters, so I asked if he had any letters for me.
 What name, sir ?"—* Younghusband. Don’t you know me ?” (for
the corporal was in my troop). He replied, ‘I beg your pardon, sir,
but you looked so black.””



Chapter IX

HOME LEAVE AND FUTURE PLANS

INDING no one about, Younghusband went to his bungalow,

changed into regimental kit, and returned to the Mess to be

welcomed first by his Colonel (a new one) who had received

a telegram from Sir Frederick Roberts (now C.-in-C.) con-
gratulating the regiment on the achievement of such a feat by one
of its officers, and then by his brother-subalterns who opined that
“it was about time I turned to and did some work !”

By dinner-time I was arrayed once more in my scarlet and
gold mess-jacket and waistcoat, and seated with about twenty
other equally brilliantly apparelled gentlemen, all talking hard
and loua, and eating course after course at a table covered with
silver plate. I had been up at three that morning and at mid-
night the day before. I felt in a sort of maze. And the variety
of the food, in comparison with the simple fare I had had for
seven months past, almost made me ill. For some weeks after
I came back these mess dinners were a positive nightmare to me,
and often I would have to go for a long walk round the canton-
ment to work off the effects of noise and overeating combined.

Two days later he was called to Simla to write his preliminary
report for Colonel Bell. “ He was an undemonstrative man. He
scemed to take it for granted that I would get through, and did not
say much more than that he was glad. But he was evidently satisfied
with my performance, and that was all I cared for.” 2

1 A brief summary of Younghusband’s rcport is contained in his book The
Light of Experience (1927), and is as follows : *‘ In Manchuria and along the coast
there was great military activity ; additional troops were being raised and
drilled, forts on modern lines were being constructed and armed with Krupp
guns, arsenals were being built, telegraph lines were being laid, and even a
railway was being made to Tientsin.  But these preparations lost nearly all their
value because of the corruption of the officials and the general military inefficiency
of the Chinese nation. They were quite unable to assume an offensive against
the Russians, and in Turkestan would not even be able to hold their own ; the
Russians would have little trouble in conquering the whole of Turkestan.—I
had no opinion of China as an ally against Russia ; but I considered that we

93
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Having finished his report in ten days he rejoined his regiment
on the march to another camp of exercise.

How I got through the manceuvres I do not know, for I had
forgotten nearly all my drill. However, a troop-sergeant-major
is a very useful person, and mine saw me through many a nasty
turn. And at the end my squadron-leader gave me one crumb
of comfort; he said I was damned bad at drill, but he would
rather have me on active service than anyone else in the regiment.
So after all, my travels cannot have been so very detrimental to
my soldiering—if active service is what regiments are intended for.

In mid-December Liu-san arrived at Rawal Pindi with the ponies.
He was ill on arrival from exposure in the mountains. Nothing
is more characteristic of Younghusband than his solicitude for the
welfare of his faithful retainers, and there were few to whom he

felt more kindly than to this simple Chinaman who had accompanied
him across a continent.

He must have been the first Chinaman, for at any rate many
hundreds of years, who had travelled from Pekin to India. He
had served me readily, willingly and efficiently in every kind of
capacity—valet, table servant, cook, groom, transport agent,
diplomatist—and he never grumbled. I have no doubt he made
money out of me. That I allowed for. But he cannot have
made much, for on the whole journey from Pekin I spent less
than four hundred pounds. _

He was suffering from pleurisy, but soon recovered in the
warmer air of the plains of India, and became his busy, intelligent,
cheery self again. When he was recovered I took him to the
railway station. He had never seen a train before, and when it
was drawing up at the platform he exclaimed: ‘Hai ya!
Here's a whole street coming along ! He returned by Calcutta
to Tientsin, his native town and, I heard, rose to affluence after-

ought, for commercial reasons, to interest ourselves in her welfare. The more
she developed her resources, the better it would be for our own trade.
“The sequel we all know. A few years later Japan easily beat China, o
militarily inefficient was the latter. Russia constructed the Trans-Siberian
Railway, then seized Port Arthur in the south of Manchuria, and ran a branch
line down to it. Then she fell foul of Japan, and was driven from Port Arthur,
And this same General Kuropatkin who had so feared the Chinese was beaten
by the Japanese. As to the Chinese, they looked helplessly on while forelgI;
powers fought on Manchurian soil. And soon her whole system of .I.mperu:j
Government fell, and a Republic was set up. But there is not yct stability, an¢
the whole country is now embroiled in civil war and infested with brigands.
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wards as a kind of courier for European travellers. I hope he is

now enjoying a happy old age.

The next event of importance was the arrival of Sir Frederick
Roberts to dine in the Mess. Immediately on entering the tent he
asked for Mr. Younghusband, whom he put at ease at once by the
directness, simplicity, and friendliness of his manner. This mark
of attention by the Commander-in-Chief in India to so junior an
officer raised him in the estimation of his fellow-subalterns as nothing
else could have done. Younghusband’s own opinion of the person-
ality of Lord Roberts, made then and subsequently, is worth recording.

He gave me the impression that he attached importance to
my journey, and this naturally pleased me. But he did more.
He showed me that he had what can best be described as a fellow-
fecling for me. He seemed to understand that I must have had
some pretty stiff obstacles to surmount, but to assume that as a
matter of course I would get through. He himself gave the
impression that even though there were terrible difficulties straight
before his eyes he would walk through them as if they did not
exist. And he had that wonderful buoyant way of carrying
you along with him and lifting you up—making you feel that all
things were possible. It is difficult to strike the right mean be-
tween dryly accepting a good performance as if it were a matter
of course—between that, and showing due appreciation of what
it means. But Sir Frederick Roberts did this.

He was a man of intense vitality, and interest in things and
men—especially men. He had great intuitive powers and could
instantly size up a situation. He had the capacity of endearing
himself to the men under his command, and interested himself
personally in their careers and affairs. When later I stayed with
him in his home the conversation at breakfast was mostly about
the personal columns in the ‘ Times’—the family events of
friends and acquaintances.

It was at onc time assumed that Kitchener would not serve
under Roberts, but this was a mistake. Kitchener was certainly
the morce masterful man of the two, but he admired Roberts and
recognized his supcrior intuition.

Sir Frederick Roberts’ interest in this young subaltern soon expressed
itsclf in a practical form. Early in April 1888 he telegraphed to the
Coloncl to grant him threc months’ leave to go home and lecture
on his journey to the Royal Geographical Society. This of course
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was inclusive of the voyage both ways, so that he got no more than
six weeks in England.  He arrived on April 29th to find only his
parents and sisters at home. His elder sister found him “ the same,
though changed ; looking older; and at first more silent and
abstracted than he used to be, but that soon passed off.” This she
attributed to his lonely travels; it was more probably due to the
love that lay locked in his heart, and also to the spiritual awakening,
the original and independent religious outlook, which he could not
share with his home circle.

The family went up to London to hear him deliver his lecture
before the Royal Geographical Society and to be admitted as its
youngest Fellow. “It was”, says his sister, ““ one of the happiest
and certainly the proudest moment of my life—to see him standing
there among all those learned men, so young, handsome, and oblivious
of himself, absorbed in what he was telling them and eager to impart
to them something of the enthusiasm he felt.”” For all that, his own
estimate of his performance—after an introduction to these scientists
—was soberer.

I went back to India feeling positively guilty at the thoughts
of my many sins of omission. Geologists had wanted to know
if 1 had observed the rocks; botanists, if I had collected the
flowers ; glaciologists, if I had observed the motion of the
glaciers ; anthropologists, if I had measured the people’s skul}s;
ethnologists, if I had studied their languages ; cartographers, if I
had mapped the mountains. And to cach I must have appeared
such a miserably ill-equipped and thoughtless traveller, who had
simply thrown away his golden opportunities. It would, indeed,
have been so easy to observe the rocks, collect flowers, measure
men’s heads, and so on—and so very intcresting, too—_and I
would like to have been able to satisfy these men thirsting so
keenly for knowledge. So I returned to India full of good reso-
lutions and decply repentant of my omissions.

His sistcr describes his departure on June 1sth as “ hcartrcnding ",
A perusal of her diary during this period lcaves the reader with the
fecling that her love for her brother, though very decp and truc, was
nevertheless of the possessive kind. But it was evidently she wll_O
now leant on him, rather than he on her. And the tenor of _hlS
home-letters during the past six years reveals a gradual loosening
of that strong psychic bond with his family which usually occurs
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in adolescence. He had found in the interval another centre of affec-
tion. His extraordinarily strong affection and admiration for both
his parents was no whit diminished ; indeed it was strengthened,
because his love had grown more unselfish and also more under-
standing. But mentally and spiritually he must have realized that
he had outgrown them both. Therefore, when the time for parting
came he could write : “‘ This time the wrench was not so agonizing.
I could look forward to a shorter absence, and then a longer leave.
And T was going back full of schemes of what to do. I had more
heart in me, and a fuller purpose.”

He had tried, but unsuccessfully, to communicate to them his own
new-found sense of spiritual values. Inevitably, between the minds
of those whose faith is derived from traditional creeds and observances
and those for whom faith is an original discovery based upon personal
experience, there can be little point of contact. However hard they
try, they cannot feel their way into each others’ minds.

Several factors had conspired to open Frank Younghusband’s eyes
to new and far horizons. He had conversed with Christians of many
different denominations, as well as with adherents both wise and
simple of other faiths. Could one be true and all the rest be false ?
He had consorted with men of the world who professed no faith at
all, and had found them possessed of qualities of character which he
could admire but could not emulate.. He had communed with the
mountains and the stars, those visible embodiments of the loftiest
aspirations. He had nourished his mind in the solitude of the Gobi
Desert on the works of Darwin, that scientist who to the Victorian
traditionalist was the supreme arch-heretic, but who to him was a
prophet and his works a revelation. In Kidd’s Social Evolution he
perceived the application of the same principles to the human situation.
He had caught the inspiration of the great nineteenth-century nature-
poets, Wordsworth especially. Among other favourites at this time
were Scott, Byron, Shelley, and Tennyson. Renan’s Life of Jesus
and Seeley’s Ecce Homo had confirmed him in the belief that the Gospels
should be studied without any preconceived theological interpretation.
But the book that had impressed him most, and most recently, was
Tolstoi’s The Kingdom of God is Within you. Its challenge was to
live the idcal set forth in the Sermon on the Mount literally and
unequivocally : Christian discipleship must be all or nothing. Soon,
however, he came to see that life in the world, though not of the
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world, was more in tune with the spirit of the Christian ethic than
absolute renunciation and other-worldliness, that the right use of
wealth is preferable to the abolition of private property, and the
active overcoming of evil with good nearer to the mind of Christ
than a policy of non-resistance.

Among the traditional tenets of theology he rejected that of original
sin, on the ground that growth from low beginnings to higher is a
condition of life at every phase of creation, and also that the doctrine
as stated is a false interpretation of human freedom. Nor could he
accept the dogma of the unique divinity of Christ, since this involved
a difference in kind between Him and us. Christ was our Elder
Brother, and no half-brother ; the great Example and not the great
Exception ; who claimed no difference of nature or of grace from
the least of His brethren. Perfected humanity within the limits of
history—time and place—was an object worthy of greater reverence
than the manifestation of ready-made divinity. He could not fail
to perceive that the supernatural elements in the Christian tradition
are paralleled by similar accounts of the birth of Buddha, six cen-
turies earlier ; and that doctrines of justification by faith and the
supernatural infusion of grace are common also to salvationist doctrines
both in Mahayana Buddhism and in sects of Vishnuite Hinduism.
These he regarded as incrustations on the simplicity of essential
religious faith. The essence of Christianity was this : that the divine
spirit, which in Christ was a living flame, is latent in all men by virtue
of their being children of the same Father. But this Father was not
an arbitrary disposer of events or of human destinies. He was no
benevolent autocrat of the universe ; He was its nerve centre and
the immanent principle of its harmony. For this reason He is not
to be placated, like a fairy-godmother, by petitionary prayer ; prayer
is the up-welling of His Spirit within us, deep calling to decp. The
idea of God as ‘special Providence’ was repugnant to him; not
passive dependence upon Him for our material needs but active
co-operation with Him in His divine purposes—this was our high
privilege and our scrious responsibility. In this lay the profoul}d
significance of the Life of Christ. But the Incarnation of Chrlft
must not be regarded as the final and complete revelation of God’s
eternal purpose ; in all life—and pre-eminently in the life of the
spirit—nothing is final. The Ideal is like those questions in mathe-
matics which can never be exactly answered : cach figure added to
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the recurting decimal is a nearer approximation to the whole number,
which nevertheless forever eludes attainment. In his own words :

The appearance of Christ on earth he regarded as the most
important fact in human history. No other event had had
anything like so great an influence on the course of the world.

But Christ was plainly a development along the line of
the holy men of God. If He were to be called divine, then some
few other men would have to be also called divine. He had
reached a higher level of being than ordinary men had attained.
And He had manifested a higher quality. But in this He was
rather the forerunner to show the way to other men, than of
a different order of being. And other men might in the course
of time reach that level and display that quality. He could not
be considered a complete manifestation of God, a complete expres-
sion of God’s will and intention, a complete, full and final reve-
lation of God.

These words are taken from his book The Gleam (1923), the title
of which was suggested by Tennyson’s “ Follow the Gleam ™. It
anticipated to some extent the fuller and maturer statement of his
faith contained in The Living Universe (1933). It purports to record a
series of conversations, which he had with a high-caste young Indian
of his own age, named Svabhava, during the intervals of his own
journeys and adventures in early life. The book is prefaced by an
explanation in which he introduces his collocutor to the reader thus :

The man whosc religious experiences I here describe has only
let them be published on the express condition that his former
name should not be known. He is a follower of the Gleam. And
while he is still following it he shuns publicity. When death
will have put a term to his following, then will come the time
for the work of his life to begin. So, in accordance with his
wishes, I have avoided saying anything which would give a clue
to his identity. And if what I have said should enable some few
readers to discover it, I beg of them that they will keep their
discovery to themselves. . . . He docs not consider his special
strivings as in any way cxceptional, but merely as part of the
gencral unfolding of religion in the human race.  Mankind is
still in an immature bud-like stage of spiritual growth and not
yet come to flower, except in a few rare instances.

It is perhaps an illustration of the transparency of Sir Francis®
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character that one reader at least (the present chronicler) had read
but a few pages of The Gleam when he was convinced that the author
of it and its subject, Svabhava, were one and the same person. This
conviction became a certainty when, after Sir Francis’ death, he came
upon the following note among his manuscripts. “In my book
The Gleam Svabhava is myself, that is my ‘real’ self, as distinct
from my ordinary self.”—Among the same papers there occurs this
note for his biographer :

The main motive of my life has been religious. I was born
with a religious disposition, of religious parents. In my youth
my religion was purcly conventional ; accepted on authority.
There was little joy in it. I was to be good and do my duty.

But from 1889 onwards I have made my own religion for
myself and it has brought me intense interest and incommunicable
joy. For more than fifty years I have gone on continually recon-
stituting my religion, forming and reforming it, deepening and
widening it. And I have not wanted to keep it to myself.
I have wanted to tell all others of the discoveries I have made and
the joy I have found. I have wanted to give a religious motive
to the whole world, to give to all men a surer foundation for
their lives, to let them know of the joy that is to be had through
religion and the strength which comes from that joy.

I deliberatcly lived my lifc in the midst of life. My hope
is that my * Life * will therefore be a real help to-others in living
theirs.

He returned to India in a very different frame of mind from that
in which he had entcred it six ycars before. Then it had been an
unknown country ; now he felt himsclf scized of its dominion and
native to its clime. Then he had been self-distrustful ; now he was
confident, cager, and purposcful. What he had set his heart upon in
drcams he had accomplished in actuality, and his achievement had
been recognized. He had tested his powers and found them equal
to circumstance, even beyond his expectations. More than all, .hc
had discovered within himself a spiritual reserve of strength which
was not only the inspiration of high enterprise but also the assurance
of its attainment. He was looking forward now, not backward at
all—“ going ahead . He felt that he had far to go, and was filled
with an inextinguishable ardour to go as far as he knew how. “ The
will to do, the soul to dare.”
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But, as so often happens to the spiritual adventurer, high hopes
were countered at the outset with frustration. After three nights of
suffocating heat in the train in mid-July, during which sleep was
almost impossible, he arrived at Rawal Pindi to be told that he must
ride at once to overtake a detachment of his regiment en route to
Murree, and join them in time for a night-march on foot uphill to
Tret. At Tret he felt “ quite knocked up ” but got some sleep, and
next day marched on to Murree in a terrific thunderstorm, a tem-
pestuous wind, and lastly a deluge of rain. It was the break of the
monsoon—so welcomed in the plains, so dreaded in the hills. That
night officers and men together turned out to secure tents which
threatened to be blown away or swamped. One man died of cholera
whilst his tent was collapsing ; other cases of the disease occurred ;
and soon Younghusband too succumbed to it. * Fortunately the
doctor’s tent was next to mine and he came rushing in as I called
to him, and gave me a strong dose of something which he said would
either kill or cure. . . . Anyway, it cured. And a weck later I was
going about all right.”

Then followed a cold-weather spell of drills and reading for his
captaincy examinations. This was a weariness to the flesh and the
spirit alike. In April of 1889 he was on his way to Simla for a few
days’ leave when he met in the train Mr. Ney Elias, that much-
experienced traveller, the record of whose journeys had never been
published. Among them was his journey across Chinese Turkestan
south of the route which Younghusband had followed, and he was
therefore keenly interested in comparing notes with him. He now
suggested to his young companion that he should undertake a journey
to Tibet. “I thought at once, why not? It had been my original
idea when I made the trip through Kangra and Kulu five years before.
Why not carry it out now ?” There flashed across his mind the
reflection that in Kashmir he had been mistaken for a Yarkandi :
why not go to Lhasa disguised as one? Why not go to Leh, get
trusty Mohamed Esa and good old Shukar Ali to go with him, and
pass himself off as a Yarkandi merchant ?

Arrived at Simla he went straight to the Foreign Office and asked
to sce Sir Mortimer Durand, the Foreign Secretary.

He was amused at my enthusiasm, and listened to my plans ;
but in the end he said that it would not do : he could not give

me leave. This was a blow, but seeing how sympathetic he
S.F.v, H
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was, and feeling instinctively that he was with me all the time,
though officially he had to pour cold water, I hastily concocted
another scheme for entering Tibet, and this time he laughed and
agreed. He said that I was evidently bent on going, so I had
better go, and he agreed to give me five thousand rupees for the
purpose. This was magnificent. Better than I had ever dreamed

of. I hastened back to the regiment and went to the Colonel
to ask for leave.

But there’s many a slip ’twixt cup and lip. He was met with a
clear, straight, and uncompromising refusal. He had been away
from the regiment a great deal too much as it was, and his absence

prevented other officers from getting their leave. “ This was per-
fectly true ; and I had to admit the point and possess my soul in
patience. . . . And I was left in despair to wile away the dreary

hot-weather months in an Indian cantonment, spending hour after
hour in looking out for microscopic atoms of dust on my men'’s
uniforms or saddling, and in watching horses being groomed and
fed and watered.” He was also * passing examinations ”.

Whence cometh this faith in examinations we know not,
But there is the noxious growth ; and as it increases, faith in
men diminishes. Instead of trusting in the lower grades to fit
themselves for the higher, and in the higher to exercise their
judgment in selecting the best from among the lower, this
deadening system of examinations is resorted to. Whatever a
man does outside the examination room counts as nothing in
comparison with what he does inside it. In political life, in
business, and in sport, men are trusted to qualify themselves for
the higher positions, and the leaders arc trusted to make proper
selection among their juniors or followers. But in both the
civil and military administrations examinations have established
their hold, and initiative and self-reliance are strangled in a man.

He had hoped that the Intelligence Department or the QM.G.
would give him some appointment, but none was forthcoming.
Failing that, he had hoped that his regiment would become really in
carncst about training itself for war, but his own zeal for active service
was frowned upon. “ The Colonel had me up in Orderly Room
and told me that I was always going on as if we were preparing for
active service ; but we never went on active service, so what was
the use of preparing for it. 'What we had to do was to prepare to turit
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out smart for parade when some General came round, and in that
way we should get a good name.”—Little wonder that to him such
an idea of soldiering was “ arid and meaningless ’, or that, tantalized
the proximity of the mighty Himalayan ranges, he would often ride by
out from Rawal Pindi to their bases, to give his soul an airing and
dream of journeys among their stainless snows. So passed the months
of May and June; then came reprieve.

I was solemnly passing examinations in Military Law, Forti-
fication, Strategy and Tactics, and preparing to pass on to others,
when relief suddenly came from an unexpected quarter. 1If the
military authorities could find no employment for me, the
political authorities could. At the end of June a telegram was
put into my hands, and this proved to be from the Foreign Office
at Simla, asking me to undertake an exploration on the northern
frontier of Kashmir.

The interview with Sir Mortimer Durand, which seemed abortive,
had borne fruit. He immediately went back to Simla for instructions.



Chapter X

HUNZA AND THE PAMIRS

[

HIS was indeed a sudden change in the wheel of fortune.
It had come round full circle, and up went my spirits to
apparently the topmost height, though they soared even
higher when I saw Sir Mortimer Durand and heard from
him what he wanted me to do.”—He was required to explore all the
Himalayan passes from the north (including one or two that were
unknown) into the State of Hunza (called Kunjat on the Yarkandi
side), and to report on the latest raids by the Kanjuti bandits, with a
view to putting an end to them. He was also to learn what he
could about any Russian activities. He was to choose his own escort
and requisition such equipment as he needed, to proceed first to
Shahidula and from thence to make his own dispositions. Finally
Sir Mortimer insisted thathe was to mention any other request whatever
that might occur to him, and handed him 8,000 rupees for expenses.
Younghusband desired that his party should be of the smallest
and their equipment of the simplest. He suggested six picked men
from a Gurkha regiment—preferably from the sth, then stationed
at Abbotabad—since Gurkhas were experienced hillmen. Instead of
another officer, as was offered, he asked for a trained native surveyor
to assist him in mapping. Forthwith his escort of six—" the stoutest
and sturdiest little men in the regiment ”—were provided with suitable
mountaineering kit, and promised extra rations and extra pay. A sur-
veyor was supplied from the 11th Bengal Lancers in the person of
a sowar named Shahzad Mir, “a grave and serious Pathan, with
his mind thoroughly set on the business in hand ”. The Gurkhas
were despatched ““ with broad grins of satisfaction” in ekkas to
Kashmir : whilst he went round by way of Abbotabad, Kasauli,
and Murree, to complete arrangements and make his farewells. On
July 13th he caught them up and double~marched up the Sind Valley
to the foot of the Zoji-la Pass where he received from Sir Walter and
Lady Lawrence the warmest of welcomes. * Those days were the
very cream of life. Solitude and company, Nature and man, were
delightfully intermingled in exactly the right proportion.”
104
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On July 31st he reached Leh, to be entertained by Captain Ramsey,
now British Resident there ; and to meet the Kirghiz from Shahidula,
Musa, who had brought in the petition for protection from Hunza
raids. Best of all, he was grected on arrival by his old friend Shukar
Ali, who volunteered his services. “ He was a great addition to my
party, for he had already been tested in the hardest ordeals. I could
trust him through and through—except in any fighting—and I knew
he would always be cheery.” So he was appointed cook, not on
account of his knowledge of the culinary art, however, for this was
negligible ; ““ but I knew that he would produce something or other,
whatever the conditions”. Mohamed Esa was unfortunately away
and in his stead a sharp little man named Ramzan was engaged to
take charge of the caravan.

In consultation with Captain Ramsey, the final dispositions were
made and the route from Shahidula (on the far side of the Karakoram
Pass) was planned. With regard to the most vital problem of all,
that of transport of supplies both for men and animals, camels were
taken on Musa’s suggestion, in addition to ponies : the former for
use in crossing rivers, the latter for use upon ice. The construction
of goat-skin rafts for unfordable rivers was another necessity. All
these details—the calculation of time against distance, weight against
means of portage, and much else—were matters involving careful
organization ; in addition, seventeen sepoys from the Leh garrison
who were unused to mountain travel had to be impressed for the
first stage of the journey over the Karakoram Pass. On August 10th
the start was made. The first pass to be crossed was the Khardung,
a steep ascent to a height of 17,600 ft. ; and here both Younghusband
and his havildar, Surabi Tapa, werc stricken with a bout of moun-
tain sickness, but they quickly recovered during the descent the other
side. The rapid Shayok River—a tributary of the Indus—was crossed
in a ferry-boat amid wild excitement, for only by the most strenuous
cfforts could its head be kept to the current. Entering the broad
valley of the Nubra River he encountered a caravan, the first of
the season to cross the ranges from Yarkand. It was led by a Badakshi
from Afghanistan and an Andajani from a province of Russian
Turkestan, and “1 was immediatcly in the thick of Central Asian
politics’. From them hc learned that after the last Kanjuti raid
Turdi Kol, the Kirghiz chief at Shahidula, had gone first to the
Chinese to ask for protection and, on their refusal, had sought British
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aid ; also, which was more intriguing, that a Russian party was at
present in Yarkand and believed to be making for either Tibet or
Leh. Two days later Younghusband heard from a Peshawar merchant
that a considerable party of Russians had entered the Kuen-lun Moun-
tains and were now not far from Shahidula. * The plot was thicken-
ing, and I became still more impatient to reach that place without
preventable delay.”

Beyond the Saser Pass (17,800 feet) he picked up the thirteen camels
awaiting him in charge of a Kirghiz, and pushed on by double marches,
meeting several other caravans from all of which he gleaned some
items of information. One such caravan was again of Andajanis
who were Russian subjects.

They were a masterful, independent set of men who evidently
thought themselves as good as anyone else and better than most.
But they were hospitable all the same, as are the most of these
jolly travelling merchants. And when I strolled over to their
camp from my own, their leader politely asked me in to tea and
would not take my first excuse, but caught me strongly by the
arm and carried me off to his tent, where he produced some excel-
lent tea. Once inside the tent everything was snug and warm
and comfortable. A thick felt was spread on the ground, and a
little carpet gave colour as well as warmth. My host was most
genial and agreeable, and talked much about Turkestan and
India. After I had returned to my camp I sent him over a hand-
some turban of Kashmir shawl material. He immediately put
it on and came to my camp to thank me for it, salaamipg, and
saying it would keep him nice and warm on the cold journey

before him.

The incident is worth quoting as an example, typical of many,
of the friendly relations which Younghusband immediately succeeded
in establishing with men of various races whercver he went.

There followed some dreary marches across the summits of the
bare and desolate Depsang Plains from which, though 17,000 feet
above sea level, the snowy peaks of Saser and Nubra “ appeared
above the horizon like the sails of some huge ships ” ; across it swept
incessant winds of piercing cold ; and gravel, free of snow, was
strewn here and there with the skelctons of pack animals who had
succumbed under their burdens. The Karakoram Pass itsclf, though
nearly 19,000 feet high, is clear of snow; the very name means
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Black Gravel ; snow falls, but thinly and in powdery flakes, quickly
dispersed by the incessant wind. Pressing on beyond it, he covered
36 miles the next day, crossed the Suget Pass, and began the steep
descent to Shahidula. Here all caravans were armed and vigilant,
for this was the most dangerous part of the route. At Suget he
met a native of Bajaur (an independent State beyond the Indian
frontier near Peshawar), whose name was Jan Mohamed. From him
he learned that the Kanjuti raid had taken place at Suget, not Shahidula,
and was given a precise description of its occurrence.

His first appearance did not impress me favourably, for he
had a rather cunning look in his small eyes. But he was quick,
alert, and resourceful ; and I soon found that he meant to be
and could be extremely useful—to his own profit, no doubt,
but also to the advantage of my expedition, which was the main
thing [ cared about. He was, in fact, just one of those adventurous
spirits one used to meet in Central Asia who have to live by their
wits, endure great hardships, and often suffer heavy losses, but
who at times bring off big coups, and in the intervals between
big risks and exertions have a lazy, cheery time in some Central
Asian town.

On August 23rd—having covered 640 miles through the mountains
in six weeks—he arrived in Shahidula, and a deputation headed by
Turdi Kol, the Kirghiz chief, came riding out to meet him. Dignified
in demeanour, careworn in appearance, without a trace either of
arrogance or servility, respectful yet having himself a natural air of
authority—Younghusband saw in him a man of influence and one
who could be trusted. He had already once been captured and had
only just escaped a second capture by shooting a raider at the entrance
to his tent. After a preliminary exchange of complimentary speeches
he informed the British officer of the destructive effect of these raids
on his people, who had been forced out of their pasturage in the hills
to the plains of Turkestan. He related all his negotiations with the
Chinese for protection, and ended by saying that if the British refused
help his people would be in a bad way. “ The poor man was in
the extremity of anxiety, and all now depended upon what I was
prepared to do.”

Seeing that he was a prudent, careful man, Younghusband told
him that there was not the least necessity for hurry ; that he would
halt in Shahidula for some days, and that they could discuss the whole
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situation any time at leisure ; that the British Government was taking
measures to stop the raids ; that he would leave some Kashmir sepoys
here for the protection of the trade route; that Colonel Algernon
Durand was going in to Hunza from Gilgit, and that he himself
intended to go there by the Shimshal Pass. At present he would go
to his tent, and they could continue their talk that evening, or
tomorrow, just as the chief desired. Having set his mind at rest
Younghusband retired to his tent for a bath and a change of clothes,
and then sent word to the chief that he was ready to resume the
conversation whenever it was convenient to him. ““He came at
once, and we had a long interview. As he was a deliberate old man,
I told him to take his time and tell me slowly and clearly all that
was in his mind.”” The chief then recounted the history of his tribe
from the days of his grandfather when Yakoob Beg ruled Turkestan
and the land was at peace, and there was a fort at Shahidula, to the
present day when the Chinese ruled it and nothing was done for
their protection. Unable to obtain any satisfaction from them he
now wished, he said, to transfer his allegiance to the British.

Young as he was, Younghusband could also be deliberate. He
replied that he had no authority to accept their allegiance, and could
only refer his request to the Viceroy. But the raids would be stopped ;
of this the chief could be reassured. His own immediate intention
was to explore the Shimshal Pass from whence the raids were com-
mitted, and for this purpose he desired the chief to supply him with
guides. Turdi Kol answered that he knew the route and would
accompany him himself. Their talk being thus satisfactorily ended,
tea was brought to the tent and the chief presented with a handsome
robe and turban which he at once put on, and withdrew with profuse
salaams amid the valedictory shouts of his attendants.

To signalize the occasion and the better to inspire their confidence,
Younghusband followed this up next day with a miniature Durbar.
A chair and table were placed on a carpet in an open grassy spacc;
his six Gurkhas stood behind it and eight sepoys on either side, all w1F11
fixed bayonets and in full dress. In front were seated all the Kirghiz.
At the appointed time he appeared in his scarlet full-dress, escorted
by Shahzad Mir with drawn sword. At his approach the Gurkhas
fired a salute of three volleys, the sepoys presented arms, and Fhe
Kirghiz rose to their feet to a man and salaamed deeply. Being
again seated, he slowly and deliberately repeated to them all that
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he had said to Turdi Kol, upon which they bent forward on their
knees and bowed, then rising they bowed a second time. Asked if
they had anything to say on their part, they were silent ; whereupon
Ramzan was told to take presents from the table to Turdi Kol and
his council : robes and turbans to the chief headmen, to the others
shawls, chintzes, cloths and kerchiefs. To Turdi Kol, Sattiwali the
cameleer, and Jan Mohamed was given a revolver each ; one hundred
rupees also to Turdi Kol and to the others twenty apiece. These
ceremonious presentations being ended, the British officer addressed
them again. He said that they must not look entirely to the British
Government for help ; they must help themselves. First of all, they
must agree to obey their chief. He understood that Turdi Kol was
their chief; were they ready to obey him? They shouted that
they were. He thereupon handed to the chief 800 rupees to be
spent on repairing the old fort as a place of defence. This closed
the proceedings, but Turdi Kol came to Younghusband’s tent and
offered help to the expedition unreservedly ; men, supplies, camels,
ponies, besides every possible information and his own personal
services. Except for their chief, Younghusband was not impressed
with the Kirghiz.

These Kirghiz were not an attractive set of men. They were
timid, irresolute, and shifty. It is true that their mode of life
renders them rather liable to attack . . . but the raiders had to
come through nearly two hundred miles of a difficult mountainous
country ; and the Kirghiz, if they were worth anything at all,
ought to have been able, in the defiles and passes of their country,
to have given the Kanjutis some sort of punishment, or to effect
some little retaliation to check their audacity. But except Turdi
Kol, who really had some pluck and nerve, they were a flabby
lot, who, like parasites, preferred to hang on to some greater
power for protection, rather than make any attempt at defence
themselves.

Having arranged for the protection of the trade route, Young-
husband now made preparations for exlporation of the passes. * The
real excitement of the expedition was now to begin.” In another
assembly which he convened before starting he was told that the
first man who appeared in view of the Hunza outpost, on the north
side of the Shimshal Pass, would probably be shot on sight. Turning
to the naik (corporal) of the Gurkhas he said to him chaffingly,  All
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right; you'll go first.” The little man was quite delighted and
beamed with satisfaction at the prospect. This response, says Young-
husband, showed up in a flash the difference between the two races.
The Kirghiz were in abject terror of their enemies: the Gurkhas
were thirsting for nothing so much as to come to grips with them.

He left Shahidula on September 3rd with eighteen ponies and
thirteen camels. The party comprised his six Gurkhas, Shahzad Mir,
Shukar Ali, Ramzan, two Balti raft-men and five Kirghiz. He took
supplies sufficient for six weeks : over three tons weight of grain
for the ponies, half that weight of flour and rice for the men, other
miscellaneous provisions, and a small flock of sheep and goats ; also
tools for road-making and a stock of horse-shoes. He made arrange-
ments for sending back the camels for further supplies after his
exploration of two unknown passes—the Saltoro and the Shimshal—
and for their rendezvous with Turdi Kol at a river-junction which
he guessed must exist—that of the Oprang with the Yarkand—though
he had no certain knowledge about it. Striking westwards along
Hayward’s route to the Sokh-bulah Pass (over 17,000 feet) he crossed
it and descended to the Yarkand River at the point where he had
forded it two years before ; then to the foot of the Aghil Pass, whence
he sent back the camels ; crossed it and descended the Oprang River.
South-eastward of this, Wali had told him of a way into Baltistan—
long since disused—by a pass called the Saltoro. He was now deter-
mined to employ a week or more in discovering this pass. Accord-
ingly, on September 12th, leaving his Gurkhas with the heavy baggage
at Durbin Jangal in the valley, he took with him Shahzad Mir, Shukar
Ali, a Balti and an orderly, with five ponies and ten days’ supplies,
and started out into the unknown. A glacier from the Gusherbrum
completely blocked the Oprang Valley, but the river had furrowed
its way through the ice, so that men and ponies could wade upwards
through the partly frozen water. Great care had to be taken in
negotiating a route shallow enough to secure safe passage and wide
enough to preclude risk of any possible falls of ice from the ice~cliffs.
Presently they found themselves in a completely ice-bound region,
with glaciers in front, behind, and all round ; heavy snow—clogds
also were gathering. In the midst of this “ conglomeration of dazzling
icy séracs” they camped. Younghusband named it the Urdok
Glacier. His journal for the next three days recounts a succession
of frustrated hopes and reflects the alternation of his feclings. "I
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started off this morning (14th) full of zeal, ready to go anywhere and
do anything, but finished up utterly tired out and careless of what
might happen.” Rising early he climbed a spur 2,000 feet above
the camp hoping for a view, but was baulked by a formation of
powdery snow-clouds “ remarkable for their soft fleece-like intan-
gibility ”” which gradually obliterated all the mountain peaks. Rejoin-
ing his party he led the way as before up the glacier till brought
to a halt by a jumble of huge ice-blocks, impossible for the ponies ;
unloading them, the men shouldering the baggage, the ponies were
then swum across a small glacial lake ; but beyond this, conditions
were worse. Retracing their steps, he cast about for another route,
and found one which, however, only led to a maze of crevasses.
Next day, again retreating, he found a way up the centre of the
glacier and, “ getting along famously now ”’, camped at the head of
it under a thousand-foot wall of ice and snow, reminiscent of the
Mustagh Pass. This, so he surmised, must be none other than the
Saltoro Pass.!

Having with Shukar Ali reconnoitred ahead in the afternoon, he
decided on an early start the following day so as to reach the summit
by noon. The camp was astir at 2 a.m. and the start made at 3.30
in keen frost and falling snow which suffused the moonlight so that
they had to grope their way through the crevasses.

At first crevasses were frequent, some visible—great staring
rents in the ice fifty or sixty feet deep, others invisible; being
covered with snow ; these last were the dangerous ones, for the
snow would suddenly give way under you, and your legs would
go down a deep, dark hole . . . No true mountaineer would
have dreamed of attempting the pass on a day like this, and I was
foolish to have proceceded. But I could not afford the time to
wait for the snow to stop falling and consolidate, and in ignorance
of the danger I was incurring I went on.

As they ascended, the crevasses diminished, but not so the snow-
fall ; they were trudging knee-deep in fresh soft snow ; when day
dawned the mountains were still veiled, but they guessed their
dircction and presently found themselves on a steep ice-slope.

We roped ourselves and cut steps in the ice, and were pro-
ceeding stcadily upward when suddenly out of the snow-cloud

! Sce note and map at end of chapter.  For his general routes on these journeys
scc map on page 135.
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in which we were enveloped we heard above us a fearful, tearing,
rushing roar. We could see nothing on account of the cloud.
But we knew at once it was an avalanche, and it seemed to be
coming straight down on the top of us. Our first instinct was
to run. But we could not run, for we were on an ice-slope,
so we crouched in an agony of fear. And just as it seemed to
come crashing right upon the top of us, the avalanche rushed
past us just ahead in the very ravine we were about to enter.
Had it started a few minutes later or had we advanced a hundred
yards farther, we would have been swept away and no one would
ever have known what had become of us.

Elsewhere he wrote : “I felt in that moment greater fear than I
ever yet have done.” Onc would have thought that this experience
would have been enough to cool his ardour : but no.

Still blind to the risks I was running and undeterred by the
danger we had so narrowly escaped, I pressed on through the
snow-clouds, up the icy slope, to a point where a great yawning
chasm in the ice made further advance impossible—unless, indeed,
we had ventured into the ravine down which the avalanche had
shot, and down which another might shoot at any moment;
and to do that, even I was not sufficiently foolish. . . . On our
way back we saw another avalanche rush down the mountain
side, and over the very path we had made in ascending.

So then, though his attempt on the Pass ended in failure, he had
at any ratc cstablished that it was impracticable as a military route,
and, as a point of geographical intercst, had discovered in its snows
the hitherto unknown source of the Oprang River. And further,
he put on record a detailed description of the glaciation of the whole
region.

He was still in that naive stage of rcligious development which
sces in such deliverances from sudden death the hand of “an over-
ruling Providence” who miraculously intervenes in the course of
natural events “to guide my footsteps so that I did not fall, and
divert the course of an avalanche so that it would not crush me.
This was the attitude of mind in which I was brought up, and I
accepted it without thinking out its implications.”

But when I consider how that splendid mountaineer, Mummery,
was swept away in an avalanche on Nanga Parbat in Kashmir,

three or four years later ; and when I think how often in my
experience poor coolics carrying the post across the Kashmir



1889 NO SPECIAL PROVIDENCE 113

mountains have been carried away, it now seems to me simply
shocking that I should have had the presumption and conceit
to think that I was specially marked out for favour while these
poor men were left to destruction. If anyone deserved destruc-
tion it was myself, for not properly using the judgment with

which I had been endowed.

Anyone who fancies himself as the special favourite of the Invisible,
or any race which imagines itself to be a chosen people, is equally
presumptuous. Neither the life-destinies of individuals, nor the
course of world history, are providentially directed ; they are directed
only from within. Younghusband’s conclusions, in the light of fuller
experience and deeper thought, were as follows :

‘When man looks within himself, and still more when he looks
within the great Whole of which he and his fellows—and the
animals and plants, and great mountains and the stars above them
—all form part, he will find a far greater God sustaining, main-
taining, and directing it than ever I had pictured Providence as
directing my footsteps on the mountain. A Providence was
indeed directing me : but He was directing far more than my
footsteps. He was directing my whole being, and directing it
to higher things. This Providence was expecting that I should
use the whole of myself—my judgment as well as my will and
affections—that I should exercise wisdom as well as practise
goodness. And if trust be placed in such a God, as the source
of all goodness, wisdom and beauty, then strength will accrue
to us. We shall be able of ourselves to plant our own footsteps
aright, and confront with confidence physical Nature in her
sternest aspects and come to love her even in her austerest moods.

Double-marching back to Durbin Jangal through a heavy snow-
storm, during which tents and ponies and baggage were snowed
up at night, he reached it on the third day, and there rested for
two days, “to be transported away from every hardship into the
heavenly region of the spirit”. Among the books which he had
brought with him and now read were these : Monier Williams’
Buddhism ; Lubbock’s Ancient Civilization, Childhood of the World and
Childhood of Religions ; some novels of Dickens ; Momerie’s Sermons ;
a Bible and Prayer Book; Dbesides various official reports, and the
R.G.S.s invaluable Hints to Travellers. He ever afterwards looked
back on this period of meditation as marking the turning-point in his



114 HUNZA AND THE PAMIRS 1889

spiritual pilgrimage. He had already in a brief life seen so much
and experienced so much that * naturally, I was inquisitive to know
what this wonderful world of which I had seen so much was really
like, what was at the bottom of it all, what was the central Power
which actuated it ; and how we really stood in regard to the world,
and were connected with it”’.

To explore the constitution of this manifold universe, to discover
its mystery and its meaning, and therewith man’s lot and his purpose
therein—this is surely the profoundest research, as it is also the highest
adventure, upon which the energies of our being can engage. For
it calls into activity not only all the capacities of reflection but also
the last resources of the spirit of man.

When I first started travelling, it was the outward aspect of the
world that interested me. Now it was the inner character and
motive. I wanted to discover the deepest springs of life, to get
behind the outward appearance and find the reality which under-
lies it, as we try to find the real man behind his surface looks.
By necessity I had had to be searching for the real thing in men
of an extraordinary variety of types. Now I wanted to be
searching for reality in the world as a whole. And while I wanted
to know all about this world and our relation to it, I also wanted
to know what the world was making for . . . what was the
highest peak of development man had yet reached, and at what
higher peaks he should aim. . . .

In our youth we all take our religion—our root attitude to
the world—at second-hand and on trust. But a time comes
when we feel the need of thinking things out for ourselves and
making our own religion. Only by doing so can we feel that
religion is any real power in our lives. Especially do we feel
this need when we are thrown with men of different religions
from our own. Ihad had to live with and have my life dependent
upon men of all the chief religions—Hindu, Buddhist, Con-
fucian, Mohamedan. Theoretically, the religion of each was
very different from the others and from my own . .. Each
naturally thought his own religion was the best. And I was
interested to find out in what way each differed from the other,
and in what way our own was the best. . . .

Thus I found myself reaching out with my whole being to get
beneath the mere external accessories of my own religion, an
of all religion, to the inner essential core and spring—the very
motor-centre . . . to test it against the strength of the mighty
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mountains all round me, against the lofty purity of their snowy
summits, against the piercing radiance of the stars, and against
the devoted loyalty of the sturdy men I had about me.—These
men all wanted to be good, knew they ought to be good, felt
something within them propelling them to be good, and some-
thing without expecting them to be good. And in readiness to
sacrifice their lives for the good of the expedition they were
good. The religion I must find must be so transparently clear
that any one of these would see that what I prayed to was what
they prayed to, and what I worshipped was what they worhipped.
So the exploration upon which I set out from Durbin Jangal,
and upon which I have been engaged ever since, is the exploration
of the very heart and soul of things, the discovery of the real
Power, the inner Being, of which the outward aspects of mother
carth’s face—plants, animals, and we men—are but the expression.
This search for the inmost secrets of the world, which are the
supreme interest for men, was the spiritual adventure upon which
I then embarked.

It is worth noticing that this sense of his true vocation, which
had been steadily maturing in his mind since boyhood, now came to
fruition at a moment of recreation between periods of intense outer
activity when all his natural forces were strung to their topmost pitch.
And though the course of his spiritual pilgrimage hitherto had been
gradual and continued to be so thereafter, he always looked back
upon this as the moment which marked the decisive signpost in his
quest.

There is a mysticism of the cloister, and there is a mysticism of
what may be called the camp. The former is generally passive,
quiescent, and life-denying ; the latter active, ethical, and life-affirm-
ing. Younghusband’s was of the latter type.



NOTE ON THE SALTORO PASS

Younghusband, en route to the Mustagh Pass in 1887, had been
the first European to see K.2 and Gasherbrum from the north. These
peaks had been rightly considered to lie on the main axis of the
Karakorum range. The Saltoro Pass, fixed from the south by the
Indian Survey, had been assumed to lie on the same main axis.
Younghusband, approaching the main range again from the north
in 1889, discovered a pass which he took to be the Saltoro since it
lay on the main axis which continued east-south-eastwards from K.2
and Gasherbrum. But by his observations the latitude of his pass
showed a difference of some 20 miles from that fixed by the Indian
Survey for the Saltoro.

In 1909 Dr. Longstaff determined to try and clear up this dis-
crepancy. On page 161 of his fascinating book This My Voyage
(1950) he writes :

“In 1889 Younghusband had forced his way to the Karakorum
from the north. He was brought to a halt by a steep ice-pass which
appeared to him to lie on the main axis of the range. He had fixed
his position by observation. Now the compilers of my old ma
were firm in the belief that the Saltoro Pass, fixed from the sout
by the Indian Survey, lay on the main axis of the Karakorum. The
two conceptions were irreconcilable. The Saltoro Pass is some twenty
miles south-south-east of Younghusband’s pass. Therefore the map-
makers brushed aside Younghusband’s observation of his latitude.
They stretched his route and distorted their map to make these two
passes coincide.” (See map on page 135.) _

Longstaff stayed with Younghusband at the Kashmir Residency in
1909 and together they went through his old note-books and. maps.
“ He made no open fuss about the Survey rejecting his _latltudc,
says Dr. Longstaff in a letter to the writer, *“ but he was insistent that
they were wrong.” .

Longstaff crossed the historic Saltoro Pass from the south in June
of that year, but it was not till the level of the Nubra River fell in
September that he was able to settle the alignment of the main axis
of the range beyond dispute. On page 192 of his book he writes :

“ Younghusband was a true prophet. The avalanche-swept pass,
whose foot he had reached twenty ycars before, was on the main
axis of the Karakorum range, which thus lay miles farther north
than had been believed.”

The writer is indebted to Dr. Longstaff for permission to reproduce
this map which clarifies the wholc position. It was drawn by his
wife from his original survey and the latest sheets of the Indian atlas.
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Chapter XI

HUNZA AND THE PAMIRS (continued)

1s next objective was the Shimshal Pass. On the second

day’s march (September 22nd) he climbed a spur from

which he gained a view of the whole length of the glacier

he had toiled up on his journey to the Mustagh. “I had
thought I should never set eyes on it again, but once more it lay
before me, and I pictured to myself each little incident in that hard
tussle.””  The next day, leaving his camp at Suget Jangal, he set out
to explore a curving glacier to the south-west which might, or might
not, lead to the Shimshal Pass.

Taught by experience, he advanced first across a lateral moraine
and followed it till the ice closed in on the mountain-side, and then
struck inwards through crevasses, which necessitated very careful
steering, to the gravel moraine in the centre of the glacier, where
his cheerful Gurkhas found °soft stones’ on which to camp and
sleep.  On the fourth day the party plunged through a heavy snow-
storm into a maze of crevasses, to negotiate which 100 yards’ progress
cost 600 yards or more of tortuous zigzagging ; cleared them at last,
and found a straight run upwards of two miles only to encounter
“ another series of crevasses of the most desperate description”
through which they cast about for a lead in all directions, but without
avail. Here he called a halt and camped for the night ; next day,
fortified by tiffin—" an important point beforc engaging in a real
tussle ”—and taking with him a few men lightly laden he tried again—
no luck ; returned for a hot drink and tried again—again no luck.
“ We were in a regular cul de sac; ahead were impassable Crevasses,
and on each side pinnacles of pure ice.” Next day he determined
upon finding a passable route off the glacier edge and up along the
mountain-side further down, but everywhere crevasses and crags <')f
ice prevented him from reaching solid ground. The Gurkha naik
and Shahzad Mir accompanied him. At last he saw what S(?emfid
to him, but not to them, a possible way out ; and against their dis-
suasions went on till he reached a frozen pond, crossed it with care,
and found a promising ascent beyond it up the mountain-side. His
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two men now followed ; the naik crossed safely, but Shahzad Mir
fell in and only saved himself with difficulty. Hastening back,
Younghusband fell in twice himself, got out, hurried back to the
party, and ordered a halt as close to the pond as the ponies could
go. Assuming that it would freeze solid in the night, he made what
shift he could for the comfort of his party and the ponies in a bitter
wind, falling snow, and sodden clothes and footwear. The next day
dawned fine at last, and he set off eagerly with three men carrying
light loads, having prepared one also for himself which, however,
they would not let him carry. “I could not have had better or
more willing men ; no amount of hard work ever stopped them.”
But the level of the water had dropped several feet below the crust
of ice ; he ventured some yards upon it till it began to crack all
round him. Satisfied then, and not till then, that further efforts were
useless, he took his party back to Suget Jangal—This exploit had
cost him a week, but, he said, “ I would not have missed it for any-
thing.” The glacier was evidently not that which led to the Shimshal
Pass. “I called it the Crevasse Glacier, on account of the great
number and size of the crevasses, which were wider, deeper, and
far more frequent than I have seen on any other, and this I attribute
to the bends.” As always he describes the glaciation in detail, and
allows himself a personal reminiscence.

When I can free my mind from the overpowering sense of
grandeur which the mountains produce, and from the thoughts
of the stern hard work we had to go through in those parts, I
think of the beauty of that glacier scenery, the delicate trans-
parency of the walls of ice, the exquisite tinting of the blues
and greens upon it, the fairy caverns, the deep crevasses, and the
pinnacles of ice, as forming a spectacle unsurpassed in its purity
of loveliness. . . . It is high up among the loftiest mountain
summits, where all is shrouded in unsullied whiteness, where
nothing polished dares pollute, that the very essence of sublimity
must be sought for. It is there indeed that the grand and beautiful
unite to form the sublime.

The sentences reveal the goal of his own spiritual aspiration ; and
the effort, the struggle, the sacrifice to attain it are shown in the
matter-of-fact account which he gives of the whole adventure. It
is this which reveals the thoroughness of the man: his persistence
i the face of all obstacles, his undaunted and indomitable spirit, the
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integrity and the soundness that were in him. He got back to the
comfort of his camp with bloodshot eyes, blistered features, cracked
knuckles, cut hands and many bruises, but “ fit as a fiddle and brim
full of elation ™.

From now on his chief obstacles were to be “ not mountains but
men "’ .—After a day’s rest he proceeded on September 30th down
the Oprang River, fording its rapid glacial current eleven times waist-
deep, making for Chong Jangal where he expected to find its junction
with the Yarkand River and where he had appointed a rendezvous
with Turdi Kol and fresh supplies. There were of course no maps,
nor was any information obtainable. Arrived, on October 3rd, at
its probable point of junction, it was to find that the Oprang doubled
abruptly backward, Chong Jangal was not in sight, nor was there any
sign of Turdi Kol. Five of his Gurkhas were on the wrong side
of the river, which here appeared to be unfordable; to his horror
he saw two of them enter it, though the icy water was up to their
arm-pits ; he shouted to them to stop but the roar of the current
drowned his voice. “ How they got through I don’t know, but
they did, and emerged with broad grins as if it were all the greatest
possible fun.” He then rode his own pony across, leading another ;
mounted one of the remaining Gurkhas behind him and the other
two on the led pony, and started back. * Once or twice my pony
gave some ugly lurches, and I thought we were gone ; but we got
across all right, and I gave the Gurkhas a drop of whiskey all round
to cheer their stout little hearts.”

A week passed at Chong Jangal before the arrival of Turdi Kol with
the long-expected supplies. Then on October 10th the whole party
proceeded up the wild, narrow valley of the unfordable Shimshal
River towards the Kanjuti outpost called Darwaza (the Gate), from
whence they launched their raids. A loop-hole wall on the top of
a cliff, which formed the bank of a ravine cutting transversely across
the top of the valley, was flanked by towers on either side, and these
completely covered the approach up a difficult zigzag path. *“ A futter
placc for a robbers’ den could not be imagined.” Carefully recon-
noitring the stronghold through field-glasses, he saw that his party
could be annihilated—if not by direct fire—by the dislodgment of
stones. “‘ I thought, therefore, that I ought not to commit my whole
party to such a risk.” Leaving the Gurkhas in such a position as
to cover their retreat if this became necessary, he took with him



1889 THE RAIDERS STRONGHOLD 121

Ramzan and Shahzad Mir as interpreters, “ to beard the raiders in
their very den”. But the Gurkha naik ran breathlessly after them,
saying that at Shahidula he had been promised to be allowed to go
fist | The four therefore climbed the path which passed straight
through the towered gateway, the door of which was open and no
one visible. But suddenly it was slammed and the whole wall
manned with wild Kanjuti, who at a range of fifty feet covered them
with their matchlocks, at the same time shouting and waving them
back. Younghusband halted and, signing to them, with one finger
raised, shouted back in Turki, “ Send one man.” The clamour
gradually subsided, though the matchlocks were still held at the
ready ; the door opened and two Kanjutis came down. Young-
husband explained quietly that he wished to visit their chief, Safder
Ali, of which intention the chief himself had already been informed
by Colonel Durand. The reply was that, though this was known,
the chief had as yet given no permission for the British party to
procced ; they must therefore remain till permission was received.
Assuming an air of indifference, Younghusband said that of course
they must obey their chief’s orders, but that for his part he would
prefer to go on, since his supplies were short. To this they replied
that they must be certain he had no army with him, and being told
that they could go and count exactly how many men he had, they
did so, and, finding only six Gurkhas with arms, returned and reported
the matter to their headman, who immediately sent instructions that
the British officer and his party might enter. The entrance was now
lined with Kanjutis in a double row. As Younghusband was about
to enter, one of them suddenly stepped out of the rank and seized
the bridlc of his pony. The Gurkhas sprang forward and were on
the point of firing, when the man let go and laughed.  Younghusband
laughed too. For a moment it had looked like treachery, but was
only meant as ““a joke ”.—"* But he was within an ace of carrying
that joke a bit too far.”

Once inside the fort, tension relaxed. It was bitterly cold, and
they all gathered round a huge fire in an open space to discuss the
situation.  Younghusband was privately aware, from his talks with the
Kirghiz, that the Kanjutis raided only under the compulsion of their
chief ; they incurred all the risks whilst he kept all the profits ; and
disobedience was death. This was a strong card, but he led off with a
lower one. He said that the Queen of England was naturally
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displeased that her subjects were raided, and had sent him to see their
chief and arrange that this practice should cease. They answered
that they could not discuss that with him. “I replied that of course
I understood that, but all the same I thought that they would like to
know. It was obvious that they did. And when the little Gurkhas
produced some tobacco, and with their customary grin offered it to
them, they were completely won.”

But now it was their turn to play. They demanded that the
Kirghiz should go on to Hunza ; and to this Younghusband demurred
firmly, since Turdi Kol (who was present incognito) must return with
the hired camels. Adopting a high tone he said that he was not
going to be dictated to as to whom he should take or leave ; the
Kirghiz were to go back, and they, the Kanjutis, would be held
responsible if they were molested. And if that was their chief’s
attitude, he added, he would return to India himself at once and tell
the Queen that the Hunza chief was unfricndly. This had an instant
and sobering effect.

There remained the problem of Turdi Kol who, said the Kanjutis,
was wanted by their chief for having shot a raider in the previous
year. Where was he? Younghusband, then, turning directly to
Turdi Kol and addressing him by an assumed name, said, “ Sattiwal,
do you know where Turdi Kol is 2" Turdi Kol replied, “ Yes, he
is behind with the camels.” Later on, a little Gurkha nearly ruined
the ruse by addressing him by name and then smothering it with a
loud laugh. It passed off, luckily, undetected. “* Gurkhas are brave,
cheery little men, but they have not the wits of a hog.”

We stood together for a long time round the fire, a curious
group—rough, hard, determined-looking Kanjutis, in long loose
woollen robes, round cloth caps, long curls hanging down their
ears, matchlocks slung over their backs, and swords bound to
their sides; the long-suffering Baltis; the sturdy, jovial little
Gurkhas, the grave Pathan, and a solitary Englishman, met
together here, in the very heart of the Himalayas, in the robbers
stronghold. . . . The Gurkhas and the Pathans had both in
former days fought desperately against the British ; they were
now ready to fight equally desperately for the British against
these raiders around us, and their presence had inspired so much
confidence in the nervous Kirghiz that thesc even had summoned

up enough courage to enter a place which they had never before
thought of without a shudder.



1889 THE SOUL OF HIS COUNTRY 123

Reflecting on this incident years afterwards he wrote ; “ Though
it might have ended in disastrous failure, I had then such buoyancy
of youth that the idea never once entered my mind that it would
be anything else but complete success.” But there was another factor
which inspired him with confidence. He was the representative of
his country—of England.

That I was able to do what I did was mainly due to the fact
that I was an Englishman, that I stood for the British Empire,
and I had at my disposal not only the authority but the good
name which England during long centuries had established. . . .

For that occasion and to those people I was the representative
of England. I was to them the embodiment, the incarnation
of the spirit which animates England. . . . And I could feel
England expecting me to bear myself in a manner worthy of
her. . . . T knew, too, that all these men, and especially the
Hunza men, who had never seen an Englishman before, were
eyeing me minutely and through a thousand little ways were
forming their opinion of England. Not only from my words,
but from my bearing, my expression, my manner, my voice,
my way with the Gurkhas, from every little act, they were like
children with strangers, drinking in impressions, and forming
their ideas of the character of England.

The conception of the personal, concrete *“ soul of a country ’—
as of a living, definite entity, having an individual intelligence and
will—was to become an essential element in his whole philosophy
of life. Even now he felt the * real being ” of his country as some-
thing actual and almost tangible. What was the spirit of that country ?
It was the consciousness of power, and the sense of authority ; but
this expresses itsclf not in an attitude of domination, but rather in
one of rcasonableness and tolerance, understanding, sympathy and
goodwill, neighbourliness and friendliness. To melt away hostility
rather than to oppose it, to seck peace rather than to excite hostility,
to overcome evil, not with force (unless driven to it as a last necessity)
but with good—that was the will and intention of England ; that
was the spirit of England, and it was bred in the marrow of his bones.

He now had to part with the Kirghiz and with Turdi Kol, and
bade farewell to the latter with real regret.

He had indced served me well. With great pluck he had
shown me the way right up to this stronghold. He had also
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arranged for all the camels, ponies, and supplies I wanted. The
Kirghiz of these parts are, on the whole, not a very prepossessing
lot. They are hardy, but have little grit. But Turdi Kol was
the great exception. He had plenty of pluck, and he had that
indefinable quality which comes from good breeding all the
world over. He unconsciously commanded respect. And I
also regarded him with real affection.

Permission being now freely granted to proceed through the fort,
Younghusband continued peacefully on his way towards the Shimshal
Pass, with the addition of seven now friendly Kanjuti to his retinue,
and encamped for the night. The Pass had never before been explored
by a European : “ whether it was an easy pass like the Karakoram, or
a pass like the Mustagh—fit only for acrobats—we did not know .
Next day, October 15, after a stiff climb, he crossed it with unexpected
ease. Its approach was deceptive because hidden by a bend, but it
proved, like the Karakoram, to be a true pamir, that is, a nearly level
plain or shallow depression between the mountains, no more than
15,000 feet above sea level, and free of snow. He pressed on some
eight miles into the valley below it, but the Kanjuti warned him that
there were difficult gorges ahead (a fact confirmed three years later
by Lieutenant Cockerill who explored them from the Indian side).
At this point he was met by the emissary of Safder Ali with a letter
giving him carte blanche of the Hunza territory and a welcome to
Gulmit, the present capital. He replied with gifts and ceremonial
thanks for the offer of hospitality which he would be glad to accept
in a few days’ time. He then recrossed the Shimshal Pass and returned
by way of the Raskam River to its junction with the Oprang, mapping
the whole watershed of the Mustagh range. At Chong Jangal he
was met by the invaluable Jan Mohamed with camels and yaks which
enabled him to dispense with the now overworked ponies. There
were also letters from India. Among these was one informing him
that Captain Grombtchevsky, the well-known Russian traveller, was
approaching India by way of the Pamirs. A few days later when
marching down the Yarkand River, he received a letter in Turki
from that officer himself cordially inviting him to his camp.

This was not exactly a surprise, for the letter from Government
had forewarned me. But it was an exciting event, also delightful
in prospect; for two Europeans always find it a joy to meet
one another in the depths of Asia. We had opposite views on
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political matters. But that counted for very little and only
made the meeting all the more piquant. Besides, there was the
curiosity to know what he was like and what he was about, and
how he set about what he was about.

I replied in Persian and English, saying I was glad of the
opportunity of meeting so distinguished a traveller, and that I
hoped to be with him the next day.

Accordingly, on October 23rd, the meeting took place, and the
conversation that ensued must be transcribed verbatim.

AsIrode up a tall, fine-looking bearded man in Russian uniform
came out to meet me. He was very frank and cordial in his
welcome, and he introduced me to his companion, Conrad, a
German naturalist. As a guard he had seven Cossacks, and be-
sides these there were a few Kirghiz and Andijanis.

We had a short talk together, and he then asked me to dine
with him after I had camped and unpacked. This dinner was
a very substantial meal, and the Russian plied me generously
with vodka. At the start he laughingly said that he was very
annoyed with me, as before he had left St. Petersburg he had
marked down those parts of the frontier region which had not
been explored by Europeans, and now, just as he was entering
upon an unknown region, he comes across an Englishman who
has explored the whole ground. I could only reply how much
I admired his audacity in venturing into Hunza last year. He
said, Yes, he had had an adventurous time and had only got out
by giving the chief everything he had, including his Cossacks’
rifles. And he warned me not to give the chief a single thing
he asked for, as if I gave one thing on his asking for it he would
go on asking for more and more till he had got everything out
of me. This warning I afterwards bore in mind to good purpose.

As dinner progressed he talked more and more freely. He
said that the English were the rivals of the Russians, but, he
added, turning to Herr Conrad, ““ I hate the Germans a hundred
times more than I hate the English.” He became very frank,
too about the invasion of India. He said we English might not
believe the Russians really intended to invade India, but he could
assure me that the Russian Army—officers and men—thought
of nothing else. He then called his Cossacks to the door of the
tent and asked them whether they would like to invade India.
And, of course, they gave a cheer and said they would like nothing
better. I said that was all very well, but how were they going
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to do it? Let us look at our respective positions in Asia. In
India we were surrounded by mountains. In Central Asia the
Russians were in an open plain. 'We had several railways right
up to the frontier and a railway down it. The Russians had only
a single railway. Our vulnerable points were strongly fortified.
They had no fortifications. They talked of getting hold of the
Amir of Afghanistan and the frontier tribes, and turing them on
to the plains of India with promises of loot; but what about
our turning them on Central Asia with promises of the loot of
Bokhara, Samarkand, and Tashkent ?

All this was bluff, but it quite answered its purpose of showing
we had our end up. And when I put my final question as to
how the Russians were going to transport and supply their army
when away from any railway they would have to cross deserts
and mountains, the Russian could only reply that the Russian
Army went wherever it was ordered to go and did not trouble
about supplies and transport. And a good laugh closed the
CONtroversy.

The visit was returned next day. Brandy, a more potent liquid
than vodka, was the only stimulant which Younghusband could
offer his guest, and, whether under its influence or not, the latter
became yet more communicative. Younghusband, though personally
abstemious, could be as hard-headed as the next man, if necessary.
Grombtchevsky volunteered that he like his host was a military officer
in civil employment, with a taste for adventure and exploring which
very few of his fellow-officers shared. The Tsar encouraged it,
however, by requiring a preliminary interview with the explorer.
Younghusband replied that with the British the opposite was the
case. No encouragement was given to military explorers, and no
interview—even with the Viceroy—was cxpectcd; in fact every
obstruction was put in the way, “ or else the whole army would be
careering over Central Asia”’.—The Russian then asked to be allowed
to see the Gurkhas parade. Delighted to show them off, Young-
husband caused his havildar to put them through their paces. This
they did with such smartness and precision that  the Russian was quitc
taken aback ”. He had imagined that Indian soldiers werc irrcgular
as the Cossacks were.  On being congratulated, the havildar whispered
to Younghusband a request that he inform the Russian officer that
these Gurkhas were unusually small and that the rest of them were
bigger men than Captain Grombtchevsky himsclf ! The average
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height of a Gurkha being five and a half feet and that of the Russian
officer well over six feet, Younghusband felt that he could not commit
himself to this *“ exaggeration” ; “ but I told him how the Gurkha
had wanted to impose upon him, and he was immensely tickled .
On leaving camp the Gurkhas saluted the Russian officer by presenting
arms, which compliment he returned by ordering his Cossacks to
“ carry swords . * We then parted, Captain Grombtchevsky saying
to me that he hoped we might meet again, either in peace at St.
Petersburg or in war on the Indian frontier ; in either case I might
be sure of a warm welcome.” Younghusband, wishing to give the
Russian some sort of keepsake, found that the only thing he could
spare was Monier Williams’ Buddhism !

I had been so deeply interested in it myself, I assumed he must,
of course, be interested in it too. He said he could not read a
word of it. But I told him that did not matter. He must get
somcone to translate it to him when he got back to Russia.
Probably that poor book about which I was so keen was the
next day reposing at the bottom of the Yarkand River.

He, on his part, was much more generous to me. He presented
me with an enormous Pamir sheep. It was one of a flock which
he was taking with him to eat, but it had become such a pet that
he could not bring himself to eat it, so he gave it to me. I took
him back with me to India, and found a good home for him with
some kind friends at a hill-station, and he lived for several years,
affording a big crop of wool every year.

On October 3oth, Younghusband crossed the Kurbu Pass on to
the Tagh-dum-bash Pamir (14,700 feet and some five miles broad),
and found it practicable for laden animals. Leaving his escort at
Ilisu he pushed on some 70 miles to spend a day at Tashkurgan where
Major Cumberland and Lieutenant Bower were encamped. Thence
he procecded through deep snow to the Khunjerab Pass, on descending
which he sighted and stalked a large herd of Ovis poli, but unsuccess-
fully : “ this stalk showed me how much my strength was reduced
from living so long at great clevations, and from having no proper
cook my appetite had fallen away and I had become too weak for
any great exertions’’. Recjoining his escort on November 4th he
marched up the Karachukur strcam to Mintaka Aksai, and found
there two Kashgaris who were Chinese officials and had truculently
demanded of his interpreter, before his arrival, to see his passport.
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On hearing this, I sent them a message requesting them not to
interfere with my servants, and saying that if they wanted any
information about my doings, I should be perfectly ready to
give it to them, and that when I had leisure I would send for
them, and they might ask me any questions they wished.

He sent for them the next morning, and after giving them tea
and treating them politely explained that he was merely crossing the
Pamirs in order to return to India by Hunza ; that he had not antici-
pated having to cross a portion of Chinese territory ; that two years
ago he had travelled from Pekin to Kashgar with a passport from
the Emperor ; and added that China and England were friendly.
The Kashgari officials agreed and expressed entire satisfaction ; they
only requested from him a statement in writing, took their leave in
a very friendly manner, and promised him every assistance.

He now had to dismiss his Kirghiz and reward them for services
rendered. This he did, as always, very liberally, and in addition gave
presents to their three headmen. One of them, Juma Bai, however,
was so impertinent as to return the present afterwards, saying that it
was insufficient.

I immediately sent my interpreter with a sheep, which Juma
Bai had given me on the previous day, and with my presents
which he had returned, and told him to throw them away before
his eyes, to turn the sheep loose in the valley, and to express
my extreme displeasure at being so insulted.—Juma Bai hap-
pened to be living with the two Kashgaris, who now turned
on him and abused him roundly ; and the rest of the Kirghiz,
taking the cue from them, sct upon the unfortunate Juma and
beat him.—The other two Kirghiz headmen then came and
apologized profusely, hoping that I was not displeased with them
also, and the next morning, when we parted, they were very
friendly and full of expressions of good-will. -

But the Kirghiz are not a race with many good qualities ;
they are avaricious, grasping, and fickle, and I parted fron_1 them
without regret, or any special desire to renew my acquaintance
with them.

On November 8th he crossed his last pass, the Mintaka (14,400 feet),
in knee-deep snow. The ascent was very steep, and the descent dawn
a rocky zigzag on to the moraine of the glacier was difficult, but it
opened out on the southern side of the Indus watershed and led to a



1889 APPROACH TO RAIDER CHIEFTAIN 129

valley “ full of interest, both as the abode of a primitive, little-known
people, and from the grandeur of its scenery "'

As we marched down from Murkush to Misgah we passed
through gorges with rocky precipices of stupendous height on
either side. The mountains seemed almost to rise perfectly sheer
from the bed of the river for thousands of feet, till they culminated
in snowy peaks, to view whose summits we had to throw our

heads right back in looking upwards.

Having now completed the first part of his mission, namely the
exploration of all the Himalayan passes from the north, he set forth
towards Gulmit to interview the Hunza chief, Safder Ali, on the
matter of the Kanjuti raids. Near Misgah he was met by the governor
of the upper district, with whom he had one difficulty in recruiting
the carriers whose services had been promised by the chief, and
another in the governor’s demand for payment in exchange for gifts.
His firmness overcame the first difficulty, and his flat refusal (remem-
bering Captain Grombtchevsky's warning) overcame the second.
At Gircha he was visited by the Wazir, Dadu, the ‘ prime minister ’,
by whose personality he was much impressed : ““a keen sportsman
and a good shot, and next to his half-brother Humayan who suc-
ceeded him as Wazir, the most capable man I met upon the frontier.
Two years later he led the opposition to the British in the Hunza
campaign ; and it is to be regretted that ignorance led him into com-
mitting his master to a course of policy which ended in the overthrow
of both.” He was accompanied by Mohammed Nazim Khan, the
chief’s half-brother, who for the same reason was so shortly to succeed
him. * He was then a friendly, agreeable but very timid young man
who went about in fear of his life, for his father, mother, and two
of his brothers had met with violent deaths at the hands of Safder
Ali. . .. Thirty-three years after our first meeting and thirty years
after he had become ruler of Hunza, I received in my distant Kentish
home a little present and most friendly message from him.”

The sequel affords an excellent example of Younghusband’s methods
in dealing with refractory tribal chiefs. Dressed in his scarlet full-dress
uniform, escorted by his Gurkhas in their full-dress green rifle uniform,
he rode through the village lands towards a large tent (the gift of
Colonel Durand) in which the chief was to receive him. On his
approach, thirteen guns were fired in salute, followed by a deafening
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tomtomming. Hundreds of people were collected on the hillside, and
a long double row of wild Kanjuti, armed with matchlocks and swords,
lined the approach to the tent. Dismounting, he advanced on foot
to meet the chief, who, with a sword and revolver in his belt and
followed by a man with a drawn sword and another with a repeating
rifle, came out to receive him. With a fair complexion, reddish
hair, and the features of a European, Safder Ali might, if dressed in
European clothes, have been taken for a Greek or an Italian. Having
inquired concerning his visitor’s health and his journey, he led him
into the tent—in which, however, there was only one chair, covered
with fine gold-embroidered velvet cloth.

This was the only chair that the chief possessed in Gulmit,
and it was evident that he intended to sit in it himself, and let
me kneel upon the ground with the headmen of the country.
I had, however, foreseen such an eventuality, and had brought
a chair with me on the march. So I now sidled in between Safder
Ali and his chair, and whispered to my orderly to get mine,
which, when produced, I placed alongside his, and we then sat
down together. We then carried on a short complimentary
conversation, in which I thanked him for the arrangements he
had made for my reception, and the cordiality of the welcome
he had offered me. In the tent all the principal men of the
country were kneeling in silent rows, with solemn upturned
faces, hanging upon each word that was uttered as if there was
the profoundest wisdom in it, but never moving a single muscle
of their features. The conversation was carried out by slow
degrees. At the close of the interview I again thanked the chief,
and as I left the tent the Gurkha escort, by previous arrangement,
fired three volleys in the air, a form of salute which is ordinarily
only given at funerals, but which served the purpose of making
a noise and consequently of pleasing these people.

Subsequent interviews, being private, were less cercmonious.
Safder Ali demanded of his visitor why he was the first European
to enter Hunza territory from the north. Younghusband disclaimed
the honour, remarking that it belonged to a Russian officer whom
he happened to have just met, and explained that the purpose of
his own visit was to counsel the chief, if he desired friendship with
the Government of India, to restrain his men from raiding British
subjects. Safder. Ali replied that since the profits from these raids
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formed his principal revenue, then the Government of India, if it
wished them to be stopped, must compensate him with a subsidy.

There was no diplomatic mincing of matters with Safder Alj,
and this outspokenness did not come from any innate strength
of character, but simply because he was ignorant of his real
position in the universe. He was under the impression that the
Empress of India, the Czar of Russia, and the Emperor of China
were chiefs of neighbouring tribes ; but he had been accustomed
to levy blackmail upon all the peoples around him, and he
Jooked upon the various foreign officials who had visited his
country as envoys from England, Russia, and China, clamouring
for his friendship. He and Alexander the Great were on a par.
When I asked him if he had been to India, he said that  great
kings* like himself and Alexander never left their country !

The difficulty was, therefore, to know how to deal with such
a man as this. I told him, however, that I could not think of
recommending that he should be subsidized to stop raids ; but
that T had left soldiers for the protection of the trade route, and
would advise him to try another raid and see how much revenue
he obtained from it. Much to my astonishment he burst into a
roar of laughter. Any other man, he said, would have promised
him the subsidy, even if he did not intend to fulfil his promise ;
but I had told him straight out that I would not.

Younghusband now tried a little object lesson. He suggested that
his Gurkhas should exhibit their skill in drill exercises and marksman-
ship. Drawn up in line and facing the tent, they levelled their rifles,
which were unloaded, directly at its occupants. *“ This was too much
for the successor of Alexander ; he said that he would see no more
drill cxercises and would only permit the firing at a mark to take
placc when he had surrounded himself with a cordon of men, and
another round the Gurkhas.” They then fired a volley at a rock
agross the valley at a range of 700 yards. The bullets splashed simul-
tancously and close together. This caused quite a sensation.

But Safder Ali found firing at mere rocks rather dull, so seeing
a man coming down the path on the opposite bank he wanted
me to tell the Gurkhas to fire at him. I laughed, and said that
would never do, as they would certainly hit him. * What does
it matter if they do ?” said Safder Ali; * he belongs to me.”
Though so nervous about his own life, he was utterly callous
of other people’s. A guilty conscience was pricking him, for he
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had murdered his own father and thrown two of his brothers
over a precipice, and he now feared that similar treachery might
be played upon him.

He had already been presented with a ceremonial gift, but now
he became unblushingly importunate in his demands for more, and
so petulant and rude after repeated refusals that “I told him I could
not receive him any more, as he did not know how to behave himself
towards the envoy of the Queen of England ”.  On November 23td,
the day of his departure, to mark his displeasure Younghusband
decided not to pay the chief a farewell visit.

But just as I was starting he came down on foot to my tent
and apologized for his behaviour, saying that his only intention
had been to give me a good reception, and hoping that I would
give a good account of him to the Viceroy. He said that that
was all he wanted—that and a subsidy ! And so we parted. I
am the last European who has seen him ; two years later he was
forced to flee from his country, and became an exile in Chinese
territory. I knew that he was a cur at heart, and in the last
degree unworthy of ruling so fine a race as the people of Hunza.

Younghusband was accompanied to Gilgit by Safder Ali’s half-
brother, Mohammed Nazim Khan, who was so soon to succeed him
and to prove a much better ruler of Hunza.

From Gilgit he crossed on December 13th the Burzil Pass (13,400
feet) and on the 16th the Tragbal Pass (11,200 feet). He had crossed
seventeen passes, and had attempted two more, and had traversed
some of the roughest country in the world.

I now parted with my Gurkha escort, and the havildar told
me for the first time that, before leaving their regiment, their
head officer had warned them that if anything happened to me
on the journey, not a single one of them was to return to disgrace
the regiment. They must not come back without their officer.
He said that they had all been ready to make any sacrifice for the
success of the expedition ; but they had had no hardshi what-
ever, and he thanked me for all the care I had taken of them on
the journey.

Tears were in their eyes as we said good-bye. . . . A ful}d
of tender sentiment lay beneath their rough exterior—and, in
high moments like our parting, a true gracefulness as well. A
peculiar sense of kinship strikes deep into us from expericnces
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like this. On the surface life of every day there may be much

in which we differ. But somewhere fundamental is a common
tie, and something tender which makes everyone akin.

They all, as well as the Pathan orderly, reccived money rewards
and certificates of commendation from the Government; and the
havildar and the naik were promoted.

Note : For Younghusband’s routes sec map on page 135.

S.F.Y.



Chapter XII

THE PAMIRS AND KASHGAR

N returning to India, his dispatches to Simla having pre-
ceded him, Younghusband at once rejoined his regiment
which was again at a camp of exercise, and was met at
the station by the Orderly Officer with a note of welcome
from the Colonel, inviting him to be his guest at dinner. After the
toast to the King, the Colonel rose and—a most unusual occurrence
at a regimental mess—said that he had heard from the C.-in-C. of
the importance of Captain Younghusband’s journey, upon the success
of which he personally and in the name of the regiment congratulated
him, adding how gratified he felt that his officers should gain distinc-
tions for the regiment. The recipient of this unexpected tribute had
barely time to get over it before he was sent for to Calcutta by Lord
Lansdowne, by whom he was warmly congratulated. “‘ He must have
been expressly built to be Viceroy. Full of natural dignity and
courtesy he was straight and honourable as a British representative
should be, doing his part with perfect competence, and leaving others
to do theirs.” Here he was also presented to the Duke and Duchess
of Connaught, and to Prince Albert Victor who desired an hour’s
interview. ““I hope I was able to interest him. But as soon as my
job is done I want to get on to the next, and fear I may only have
bored him. And all day and every day he had to be mecting ‘ inter-
esting’ people. He must have hated the very sight of them.”

“ This plunge from the remote Himalaya, and mighty peaks and
glaciers, and from a raider chieftain’s capital, to Calcutta in the height
of the season was rather sudden. But these rapid transitions are part
of a frontier officer’s life. . . . But for him it was a transition in
more senses than one. It was the end of his military service and the
beginning of his career as a military-political officer on the Frontier.
With no active service in sight, the routine of a peace-time soldier
seemed a waste of the best years of his life. It was merely a con-
tinuing to exist. The lure of exploration in the ‘ hills’ which had
become his natural element and lifc among the wild tribesmen whose
ways he now knew intimately and, beyond this, his knowledge of the
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vital issues at stake for the future security of India in those regions—
all these things drew him irresistibly.

I saw ahead so much still to be done of this military-political
character, and done at once, that I could not stand the idea of
returning to my regiment and wasting year after year in show
parade work. Ihad been a very keen soldier when I entered the
service, but in those days in a cavalry regiment more attention
was paid to show than to preparation for war, and it irked me.
My mind was so engrossed with this Russian question—though
even then another and a far greater question was beginning to
formulate itself in my mind—that I could not get away from it
and settle down again to ‘stables’ and parade.

The impulse and the opportunity came with his return to Simla to
prepare the official report of his journey. There, as before, he was
given the run of the secret papers of the Foreign Office, and saturated
his mind on all that concerned Russian policy in Central Asia.

In my youthful innocence I imagined that I should come across
dark, deep-laid plots and cunning devices for combating the
Russians. Instead, I was struck by the frankness and fair-
mindedness of what I read. Secrecy there was, for ‘ open diplo-
macy ’ is a fiction. Even in social life we do not blurt out all
that we have in our mind. But secrecy does not mean dis-
honesty or anything dishonourable. With all your secrecy you
may be perfectly straight. We intended to resist any action of
the Russians which might endanger our position, and we told
them so. But we were not going to plot against them in their
own country.

Sound men were now at the helm of affairs : Lansdowne as Viceroy,
Roberts as Commander-in-Chief, Salisbury as Premier. Before them,
a policy of drift had been replaced by one of irritation ; with them
came a policy which was active but not provocative. The Boundary
Commission was settling the borders between Russia and Afghanistan ;
but the eastern limits of Afghan territory on the Pamirs was not yet
made precise, and there was a debatable no man’s land in the dircction
of Chinese Turkestan. It was through this gap that Captain Gromb-
tchevsky had entered Hunza. Having studied the wholc situation
thoroughly, and the geography and population of the arca in question,
Younghusband felt himself in a position to submit a suggestion to the
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Government, which was that the gap should be closed, and that he
should be sent to investigate the most suitable limits of demarcation.

Grombtchevskys were a nuisance, and must be prevented from
dropping in of their own sweet will upon the peoples inhabiting
valleys on the Indian side of the great main watershed of Central
Asia. We did not want to extend across that watershed ourselves,
but equally we did not want to have Russians coming over it
to our side and talking to the people about a Russian invasion
of India. And our frontier would be all the stronger if Afghan
and Chinese territory were to meet on the far side of it to the
north. They would then be more than a hundred miles from it,
and we did not want them any nearer.

To his joy Government took the same view, and accordingly at the
end of June 1890 he left Simla for Leh and Yarkand, accompanied by
Mr. (afterwards Sir) George Macartney, a fluent Chinese linguist and
a son of Sir Halliday Macartney, Secretary to the Chinese Legation
in London. After a 600 miles’ march across the Karakoram range—
the barren, desolate route he knew—they reached Yarkand on August
31st to find it in the same condition of drowsy changelessness. ‘It
is doubtful, indeed, whether these Central Asian towns ever change.
Their dull mud walls, mud houses, mud mosques, look as if they
would remain the same for ever. In most climates they would, of
course be washed away. . . . As it was in the beginning, is now, and
ever shall be would be a particularly appropriate motto to place over the
gateway of a Central Asian town.” Here, however, he had the great
pleasure of meeting his old friend and rival Captain Grombtchevsky,
“ as full of bonhomie as ever ”’. They exchanged news and compared
notes, dined with each other and with a Turki merchant, and for a
few days made the most of each other’s company.

Younghusband’s explorations in the previous year had extended to
the northern edge of the Pamirs; in this, during the months of
September and October, he traversed the whole of the Pamir region,

1 These two travellers never met again. But in 1924 Younghusband received
a letter from him from Warsaw, enclosing a book he had written on his own
travels and a photograph he had taken of their two parties. He was then a
Licutenant-General but, being a Pole, his property had been confiscated by the
Bolshevists and himself imprisoned in Siberia. Released by the intervention
of a Japanese consul, he had reached Warsaw where he lived in dire poverty and
sickness till his death early in 1926. *It was a sad ending to an adventurous
carcer. The Russians are not so prolific of adventure-loving men that they
can afford to discourage them in this way.”
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which was then practically unknown and was called * The Roof of
the World ”. These journeys were arduous but unexciting. Suc-
cessions of bare and rounded spurs and barren wind-swept valleys at
high levels running between lofty snow-clad mountains—these formed
the nature of the terrain, and he has an interesting account of their
glaciological formation. After a long day’s ride in the Alichur Pamir
and a night spent cold and hungry in a yurt, he and his companion
reached the inscribed Stone near Bash Gumbaz, lettered in Chinese,
Manchu, and Turki, to signalize the expulsion of the Khojas in 1759,
of which he took a rubbing. And he climbed the almost perpendicular
spur above the lake of Rang-kul on which stands the Lamp Rock,
supposed by the natives to be the source of a perpetual light from the
eye of a dragon, which he found to be due to reflection from a white
deposit on the inside wall of a perforated cave. They reached Kashgar
on November 15t and here settled down into winter quarters and for
official conversations with the Chinese authorities. A pleasantly
situated house had been provided on the north side of the old city
with a view of the snowy peaks of the Tian-shan. About it was an
enclosed garden and in this Younghusband pitched a yurt which he
had bought from the Kirghiz on the Pamirs. Roomy and elegantly
decorated inside with screen-work and dados of fine carpeting and
embroidery he found it, when warmed with a stove, a comfortable
abode and personally preferred it to a house.

Of his conversations with Chinese officials in Kashgar the most
interesting were with the Governor and the General, both old men.
The views of the former on European customs were delivered with
that calm, dispassionate air of superiority typical of a Confucian and
an aristocrat. Europeans, he averred, had no soul above mechanical
inventions ; they were not bad at making machines, but their whole
outlook was materialistic. They were always fighting onc another
and were unable to view petty national quarrels with dignity and
equanimity ; their civilization was the product of low-class minds ;
they were strangers to the spirit of lofty contemplation. General
Wang was more human and accessible ; less well educated, but con-
vivial and the soul of hospitality. But it was from his intercourse wiFh
the merchants of many different Asiatic nationalities who traded in
Kashgar that Younghusband learnt most. ““ All were intelligent men
who, in their wanderings, had picked up much useful knowledgc.'
Since their livelihood depended so much upon the current politlcal
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situation they discussed politics constantly and freely, and these dis-
cussions always tended towards speculation on the future of Afghan-
istan. Although they considered that their interests would be better
served under British than under any other rule, they disliked the British
law-system in India, preferring the justice of an individual officer ;
and they feared that, if it came to a trial of strength between the two
great rival powers, the Russians would outmatch the British. Cer-
tainly (as Younghusband could not but silently agree) the Russians
had succeeded in producing a greater impression of strength, partly
because they had subjugated none but weak peoples and partly because
they always consolidated their position when won ; and the incurable
habit of the British of withdrawing without following up a hard-won
advantage, though defensible on grounds both of humanity and of
economy, was in the long run prejudicial to prestige.

The Russians, when they strike, strike very heavily ; and
when they advance they do not go back, as the British generally
find some plausible reason for doing. . . . If we had gone to
Kabul and Kandahar, and remained there, our prestige would
certainly have stood higher than it does now, when it is per-
fectly well known throughout Asia that the Amir of Kabul
practically closes Afghanistan to every Englishman.

It was, however, from the Russian Consul, whom he had met in
1887 after the Gobi Desert journey, that Younghusband had the best
opportunity of “ secing ourselves as others see us”. M. Petrovsky
was well informed concerning industrial conditions in England,
having read our Sweating Committee’s and Factory Legislation
Reports, as well as accounts in our newspapers of frequent strikes by
the underpaid and overworked millions. This he contrasted unfav-
ourably with the peaceful contentment enjoyed by the Russian peasant
under the Czar ! He criticized also the cold and aloof demeanour
of the British towards their native subjects in India. Younghusband
could not but agree that this was true of their relations in cantonments
and offices, but it was not true on active service or field~work or
exploration. M. Petrovsky was contemptuous of the Chinese, whose
administration was corrupt, army inefficient, and empire rotten with
ntrigue. But considering that his acquaintance with China was
limited to Kashgar and its vicinity, and that neither he nor any of his
staff could spcak Chinese (whereas every British Consul must speak
the language), these criticisms lacked weight. “ He was agreeable
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enough company, but a man with whom friendship was impossible,
He had no sense of honour, and did not pretend to have any. He
said frankly that he lied on principle, and thought we were hypocritical
in pretending to be better than we really were. He acknowledged
that we were straight and did not deliberately tell lies, but thought us
fools not to.” When at the end of the winter Younghusband left
Kashgar he did so perforce “ without the pleasure of saying goodbye "
to M. Petrovsky, who had taken offence at an infringement of a trivial
point of etiquette quite unwittingly committed by the British visitor.
“I regretted it all the more because I felt myself indebted to him for
many civilities and kindnesses, for which I should have wished to
show my gratitude.” .

Besides the regular residents in Kashgar, there arrived some European
travellers whose companionship went far to speed the passage of
winter. Among them were the ill-fated French traveller M. Dutreuil
de Rhins, so soon to be murdered in Tibet, and his companion
Mr. Grenard ; and, most notably, a young Swedish traveller named
Dr. Sven Hedin. Younghusband’s tribute reads like the dipping of
his flag in a passing salute, as of one far-travelled explorer to another.

He impressed me as being of the true stamp for exploration—
physically robust, genial, even-tempered, cool and persevering.
He only paid a hurried visit to Kashgar from Russian Turkestan,
but he had already made a remarkable journey in Persia, and
has since travelled much on the Pamirs, in Tibet, and Chinese
Turkestan. [ envied him his linguistic abilities, his knowledge of
scientific subjects, and his artistic accomplishments ; he seemed to
possess cvery qualification of a scientific traveller, added to the
quiet, self-reliant character of his northern ancestors.

Apart from the refreshment of these and other contacts to add to
the interest of his diplomatic work, his spirits were buoyed up during
this winter with the anticipation of a joy which every day brought
nearer. This was the prospect of his return to India—and to Kasauli,
and the fulfilment of his heart’s desire ; and then to furlough in
England to share with his parents this long-trcasured happiness. They
had written to him, now that his carecr was settled, their full approval
to his marriage ; the parents of his intended bride had agreed long
since. There only remained for him the winning of her love, and
this, though she had never definitely promised it, he felt confident
that she would not now deny him. He had waited so long, but with



1891 A DOUBLE BEREAVEMENT I41

steadily mounting assurance ; now, for the last time of asking, she
would surely pledge him her heart and hand.

In his book The Heart of a Continent he allows himself one personal
reference to the bolt that now struck him out of a blue sky: “ At
this time my life was saddened by two of the hardest blows which
can befall a man. Both of them were sudden and unexpected, and
in that far-away land letters from my friends took many months to
reach me, and only came at intervals of weeks together. Ilonged to
be at home again once more, and those at home were needing me only
a little less than I did them.”

On March 28th a dak with the Indian mail brought a letter from
Mrs. Ewart telling him of her daughter’s engagement in December
to another man ; five days later the Russian mail brought news from
home of his mother’s death at the end of January. On so deeply
affectionate a nature the effect of this double blow might well have
been shattering ; he was saved by his fundamental sanity and by his
deepening hold on the realities of the spiritual life. And the bitterness
of the first blow, which touched him alone, was softened by the second
—a larger grief. He could not bring himself to reply to Kasauli for
a fortnight : then in a simple, manful letter he expressed, without
reproach or self-pity, his happiness that his love had found her hap-
piness, his enduring gratitude to both her parents for their many
kindnesses, and his own determination to pull through and make good
in spite of this irreparable loss. To his father he wrote at once in
terms of tenderest affection of his longing to be at hand to help,
comfort and console. No one could ever take the place in his life
of his mother. On the day of her death she had sent him, by his
brother George who was at her bedside, a last message of her unending
love to him, and her blessing on his bride-to-be whom she so much
wished that she had lived to know. She was also heard to murmur,
“I understand the old truths—I can’t understand the new truths.”
There must have been an added poignancy in this for her son, whose
love went unrequited, and for whom, though he too understood them,
the old truths were not enough.

Not for two months did another mail arrive, and this one brought
him permission to return to India at long last. The address bore the
letters C.LE. after his name. “1 did not at first pay any attention,
thinking it a mistake on the part of a clerk.”  But in a newspaper he
found confirmation of this honour, and “ it could not possibly have
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come at a more welcome time . He had long felt disappointed on
receiving no recognition for his services to the Government, and he
knew how much this news would cheer his father—to whom he wrote
at the end of August from the Pamirs : ““ Very many thanks to all of
you for your congratulations. It is very jolly to have a thing of that
sort. By the way, do they give you the actual decoration, or have
you to buy it yourself ? I'have not yet heard anything officially about
it and don’t know whether it is for this journey or the last. That
reminds me too that I have not yet received the Macgregor Medal.”

In the summer there arrived in Kashgar, in an almost destitute con-
dition, a young officer, Lieutenant Davison of the Leinsters, who had
attempted unsuccessfully to cross the Mustagh Pass—without leave,
or maps, or guides, or experience ; having lost all his kit and money
in rivers and having been deserted by his men, he had suffered many
gruelling hardships and adventures, and was eager for more. Admir-
ing his tough tenacity and pluck, Younghusband commandeered him
for the homeward journey across the Pamirs ; and on July 22nd they
set forth, accompanied for a couple of marches by Mr. Macartney,
whose instructions from India were to remain in Kashgar. * There
he remained for the rest of his service, and by sheer ability built up
for us a position which quite overshadowed the Russian.”

On the third day the travellers entered the Gez defile, and thence
ascended the Pamirs. Here news reached them of definite Russian
encroachments : a force of some 400 Cossacks had entered from the
north with orders to annex this territory. Younghusband therefore,
having ascertained their present whereabouts, sent Davison off west-
wards to the Alichur Pamir, and himself proceeded southwards to
Tashkurgan. On August sth he marched up the Tagh-dum-bash
Pamir, at the head of which he found several families of Kirghiz who
had fled before the Russians. On August toth he reached Bozai-
Gumbaz and here found a party of ten Cossacks encamped as guard
over some stores left by the main party of Russians who were away
reconnoitring. ““ So I halted here till their officers returned, as I was
anxious to meet them.”

Threc days later, as I looked out of my tent, I saw some
twenty Cossacks with six officers riding by, and the Russian
standard carried in front. I sent out a servant with my card and
invitation to the officers to come in and have some refreshments.
Some of them came in, and the chief officer was introduced to
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me as Colonel Yonoff. He wore on his breast a white enamel
Maltese cross, which I recognized as the Cross of St. George,
the most coveted Russian decoration, and I at once congratulated
him upon holding so distinguished an order. He was a modest,
quiet-mannered man, and talked litde, but he was evidently
respected by his officers. I gave them some tea and Russian
wine ; and I then told Colonel Yonoff that I had heard rumours
from the natives that he was annexing the Pamirs, that I did not
like to report this to my Government on mere native rumour,
but should like to know from him personally whether this was
the case. He replied that it was. I then asked him if he would
show me on a map the exact extent of the annexation. He
took out a map and showed me, marked in green, a large area
extending right down to our Indian watershed, and including
much of what was not merely debatable, but was clearly cither
Afghan or Chinese territory. I did not discuss the matter with
him. I merely remarked that the Russians were opening their
mouths pretty wide. Whereat he laughed and said that this
was but a beginning. The Russians were quite friendly through-
out and stayed with me for about an hour, asking me to dine
with them that evening.

The dinner, though partaken of in very cramped quarters (seven
men in a small tent squatting round a tablecloth spread on the floor),
was remarkable for its excellence and for its cordiality ; the conversa-
tion was conducted in French; and much useful information was
exchanged between hosts and guest as to the topography of the Pamirs.
At its conclusion Colonel Yonoff proposed the health of the Queen,
and his guest proposed that of the Czar. The Russians expressed
surprise that the British had stationed a representative in Gilgit, but
had none at all in the Chitral. (Two years later, curiously enough,
Younghusband was appointed the first Political Agent there.) It was
well after midnight that the party broke up, and the Colonel and all
the officers escorted their guest back to his tent, half a mile off, parting
with many protestations of friendship. Early next morning they left
for the Alichur Pamir ; whilst Younghusband stayed on, awaiting
Davison’s return.  The sequel is best told in a letter to his father dated
August 21st, from his camp near the Wakhijrui Pass between the
Little and the Tagh-dum-bash Pamirs.

As you will probably have scen in the newspapers before this
rcaches you I have had a serious contretemps and have been
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turned out of Nakhan by the Russians. At Bozai-Gumbaz on
the 17th at 11 o’clock at night, just as I was turning into bed, I
heard the clatter of hoofs outside my tent, and on looking out
I saw in the moonlight 30 Cossacks drawn up outside it with
the Russian standard in front. I sent a servant to ask what they
wanted, and he returned to say that the same Colonel—Yonoff—
who was here before, wished to see me on urgent business. [
dressed as quickly as possible and begged him to come in. He
and his adjutant then came in and said that they had something
very disagreeable to tell me, and gradually let me know that
they had that day, when on the Great Pamir near Lake Victoria,
received orders to escort me out of Russian territory. I said,
“But I am not in Russian territory.” The Colonel replied,
“You may think this Afghan territory, but we consider it
Russian.” I asked him what he would do if I refused to go.
He said, *“ Take you back with us by force.” I then said, *“ Well,
you have 30 Cossacks, and I am alone, so I must do as you wish,
but I act under protest and shall report all the circumstances to
my Government.” The Colonel then said that he hoped I
would excuse him acting as he did, that he only did so under
positive orders from his Government, and that he felt very much
being obliged to behave like this since we had made friends when
we met before. 1 said that I perfectly understood that he was
merely carrying out his orders, and, however distasteful these
were to me, I felt no grudge against him personally. Then
changing the subject I said that they must be very hungry after
their long march and begged them all to stay and have supper
with me. The Colonel then got up, took hold of me, and
thanked me most profusely for the way in which I had taken the
affair. He said that it had been a very disagrecable task for onc
military officer to act like this to another, but he felt it still more
when he found that it was a rcal gentleman whom he had to
treat like this. He said his orders were to escort me to the
frontier, but if I would sign a dcclaration . . . (He then drew
up in French a form of agreement in which it was said that,
acting under the instruction of his Government, he was to cause
me to leave Russian territory, and that I agreed under protest
to do this, and undertook to proceed to Chinese territory by the
Wakhijrui Pass, and not to rcturn by any of a number of passes
which he named. . . .) Having signed this agreement and made
a copy of it, I told Colonel Yonoff that I hoped he would con-
sider that business over, and return to our former friendly
relations, and have supper with me. His baggage was far
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behind and it was now nearly midnight. We accordingly all
sat down to a rough supper ; and the Russian officers afterwards
went off to their own encampment and left me alone once more.
Next morning he sent me a haunch of venison (Ovis poli), and
before I left he came round and begged again and again to be
excused for acting as he had done. Isaid that I had only friendly
feelings towards him, and I hoped that one day I should have the
pleasure of meeting him again under more favourable circum-
stances. I then rode off with my motley little band—all good
men who would, I believe, have gone for the Russians like a shot
if I had given them the word. But what was the use? . . .
This will be a serious matter, though. We have now thoroughly
tested the Russians and found them determinedly aggressive.
In full peace they have broken right through Chinese territory
(disregarding the protests of a heathen Chinee General), invaded
Afghan territory, and turned out an English officer. These
are things which not even a Gladstonian Ministry can overlook,
and I shall await anxiously to see how the Government takes
up this matter. But if full satisfaction is not obtained from
Russia I shall never again serve under the Government in a
political capacity, for working as I do my sole means of carrying
out my duty is the fecling that at my back is the British Govern-
ment, and if that reliance is gone this sort of work is impossible.
To-morrow I shall be at the foot of the Kilik Pass from Kanjut,
which the Russians are still pleased to call Chinese territory.
From there I have discovered a new route for communication
with Gilgit and I shall continue my work in precisely the same
way as I was doing before, till I am recalled by my Government.

P.S. Would you mind sending me any newspaper extracts
which may appcar about this affair. I am anxious to see how
they take it at home.

The result was certainly dramatic.

Thirteen days later Lord Salisbury sent a sharp protest to St.
Petersburg—so sharp, or delivered by Sir Robert Morier in so
masterly a way, that de Gicrs, the Russian Foreign Minister,
thought we meant immediate war. He begged Morier not to
be hasty, but to give the Russian Government time to inquire
into the matter, as they knew nothing about it. Orders for my
arrest had not been issued from St. Petersburg but, if at all, from
the Tashkent Government. . . . I had been instructed by the
Government of India to keep secret the fact that I had been
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arrested so that there might not be excitement in the Press. But
there were rumours that something had happened to me, and
the Press, to be on the safe side, had announced that I had beep
killed. The Russian Ambassador in London apologized to Lord
Salisbury for the illegal action of Colonel Yonoff, and the
Russian Government has since declared in the Pamir Agreement
that Bozai-Gumbaz is beyond the sphere of Russian influence.

Meanwhile his own position was still precarious. The Hunza people
above the Kilik Pass were hostile to the British, and had recently
raided a Kirghiz encampment not far from his own camp ; he took
turns with his native servants to keep watch each night till an escort
arrived from Gilgit for his protection. For six weeks he remained
in this desolate region, over 15,000 feet above sea level, awaiting
Davison’s return, while the temperature dropped to zero. At last,
on October 4th, Davison rejoined him.

Away in the distance down the valley I saw a horseman
approaching dressed in the peaked cap and high boots of the
Russians, and I thought that another Russian was going to honour
me with a visit. This, however, proved to be Davison. He
had been treated in an even more cavalier manner than I had,
and had been marched back to Turkestan. He seemed personally
to have enjoyed the trip ; found the Russian officers very cheery
companions ; and was asked tp dinner by the Russian governor
of Margillan. He was able to do some useful work, too, for they
took him by a road which no British officer had traversed before.
Having thoroughly satisfied themselves, they escorted him to
the Chinese frontier, and then let him go. But he had with
him no passport, and as he came from Russian territory, the
Chinese frontier official naturally took him for a Russian and
wished to stop him. But the want of such a trifle as a passport
was not likely to stop Davison very long, and he and his man
jumped up on their ponies while the Chinese official was voci-
ferating, and galloped off towards Kashgar, scarcely stopping
till they reached the place, where Davison saw the Chinese
officials who had known him before, and explained matters to
them. He then came on to rejoin me. As was the custom
with him, he had travelled with wonderful rapidity, and had
only taken ten days to reach Kukturuk from Kashgar.

The question now was—how to get to India, for Colonel Yonoff
had barred all the known passes; but such a circumstance was not
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likely to stop Younghusband. Adhering honourably to the terms
of his parole he set forth with his companion to discover a new one.
Branching off the main valley to the Wakhijrui Pass he ascended
a tributary glacier from the summit of which, at sunset, he gained
a magnificent mountainous view. It was the watershed between
Turkestan and India north and south on one side, and between Chinese
Turkestan and Russian and Afghan Turkestan east and west on the
other. “ This nook in the mountains was the very Heart of Central
Asia”” Pushing on through the darkness towards the Pamir-i-
Wakhan they encamped at midnight in deep snow, using a few tent-
pegs as fuel for their kettle. Marching down the Pamir next day,
and by-passing Bozai-Gumbaz, they found some Wakhi shepherds
from whom they inquired the whereabouts of a pass.

It is of little use to ask the people straight out, ““ Is there a pass ?
They would, of course, reply, *“ No, there isn’t,” and the conver-
sation would end there. So I used to say that I was going by
a pass to the right of such and such a pass, the latter being some
well-known one. For a long time the men replied, one after
another, that no such pass existed, but at last one man said that
it was a very difficult one. Then I had the clue that there
really was one, and matters after that were comparatively simple.

Two days later, in heavy snow-fall, they reached the foot of the
long-sought-for pass. Rising at five next morning, and finding the
snow-fall harder than ever, *“ the Wakhis said it was quite imprac-
ticable. I told them, however, that I wanted them to come with
me and show me how impracticable it was . . . and this they con-
sented to do without a murmur—that is to say, without a murmur
worth recording in these pages.” They took with them yaks, which
they could sometimes ride, and these animals were invaluable on the
glacier. They knew by instinct where the snow-covered crevasses
would and would not bear their weight ; and by four in the afternoon
they rcached the summit of the narrow pass, through which an icy
blast of wind blew as through a funnel. * Our faces were cut across
in slashes. Most of my face was protected, for I wore a thick beard ;
but Davison had no beard, and suffered very badly. His face did not
recover for wecks after.” They had reached the summit without
serious difficulty, though with great caution ; but the descent on the
Indian side for a thousand fect was extremely rough and steep. The
raging snow-storm obscured all landmarks, and they were suddenly
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brought up on the brink of a precipice. Here they halted till sunset
when the snow cleared, and obtained a view of the valley of the
Karumbar River far below. Having found a route over the edge of
the cliffs they reached a camping-place by the riverside before mid-
night. On October 13th they reached Gilgit, halted for a few days
with Colonel Durand, and then pressed on for Kashmir. They had
one more pass to cross, the Tragbal (11,400 feet), and then the lovely
Vale of Kashmir lay below them. At sunset they reached the still
lakeside and threw themsclves into a luxurious gondola, to be paddled
swiftly and easily over the unruffled water across which shadows from
the mountains were lengthening out.

The sun set in a glow of glory. The snows of the mountain
summits were tinged with ruddy hues, the fleecy clouds over-
head were suffused in ever-changing colours ; then slowly the
peaks in the distant east grew grey, the warm tints faded from
the scene, one by one the stars pierced through the skies, and
night settled down upon the mountains.

At Srinagar he parted from his companion, Lieutenant Davison,
never to see him again. That dauntless and intrepid young officer,
who in a few months had lived more strenuously than most sportsmen
do in years, died two years later of enteric fever in the heart of the
Himalayas.

He had all the makings of a great explorer ; he had unsur-
passable encrgy, what one might call blind pluck, for nothing
to him was dangerous, and he had an incxhaustible enthusxa§m
for travel. I may add that, though few of us who knew him
suspected him of it, papers written by him, and found among his
effects, showed that he thought very seriously upon many subjects
not generally supposed to engage the attention of so young an
officer as he was, and his loss must be deplored by all who can
admire true manliness and resolution.

From Srinagar Younghusband wrotc on November 8th to his

father :

The Viceroy arrived here a few days ago, and I have scen 2
good deal of him since. On the day he arrived he asked me
to dinner. We talked a good deal at dinner, and after the other
guests had left, he asked me into his private study. He began
by saying he thought the way I had reccived the Russians when
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they came to turn me out was ““ most dignified ', and that he
had never heard anyone express any other opinion. He asked
me a good deal about the frontier and what the Russians really
could do there, and was immensely struck by a statement I made
that it was as far from the nearest Russian cantonment to the
Hindu Kush as from Rawal Pindi to Gilgit. He said matters
now were really out of his hands and in the hands of the F.O.
at home, but he wanted to hear and send home all I had to say
on the subject.—I have the greatest possible admiration for him
and everybody out here swears by him. Sir Mortimer Durand
says he is the best Viceroy we have had for a very long time and
I always think he is a second Dalhousie. A very straight English
gentleman and far away the most capable man I have come across
—a very hard worker but never appearing overworked—always
clear—and the sort of man anyone would feel bound to respect.

The Russians sent a very rudely worded reply, but are
climbing down a good deal. Government however are not yet
satisfied and are going to tell them so. Don’t mention any-
thing about this. I was hoping to escape writing any more
but they have asked me to write a final report and give suggestions.
I wrote tons of suggestions and wrote from the Pamirs till I was
silly, but they seem to like seeing fellows spoiling good paper.
The Chief [Roberts] has asked to see me, so I am going to Quetta
to meet him and General Brackenbury the Military Member
of Council. On the way I hope to see Romer [his cousin] at
Dera Ghazi, get to Quetta on the 24th—seeing all the defences
there, go down to Karachi and see James who is Commissioner
of Sind now, leave Karachi by Hall line December 4th and reach
home I hope by Christmas Eve.

The Commander-in-Chief was equally cordial. He was staying
with Sir George White, then commanding the Quetta Division. The
train being late, Younghusband arrived in the middle of dinner in
full-dress uniform, looking, said Lady Roberts, much too civilized
for an explorer.

Next day he invited me into his saloon in the train, which
was going to the opening of the Khojak tunnel leading into
Afghanistan ; and there I told him all that had occurred. I
was surprised to find how very seriously he took it. He had
mobilized the Quetta Division and, the tunnel being completed
in the nick of time and all the material for the continuation of
the railway to Kandahar being collected on the Afghan side,

S.F.Y, L
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he was quite prepared to go ahead. As I left he squeezed my
arm in that way he had of pressing a point home, and said :
“ Now’s the time to go for the Russians. We are ready and
they are not. Keep the Government up to the mark.”

Arrived in England he reported by appointment to the Secretary of
State for India, Lord Cross, at the India Office.

He took only a perfunctory interest in the case, and could
not think of much else to ask me except if it was not very cold
up there on the Roof of the World.

The Under Secretary was, however, very different. He
engaged me in a long and real conversation. That is, he did not
merely ask questions but gave forth his own views. He knew
the whole subject well, and was keenly interested in it. No
one else I had met—not even in India—was so well informed
and so enthusiastic. And he was young and fresh and very alert
and able. His name was George Curzon ; and this was s first
appointment. My meeting with him then was the beginning
of a friendship which lasted for thirty-four years, till his death.

The upshot of this whole incident was an apology from Russia,
and the agreed establishment of a boundary on the Pamirs. “ The
Russians established a fortified post there in a most desolate region ;
and from that time to this, thirty-five years, there has not been a
single other Russian incursion.” Baulked of any further advance to
the south, the Russians moved eastwards, built the Trans-Siberian
Railway and commenced absorbing Manchuria, till stopped by Japan.
“ They moved from the inherent tendency of strong peoples to
expand until they come up against something solid. . . . Our policy
of active watchfulness and readiness to oppose aggression had provided
this.”’

During his three months’ leave at home, Younghusband again dis-
cussed with his father his project to leave the service and devote his
life to the conduct of a spiritual campaign, not as an official of any
organized church, but in some as yet undefined way. Events on the
Frontier, however, supervened, of a nature which in his father’s cycs
and in his own demanded his return to his immediate post of duty, an'd
caused him to postponc that project for many years. It was not till
his old age that he wrote in a note-book :

Perhaps it was largely through sorrows and disappointments
—through being forced down to the depths of myself and thus
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made more sensitive and capable of sympathy—that I was able
to see deeper into things. But this deeper insight was also due
to my being keyed up by great enterprises to the highest pitch.
In face of constant danger I was strung up to be at my alertest ;
and from having to lead men—be dependent on them and feel
them dependent on me—I had to know them, sympathize with
their religion, attach them to my enterprise. And it was from
this, as well as from book study, that I was able eventually to
realize my desire and gain a satisfying conception of things.

All the hardships and sufferings I had had to go through may
have hardened me outwardly, but they had also sensitized me
within. Though I had to keep a steady hold of myself in face
of the imminent dangers with which I was beset, and appeared
very stolid and composed and unmovable, I was at heart exceed-
ingly alive and impressionable. And as I made a point of
searching for men of religion wherever I went and discussing
their religion with them, whatever it might be, I was constantly
keeping my inner soul alive. On all my journeys and in the
midst of all my official duties I was constantly keeping before
me that vision of a higher state of the spirit which is common
to all religious men. I was inwardly setting my affections on
things above. Looking back now over the many and varied
experiences of my life, I have come to the quite definite con-
clusion that this is the supremely important thing. It is an
actual experience here and now of that Kingdom of God which
we are directed to seek first and above all else.



Chapter XIII

MISSION TO CHITRAL

UDGED as literature, The Heart of a Continent is probably the best

of Sir Francis’ many books. Based upon his diaries and the

official reports of his journeys, it is a personal record which covers

in a continuous and fascinatingly readable form, the decade of
his most strenuous physical activity—from 1884 to 1894. As such,
it ranks very high among the classic records of the great explorers, in
desert and in mountain, from the torrid to the frigid zones.

The last chapters, which deal with his tactful handling of a dangerous
situation in two remote Himalayan States, reveal him as an imperialist.
He accepted in principle the right and the responsibility of a humane
and civilized Great Power to the exercise of a benevolent tutelage
over primitive races, which might otherwise be the victims of internal
dissension or of external aggression, and so become danger-points
threatening international peace. During his short winter leave in
England the Government of India had launched a punitive expedition,
under the brilliant direction of Colonel A. G. Durand, against the
State of Hunza, whose chief, Safder Ali, had been deaf to admonitions
to end his terrorist raids upon peaceful nomadic tribes in the valleys.
In the result, his territory had not been annexed by the British, who
had merely deposed him and nominated his successor in native law ;
no single native custom had been prohibited—unless raiding be called
such ; and when Younghusband revisited that State eight months
later to recruit levies for the Chitral campaign, he found its inhabitants
not only peaceful, happy, law-abiding and loyal to the British, but
actually eager to be of service, “ as if they had been born and bred
under British administration ”. His comments must be quoted :

As 1 have already intimated, these people had no rooted anti-
pathy to the British Government, and they form a remarkable
instance of the good effects which come of following up a suc-
cessful campaign by assuming a permanent control. Had we
given these people a hard knock and then retired, as we 0
frequently do, they would like children have forgotten their
lesson, and in a few years would have committed some act of

152
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folly which would have necessitated another invasion of their
country, and bad feeling would gradually have grown up
between us and them, as it has in Afghanistan, although the
Afghans were originally well disposed towards us. The theory
that if troops are entirely withdrawn after a campaign and the
people left quite independent, they would be more friendly, is
not to be trusted. It sounds well, but is not borne out by facts.
There are other ways of preserving such amount of independence
as a semi-barbarous State situated between two great civilized
Powers can have.

Nevertheless, it was also his considered opinion that this minor
campaign against the Hunzas need never have taken place. Preven-
tion is always better than cure, but no preventive measures had been
taken by the Government of India. Since his own visit to Hunza in
1889 no other officer had been sent there. Personal contact with the
chief and his people had not been kept; official notes had been
exchanged, but that wasall.  *“ I think that if Manners-Smith (a young
officer of the Gurkha Regiment, who aftcrwards won the V.C. in that
campaign and was on that frontier since 1889) had been sent to Hunza
—and sent pretty often—he would have been able to keep the Chief
straight enough for all practical purposes.” The dilatory and ponder-
ous methods of officialdom, the policy of indeterminate drift, the
impersonal habit of communication—these things were anathema to
Younghusband and, as will be seen, were the cause of his dissatisfaction
with Government later on, and of Government’s dissatisfaction with
him.

Meanwhile, on his return to India in the spring of 1892, he was first
posted as Assistant Resident in Kashmir, and then in August sent to
Hunza as Political Officer.  Nothing could be more congenial. He
was mct a fcw miles from the capital with duc ceremony by the new
ruler, Mohammed Nazim, attended by all his principal men, by whom
he was grected almost like an old friend. His tent was pitched in an
apricot-orchard, on a cool grassy plot at the end of a spur which gave
a view down the valley of mountain pcaks of upwards of 23,000 feet.
The situation was romantic, the people were both virile and attractive,
lovers of dancing and music, and especially of polo. They felt kindly
towards him as the representative of a Power which gave them both
independence and protection.

Even from the point of view of picturesqueness, it would be
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a thousand pities to destroy the freedom of these mountain
peoples; to break up those primitive courts where the ruler
meets his people face to face, and knows each man among them
as they know him ; and to wither their simple customs, as the
grass is withered by frost, by introducing the cold systems of
British administration, the iron rules and regulations, and all
the machinery of an empire into this little State. But when
Government can see that the ruler is ready to help them when
aid from him is required ; when they see that their ruler recog-
nizes how essential it is to his existence as ruler that he should
have dealings with no other than the British ; when they note
that he governs his people without oppression ; when ruler and
people realize that Government has no wish to destroy their
independence or to interfere with their customs—then it is evident
that satisfactory relations have been established, and far better
than if the country were governed directly.

What these rough hill-men like above everything else is being
ruled by their own rulers—that is, by members of their own
reigning families—and having their customs kept up without
innovation. In Hunza they are now ruled by a member of a
family which has sat on the throne for as long as their tradition
goes back, and not by the murderer who brought their country
into trouble, but by another son of the murdered father, by a
man liked and respected by them.

The sole way in which the independence of little buffer-states like
Hunza can be said to be interfered with, is in the direction of their
foreign policy. But this by no means diminishes their dignity or
their ultimate cssential independence. It results in the relationship of
mutual aid based on an alliance, rather than on the pupilage of depend-
ence. Younghusband illustrates his point from the history of British
rule in India: the Sikh State of Patiala from the first assisted the
British Government, “ and there is now not even a British Resident
in it”. It was exactly the opposite in the case of Lahore.

Whilst he was engaged in building rough quarters for the troops
and himself for the winter, and converting old matchlocks into hocs
and spades—* turning swords into ploughshares and raiders into
levies —a letter from Colonel Durand informed him that the Mchtar
(Chief) of Chitral had been murdered, and required his return at once
to Gilgit with twenty-five levies. * On the fronticr * at once’ means
at once.” Within two hours Younghusband, having packed, handed



1893 PERSONNEL OF THE MISSION 155

over to Lieutenant Gurdon, and requested the Chief for twenty-five
levies (though he was offered any number up to two hundred), had
started on his 65-mile ride, and arrived in Gilgit at one o’clock at night.
By ten o'clock the next night the Hunza Jevies had arrived also.
“ They had traversed the same distance on foot in 36 hours, starting
on the war-path at a moment’s notice. And these were the men that
not a year before had been fighting against us !”

It transpired that on the death of the old Mehtar a scramble for the
throne had ensued between three of his seventeen sons, one of whom,
Afzul-ul-Mulk, who immediately claimed it, had been murdered by
his half-brother Sher Afzul, who usurped it, and against whom the
eldest son and rightful heir Nizam-ul-Mulk, then in Gilgit, had
appealed to Colonel Durand, who at once responded and caused him
to be instated. On 1st January 1893, a mission consisting of Surgeon-
Major (afterwards Sir George) Robertson, Captain Younghusband,
Lieutenant (afterwards Brigadier-General) the Hon. C. G. Bruce, and
Lieutenant John Gordon, with an escort of fifty Sikhs, was despatched
to Chitral to effect a permanent settlement. To reach it they had to
cross the Shandur Pass (12,000 feet) in midwinter ; a few suffered
frostbites, * and these Bruce at once tackled, rubbing the men’s feet
till they said they would much rather have the frostbite than the
rubbing.” It was during these marches that Bruce first suggested to
Younghusband the climbing of Mount Everest, “ but my mind was
so absorbed with the business in hand that I did not pay much attention
to it at the time ”.

Arrived in Chitral they were met in state by the new Mehtar, “a
handsome man of about thirty-four years of age, very European in
appearance, intelligent, and well-mannered ; of medium height,
thick-set, and strong”. Younghusband’s first impressions of the
Chitralis, however, were not so favourable ; in contrast with the
Hunzas they seemed a gloomy and depressed people; but closer
acquaintance with them caused him to revise that impression. Nor
were the first few months in the capital very enlivening. *“ We lived
in a native house, without windows or chimneys, and with only a
hole in the roof by which to let in the light (and the snow and the
cold), and to let out the smoke (and the heat) of a fire on the floor.”
But with the coming of spring—the young green in the corn-fields,
the clothing of poplar, plane, and willow, the clouds of blossom in the
orchards, the gemming of the riversides with purple primulas, crocuses,
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and crimson tulips—all this was changed ; the snow suddenly melted,
and there was a sudden burn in the sun ; the people lost their gloomy
winter looks and betook themselves cheerfully to their out-door
tasks ; and Bruce initiated Younghusband for the first time into the
craft of mountaineering with orthodox Alpine appliances.

The choice of Dr. Robertson to lead the mission was sound : he
had seen previous service in Chitral and, to judge both from his record
and from his despatches to Government, he was a man of great
capacity. On April 3rd he wrote : “ We seem to be living on the
edge of a volcano . . . the atmosphere of Chitral is one of conspiracy
and intrigue.” (In fact, but for the presence of British officers and
their escort in the capital, for some weeks the life of Nizam-ul-Mulk
would not have been worth a moment’s purchase.) But on May 12th
he was able to report a great improvement in the situation, and on
the 18th that “ there is profound quiet everywhere . At the end of
this month he had ““effected a settlement” and was recalled with
Lieutenant Bruce to Gilgit, leaving Younghusband in charge at Chitral
with Lieutenant Gordon and the Sikhs. In a final report from Gilgit
Dr. Robertson wrote on June 6th :

There is now no reasonable risk in officers living in Chitral if
propetly protected ; any sudden withdrawal of my whole party
would create such a feeling of insecurity that it would probably
be impossible for the Mehtar to maintain his authority, even if it
did not impel him to leave Chitral altogether. . . . The mission
returned with no escort, unless Mr. Bruce’s four Gurkhas may
be so denominated. . . . A district in the heart of British India
could not appear more peaceful and quiet.

In forwarding these despatches to the Secretary of Statc for India
on July rith Government stated :

. . . It may be found possible herecafter to replace Captain
Younghusband by a Native official, but for the present such an
arrangement would fail to give the Mchtar necessary support
and protection. . . . We have therefore decided that Captain
Younghusband shall remain in the State at the present, though
not necessarily at the capital itself. Colonel Durand has proposed
that he should take up his headquarters at Mastuj, which, though
within 63 miles of Chitral, which on emergency he could reach
in a day, would be only 45 miles from our proposed frontier post
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at Ghizur. We shall make it clearly understood that Captain
Younghusband is not expected to coerce the Mehtar in any way,
or to interfere with the internal affairs of the State ; but that he
is deputed merely for the purpose of supplying us with trust-
worthy information, and of giving to the Mehtar that encourage-
ment which the presence of a British officer within Chitral limits
cannot fail to afford.

It was added that, to safeguard any Political Agent in Chitral, the
retention of strong posts from Gilgit would be necessary, and the
permanent addition of a Bengal infantry battalion as a garrison in
Gilgit. To this proposal the Secretary of State for India responded
on September 1Ist :

In determining our future policy towards Chitral a wider view
must be taken. . .. It seems to me therefore premature to
decide now on permanent political and military arrangements
for this frontier. In the meantime I can only sanction the
retention of Captain Younghusband as a temporary measure.
I quite approve of the line of action which you lay down for
him, but in regard to the subsidiary measures which you propose

I think that they should be reduced to what is absolutely
necessary for securing his present safety, and for keeping open
his communications with Gilgit.

Thus matters remained for some time, and there is no evidence in
these official exchanges of any difference of opinion between Young-
husband and his superior officers. But that such existed may be
gathered in a vehement letter which he wrote to his father from the
capital on August 14th. His opinion was that he could best serve the
interests of Government by remaining where he was and continuing
to cultivate the friendship of the Mehtar and his nobles, that half-
measures were uscless for the permanent pacification of so disturbed
a State, and that even the appearance of a withdrawal would be fatal
to our prestige as had so often been proved in the past. With these
opinions it is evident that Dr. Robertson did not agree. In the event
they were only too tragically justified. In this, as in other matters,
Younghusband’s ideas were in advance of their time. Meanwhile, his
letter to his father displays unusual heat.

I am declighted to sce in the Peshawar Confidential Diarz
(compiled from native sources) that * Capt. Y. has gained muc
popularity in Chitral.” This indirect evidence will be a great
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thing in my favour. The same diary says that if I had not been
left here the country would have been in a state of anarchy and
the Mechtar murdered. So if I can pull the country through
this summer, with all the dangers that have threatened, without
a disaster—that will be proof enough whether I am or not such
a fool as Robertson is telling Govt. that I am. I have tried all
along to do it without calling up aid. At one scare the Mehtar
asked me for troops, but I refused. 1don’t believe it is necessary
and unless it is absolutely necessary I would never call up troops
because it means so much disturbance and trouble to the people
in supplying food and transport and in the long run it reacts on
us. Besides this, bearing a confident front in the midst of these
periodic panics—when the people see as they have done now that
that confident front was justified—gives them an immense idea
of the invisible power we wield, and increases our influence in
a way that moving up troops could never do. I tell you, Father,
I will carry this country through and will force Govt. to acknow-
ledge that I have done them a service worthy of recognition. I
will compel them to if they don’t cancel those criticisms which
Robertson has passed on me. My blood is up now and nothing
shall prevent me carrying things before me. What Govt. like
is to be served by clever fools—fools who are clever enough to
twist Govt. about till they convince them that the foolish things
they do are just the very things Govt. most want. But I shall
have none of this, and I shall go straight in and make them
acknowledge that the work I have doneis good and sound. It is
impossible to work if I feel that Govt. have not confidence in me,
and if they have not, why I must force them to have it, that’s all.

Despite the frequency of alarms and the ever-present imminence of
excursions, life in Chitral was very pleasant in the summer. There
was leisure for intensive reading : biology, physiography, astronomy,
sociology, biography, poetry ; it was in this solitude and among tl}cse
scenes that Younghusband laid the foundations of a liberal education.
As an offset to these intellectual exercises he would play polo with
the natives, ride, walk, and climb.  For short sharp exercise [ used
to rush up the steep mountain side. At Mastuj I climbed 4037 feet
in one hour and 33 minutes.” The Mchtar, though a weak character,

was

an agreeable companion, with a passionate devotion to sport.

We always played polo together on the same side and alW]aYS
won, because he chose the teams. He was also an excellent shot
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and devoted to hawking. Indeed, he and his nobles always went
about with hawks on their wrists which added greatly to the
attractiveness of their appearance. But he knew that his position
was precarious. And his own idea of strengthening it was by
having noble after noble assassinated. This I knew would never
do. So one day when he said to me how sad it was that a
certain noble had died the previous night, I replied, * Yes, it is
most sad, and I have noticed that the rate of mortality among the
aristocracy has been rapidly rising ; the Government of India
would be sure to notice it too and be asking me to enquire into
its cause.” He took the hint. And life insurance companies
would again have been able to do business with the nobles of

Chitral.

All the Chitralis, including the Mehtar, were illiterate and when
they came to visit him—as they did three or four times a week—and
carpets were spread and delicacies provided for their refreshment
under the great plane trees in his garden, Younghusband would often
interest them by means of illustrated papers and get them to converse
upon the various subjects thus suggested. The Mehtar especially had
a quick apprehension and an insatiable curiosity : inventions so dis-
similar as an egg-incubator and a collapsible boat won his instant
admiration and desire to possess them. Younghusband valued and
enjoyed these visits because of the Mehtar’s livcly appreciation, and
also because he would encourage his nobles and even his retainers to
take part in the discussions. He would draw out his guests to dis-
course of their travels abroad.

The Mehtar had been to Calcutta, but complained that when
he came back no one would believe the stories he told them.
His old father, Aman-ul-Mulk, had believed him up to a certain
point ; he had belicved about the railway and the telegraph,
for he thought it possible that men who could make rifles as the
English did, might also be able to invent some arrangements for
sending men and messages rapidly along; but when his son
told him that they made ice in the hot weather, he said he could
not possibly belicve that, for only God could do such a thing.
He said he drew the line there, and told his son that he need not
tell him any more of his stories !

In The Heart of a Continent Younghusband has given a very full
and informative account of the manners and customs of the Chitralis,
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their system of administration, their court of advisers, and their general
council. Theoretically the Mehtar is an absolute monarch, but in
practice he defers to his council at frequent durbars and to the wishes

of his people. Space forbids any summary of this interesting theme,
but the following observation must be quoted :

The system has many good points, the chief of which is that
the ruler and people see each other face to face, and know each
other man to man. An ebb and flow of men from the provinces
to the capital is thus set up (by means of the durbars), and every
man of note becomes intimately acquainted with the Mehtar
and the Mehtar with him, and the greater part of the lower classes
also come to know their ruler personally. . . . I found, indeed,
that Nizam-ul-Mulk knew the name, the personal history, and
the character of nearly every man in his country. Since he was
a small boy he had attended his father’s durbars. This personal
intimacy between the ruler and the ruled, and the method by
which he administers justice and governs his country face to
face with his people, and not by deputy and by paper, are really

good points in the system of government in Chitral.

In the autumn of this year Younghusband went—unarmed and
without any escort—on a tour of the country with the Mehtar and
his retinue. Every evening the Mehtar would come over with his
nobles in waiting to the British officer’s tent *“ and talk till midnight
on every conceivable subject ; for being unable to read they acquired
all their knowledge from man to man.” Younghusband was himself
entranced by the glory of autumn in Chitral : the apricot trees glow-
ing with every tint of red and the planes ablaze with golden yellow,
and every day dawning with a cloudless sky of the bluest blue. One
day, when out riding, he remarked to the Mchtar on the beauty of
the autumn tints. *“He looked surprised. Then, turning his eyes on
the valley, he said : * Yes, it is beautiful. But we had never thought
of this before. We had always looked upon the spring as beautiful,
but never the autumn.” He was quite delighted and laughed and
pointed it out to his nobles.” In other respects, he cxhibited the light-
heartedness of a boy.

He would have liked me to give him whisky, and was not
above asking for it. But he and his pcople were Moslems, and
however popular I might become by giving him whisky, 1
knew his people would resent my doing so, so I gave him sherbet
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instead. And he liked a little essence of peppermint in it to give
it anip. But for the unfortunate nobles he would give a double
dose, and roar with laughter as the tears streamed down their faces.

As to the people, they were less grave than the people of Hunza.
They loved singing and dancing, story-telling and acting. Their
stories—mostly about horrible murders and bloodshed in various
forms—would be told with the most dramatic gestures. They
had stock dramas handed down from generations. But they
would also compose new ones. And the ‘ production’ was no
very elaborate business. There was no stage. The audience
squatted on the ground in some garden or the village street.
And the actors rose from among them, performed their parts,
and sat down again. All was deliciously informal, spontaneous,
and intimate.

It is impossible to read Younghusband’s description of life in Chitral
as published, and also unpublished (from which these extracts are
taken), without feeling convinced that if he had been left there to
pursue his task in his own way, he would have succeeded in his main
purpose : to secure the position of the Mehtar, and to unite his people,
at the same time winning their loyal adherence to the British cause.
But in the winter he was removed—not without protests on his own
part—to Mastuj where he was out of direct touch with the Mehtar,
and before his influence had had time to mature. The Mehtar too
appealed for his retention in the capital, but in vain. From Mastuj,
however, he continued to advocate a more active policy in Chitral,
and it would appear that some of his recommendations at least were
heeded. On 12th June 1894, a despatch from the Government to the
Secretary of State for India contains the following :

We have received several reports giving the views of the local
officers on matters connected with our policy in and on the
borders of Chitral, and the whole question has been again con-
sidered. The recommendations of Colonel Bruce show that
local officers advocate a policy of activity which we are not
prepared to support . . . but the consideration to which in our
opinion much weight must be attached is that, as noted by
Captain  Younghusband, immediate withdrawal from Chitral
would deprive us of the best means we possess of watching events
on the Hindu Kush fronticr. The negotiations with Russia still
continue. . . . [Mention is next made of a possible threat to
Chitral by the Pathan chief, Umra Khan.]
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The papers now forwarded include certain proposals as to the
training of Chitral levies. During a recent short visit to the
Mehtar’s capital, Captain Younghusband made temporary
arrangements for giving instruction in musketry to selected
bodies of Chitralis. To this we have raised no objection, but
we are not at present prepared to go further.

To this the Secretary of State for India replied on August 3rd :

Perusal of Captain Younghusband’s interesting reports has
satisfied me that the policy adopted last year, under Lord
Kimberley’s instructions, has so far been successful. The des-
patch of the mission and the retention of Captain Younghusband
as Political Agent in Chitral have had the effect of ameliorating
the conditions of government in that country, and of giving
increased stability and popularity to the rule of the Mehtar,
and at the same time have strengthened the ties by which he is
bound to the British Government. . . .

I approve also of your decided rejection of the proposals for
establishing a political officer and an escort in Yasin and for
opening up the road between Peshawar and Chitral, but Captain
Younghusband’s more moderate suggestions for transferring his
own headquarters from Mastuj to Chitral, and for removing to
Mastuj the detachment now posted at Ghizr, seem to me to be
supported by weighty reasons and to deserve consideration.

Younghusband’s moderate suggestions were, however, adopted too
late. He had pointed out again and again to the Government, which
was anxious for his safety, that at Mastuj he was practically in as much
danger as at Chitral, and that from that place he could not foresee
trouble so well or forestall it so casily. Sir Henry Fowler, then
Secretary of State for India, had seen this point and agreed with it.
But the Government of India delayed too long in giving it effect,
and when, early in March 1895, the trouble broke out which neces-
sitated the Chitral Campaign, Younghusband had been replaced and
had returned to England.

It is impossible also to rcad the prolific official correspondence
between Calcutta and London (from which abbreviated extracts have
been quoted above) without feeling the exasperation which a zealous
frontier officer—eager for prompt decision and decisive action—must
have felt at the procrastinations and hesitations involved by this pondcY-
ous and slow-moving machinery. What was the usc of telegraphic
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communication, when matters were critical and affairs were urgent,
if it was not used 2 And to add to these annoyances was the fact that,
erigaged as he was in a task demanding all his vigilance and all his
thought at every minute of the day, he was at the same time, all the
time he was in Chitral, being “ pestered by Government to pass
examinations "—in the Indian Penal and Criminal Codes, Political
Economy, and Indian History. Until he did so he could expect no
permanent position.

Even when I did pass them I was put at the very bottom of the
list. All the service I had done on my Missions in the Political
Department counted for nothing in comparison with examina-
tions. I made no complaint—perhaps I ought to have—but
from this, and from finding that I had very little say in frontier
matters, I took less interest in them. Government gave the
impression that they could get on perfectly well without me.
And that being so, I felt no call upon me to remain in their
service. Whereas I did feel a very strong call indeed in another
dircction, to which I have already referred.

He is by no means the first far-sighted practical individualist, in this
or in any other profession, who has been repelled by the dilatory and
impersonal methods of officialdom.

But in October of 1894 he was cheered by the arrival of a very
welcome visitor. This was Mr. George Curzon, with whom he had
corresponded and who, his party being then out of office, was touring
Hunza, the Pamirs, and Chitral. Here at last was a congenial friend,
as well as one whose views on British policy entirely coincided with
his own. In a posthumously published book Lord Curzon referred
to this visit, and averred that the best drink he ever had in his life was

the bottle of beer which Younghusband sent to him on his way to
Mastuj.

But I have no recollection of having sent him this beer.  What
I do remember is that the next morning, when I was offering
him somc jam at breakfast, he said, ““ I'll bet this is your last pot
of jam.” T replied that as a matter of fact it was. He then
banged the table and said, *“ Therc itis ! Always on the frontier
the guest finds the last of the best things produced for him !”

It is a tributc to Younghusband’s psychological insight that he saw
at once beneath the superior airs and arrogant mannerisms of the future
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Viceroy into his real character, and the friendship which he formed
with this extraordinary and brilliant statesman was cemented in years
to come, when greater issues than the future of Chitral were at stake,
For this reason his impressions of his guest are of interest.

Lord Curzon was then both a pleasure and a trial. He was
perpetually discussing frontier policy, which was agreeable;
but he was continually disagreeing with me, which was irritating.
I did not discover till later that he was writing a series of letters
to The Times, and that he was all the time forcing my views out
of me. When he showed me the draft of the letter about Chitral
which he had written, I found that it was entirely in accordance
with my own views.

All the same, Curzon did have an argumentative turn of mind
—I suppose it was the House of Commons debating habit—
and it jarred on us up there on the frontier. We were most
of us young men, and we were in responsible positions. We
formed and expressed our opinions upon what was life or death
for us personally in a quieter way than is usual in Parliament
or at elections, where ability to talk and argue is the first
consideration. And we resented Curzon’s cocksureness. His
manner grated on us on the frontier, as all through his life it
grated on the British public. It might have been toned down
if he could have been for a time with a regiment or served on the
frontier. . . . But irritating though this manner was, it was
yet compatible with remarkable tenderness of heart. In friend-
ship he was warm and staunch. And for frontier officers he
had a special affection. Soldiers in general he pever understood
or liked. But to frontier officers he always opened his heart,
and all of us—and most certainly I—should be everlastingly
grateful for the interest he took in our work and the way he
supported us.

Together they rode down to the capital and were given by Nizam-
ul-Mulk * the warmest possible welcome ”. They played polo and
dined together, and the Mehtar rode out with them for several miles
to say goodbye. It was the last they saw of him. Less than three
months later this attractive young ruler was murdered by his ha_lf-
brother and his country plunged in war—a tragedy and disaster which
might have been averted if Younghusband’s proposals had been
adopted in time. He was himself in England then, having been
replaced by Lieutenant B. E. M. Gurdon, who happened to be in
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the capital when the murder occurred ““ and with great tact and cool-
ness had held his own ™.

Younghusband reached home in December, intending once again
to leave Government service, and spent a happy Christmas with his
father. On New Year’s Day 1895 he began the writing of his “ book
of travels ”” as he called it, but found little time in the whirlpool of
civilization. On February 23rd he took stock of his position :

My real work does not lie in England at present. - My réle
is to explore—to keep close to Nature : this always brings out
the best in me; return home at intervals to record results ;
and to study scicnce, especially nature and human nature—from
people rather than from books. All this with the aim of fitting
myself to my future life’s work, namely, to the cause of a really
living religion.

But a month later came news of the disaster to British arms in
Chitral. In reply to his offer to return at once to duty, the Govern-
ment cabled on March 2 sth that his services were not required immedi-
ately. Next day came a telegram from The Times requesting his
services as Special Correspondent in Chitral. To this he replied in
person accepting the offer if Government gave permission. The
Times cabled in this sense, but Government refused on the ground that
Captain  Younghusband was still their political agent in Chitral.
“This I took to be final,” but not so Mr. Moberly Bell, who cabled
again. On the 29th Younghusband packed his kit and left for India
“in anticipation”. At Brindisi he received a cable withdrawing
objection on the understanding that it might be impossible for Govern-
ment to employ him hereafter in Chitral.  In the Red Sea on April 7th

he confided again to his diary :

Not four months ago I left thinking I would never return.
What cxactly arc the rcasons for this change in my feelings ?
Fronticr work is a good and noble work—why ? Because it is
nothing clsc than the spreading of our civilization to these wild
tribes, and the essence of our civilization is the Christian religion :
to infusc into them the nett result to date of Christianity in
practice ; this has an appeal better than any declamations from
the pulpit. I have felt that I should be on the spot during this
crisis to help, and also—and this not least—to gather from our
officers there something of that grand spirit of loyalty, self-denial
and devotion, which they always show on such a campaign,

5.P.Y. M
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and which though always present is only then apparent to an
observer.

We should interfere with the independence of these people as
little as possible, but we must continue to control them in
accordance with Christian ideals. This is true missionary work ;
and this is the work I now definitely set my hand to.

A few days later he was with his brother George (then a Captain
in the Guides) in the Swat Valley. Surgeon-Major Robertson and
his escort of 400 men were besieged by Umra Khan in the Chitral
fort, and the relief force was already on the way. Younghusband’s
own part in the affair was limited to a dash ahead of the relief force
into the besieged fort. His sole companion was Major ‘ Roddy’
Owen—" the man I came most to admire of all I have met in my life.
He was a sportsman of the truest type. The best gentleman-rider of
his day, he was utterly fearless, with a perfect physique, the eyes of a
hawk, irresistible charm, direct speech, decisive act : he was the soul
of honour. Courtesy to all, cordiality to most, friendship for the
chosen—was the way of Roddy Owen.”

When the Relief Expedition had crossed the Lowari Pass,
10,400 feet, and was forty-four miles from Chitral, I suggested
to Roddy that we should ride on ahead straight through to
Chitral in one day. He jumped at the idea. But we did not
ask the General’s permission, and he afterwards told us it was
well we did not, for he would not have givenit. . . . Atdawn
we slipped past the sentries. We soon came upon a small
gathering of Chitralis. Whether they would shoot at us or be
friendly I could not say, but we rode straight in among them,
and luckily found them quite meek. They wrung their hands
like children when I asked them why they had to be so silly as
to rise against us, and devoutly wished they had not been so
foolish. Passing on, we came to Drosh Fort, the residence of a
Chitrali governor. I sent a Chitrali in to say that Younghusband
Sahib was outside and wished to speak to him. He came out as
mild as a lamb, and gave us ponies and a guide for Chitral. By
dusk we reached the besieged garrison without mishap.

They found the officers occupying the same house in which Young-
husband had himself been quartered for scveral months, and in which
he and Curzon had entertained the late Mehtar in the previous October.
These officers, who had conducted the campaign and the defence of
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the fort with the greatest possible gallantry, received them with open
arms. Pale and worn and thin, but overflowing with good cheer,
they produced a bottle of brandy from the medical stores and a plum-
pudding which had just arrived, to celebrate the occasion with their
two visitors. They were as yet unaware of the honours that awaited
them. The record of their exploits and of those of their colleagues
is told in Younghusband’s Relief of Chitral which he wrote in collabora-
tion with his brother George, and which is a model of military history
within the limits of 2 minor campaign.

He returned forthwith to Simla and found, much to his astonish-
ment, that his views on the future policy in Chitral were greatly in
request. “ As an officiating Political Assistant of the 3rd Class, but
scant attention had been paid to my opinions. As Times correspondent
I was most graciously received by the Viceroy (now Lord Elgin), the
Commander-in-Chief (now Sir George White), the Military Member
of Council (Sir Henry Brackenbury), and the Foreign Secretary (Sir
William Cunningham), and 1 was relieved to find that I could go
whole-heartedly with them. They were all for the retention of
Chitral.” But the Liberal Government in London was once again
in favour of withdrawal, though hesitant as yet of a decision. * There
was fierce controversy going on at home, and George Curzon was in
the thick of the fray contending lustily with Generals and retired
Lieutenant-Governors.” Soon, however, the Liberals went out, and
the Conservatives came in again; Curzon was Under-Secretary of
State for Foreign Affairs and, largely as the result of his advocacy,
Chitral was retained.

It is well that it was, for I afterwards heard that the Russians
on the Pamirs had orders to march in if we marched out. And
they might have been there to this day—a nasty thorn in our flesh.

And what has the light of experience to reveal about these
happenings 2 Just this : that the Chitral campaign need never
have taken place. If the headquarters of the political officer
had been kept at Chitral, and not moved sixty miles away from
it, and if Gurdon had been left to himself, in all probability the
murder would not have occurred, or, if it had, Gurdon could
have kept the situation in hand. That is my view, and it was
Lord Curzon’s. He said in public that if I had been there, and
left to myself, I could have kept the place steady. Now, if I
could have done this, a fortiori Gurdon could have done it, for,
as he proved in subsequent years, he was the kind of man the
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Chitralis take to. . . . Anditis my firm belief that if, after the
murder, he had been left alone to deal with the situation he could
have kept it in hand. The mere fact of his being young was no
drawback : it was an advantage. He was known to be a good
man or he would not have been sent to so responsible a position.
And being a good man, he should have been allowed to carry
on. Left to himself, he would have saved a campaign.

In a memorandum submitting the last of Younghusband’s despatches
to the Secretary of the Foreign Department, and summarizing the
results of his expedition, the Resident in Kashmir, Colonel R. Parry
Nisbet, C.I.E., wrote :

It now only remains my pleasing duty to bring to the most
favourable notice of the Government of India the services
rendered by Captain Younghusband on this occasion in having
conducted to so successful an issue the expedition entrusted to
him. Whether you consider the tact, judgment, and ability
this officer has throughout displayed in dealing with the people,
all strangers to our rule, among whom he has travelled and which
have certainly resulted in their forming the most favourable
impression of Englishmen, and so increasing our national prestige,
or whether you weigh the value of the excellent reports and
maps now furnished to Government by Captain Younghusband,
or if you bear in mind the extreme hardship and peril cheerfully
encountered by him, and the little band he had to lead and
encourage during several months of most lonely travel over
passes and mountains, some of them 19,000 feet high through
an inhospitable region of glaciers and trackless wastes in countries
hitherto unknown to Englishmen, and among a lawless people
who live mostly by violence and robbery, I would submit that
Captain Younghusband has largely added to his reputation as
one of the foremost of modern explorers, and has shown a
devotion to duty most highly honourable to himself and the
British Service. I am therefore convinced that His Excellency
the Viceroy in Council and the Government of India will deter-
mine to reward Captain Younghusband's excellent and excep-
tional services with those coveted rewards and promotion which
perhaps have never been better earned than on the present occa-
sion by this most deserving and distinguished ofticer.



Chapter XIV

SOUTH AFRICA AND THE JAMESON RAID

N returning to England for leave in the autumn of 1895,

Younghusband joined a physiological class in the College

of Science. He had steeped his mind in the writings of

Darwin, Huxley, and Herbert Spencer : I wanted ”, he
said, “ to discover the source of life.” But his studies in connection
with this ambitious desire were interrupted by an unexpected sum-
mons, and this time to another continent. Late in December he was
invited by Moberly Bell, manager of The Times, to go to South Africa
for three months, ostensibly to report on mines, but actually to study
and report on the political situation. The prospect of secing a young
colony in the making was attractive, and the fact that it was likely to
be a storm-centre made it more so.

Anyone who desires a first-hand, accurate, and unprejudiced account
of the circumstances which led up to that now half-forgotten event
known as the Jameson Raid cannot be better advised than to read
Younghusband’s South Africa of Today. Written in 1896 and published
in the following year it was in great demand until the Boer War,
which it foreshadowed, partially eclipsed it; since then the eclipse
has been, naturally enough, almost total. It has the advantage of
authorship by a man specially chosen and peculiarly equipped for the
task, and the merits of clarity in style and impartiality in judgment.?

Objective in outlook, conscientious and straightforward in expres-
sion, Younghusband is always at his best as a descriptive writer. He
devotes an opening chapter to an informative estimate of the resources
of the Transvaal, and another to a sketch of its history from the end
of the 17th century when the colonization of the Cape, by a mixed
cmigration of Dutch and French Huguenot settlers, began. Having
the virtues of courage, resolution, stubborn independence, vigilance
against attack, and the strong religious faith which is born of a puri-
tanical temper, they had also the defects of mental and physical indol-

Ut is amplified in his book The Light of Experience (1927) by reminiscences
of his contacts with the leading personalitics in the drama as well as of the part
he played behind the scencs.
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ence in a land where the climate is kind, nature prolific, and native
labour abundant; incapable of cohesion or self-government, they
always resented and resisted authority, even when it was self-imposed.
Early, the oppression of Dutch officials in Cape Town drove them
with their wives and families, flocks and herds, northwards across the
veldt. A century later the reins of government passed from Dutch
to British hands. Then in 1836 came the Great Trek across the Orange
River into the Transvaal and Natal. Weak in prosperity they were
strong in adversity, and in 1880 the Transvaal immigrants declared
their independence. Being themselves uneducated they hired educated
men from Europe to transact their public affairs ; but, finding their
independence threatened by this expedient, they again united against
the common danger. A nation of sturdy, self-reliant farmer-soldiers,
never paid to fight, they had for two centuries maintained themselves
against black men and against white. Happy in their domestic life,
having strong family affections, free-hearted among themselves and
open-handed, they had nevertheless, from close contact since childhood
with the Kaffirs (whom they regarded as their natural slaves), lost that
sense of veracity which was the virtue of their ancestors.

Summing up, then, the characteristics of the Boers, we may
call them excellent pioneers, with marvellous powers of physical
endurance ; a brave, sclf-reliant people, with high mﬂ}tary
aptitude ; peace-loving, yet ever ready to defend their inde-
pendence ; slow to move, but bitter and obstinate when Fo_u;ed :
suspicious, but credulous, and sensitive to ridicule and criticism ;
genial, hospitable, and affectionate in their family r_elatlonshlps;
a large-hearted people and, as a result of their stern life, pos_scssed
of a broad common-sense not always attained by more highly-
educated nations ; yet at the same time a people who, from their
tendency to shirk the competition of modern life and from the
effect of their surroundings, have become indolent and devoid
of any ambition beyond independence, deficient in hqnesty and
veracity, ignorant, unprogressive, and in the most important
respects two centuries behind other European nations. . . .
pastoral and nomadic people, impatient of control, sParsely dis-
tributed over an open country, with no natural barriers such as
seas or mountains, would naturally tend to split up ; they would
have little cohesion, and would gradually separatc into a number
of small communities.

Their Constitution was democratic in principle, but in fact patri-
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archially despotic. In domestic policy the Volksraad could over-rule
the President, but when—as during the recent period of intermittent
disturbances—security was threatened from without, he was virtually
supreme. It was for this reason that President Kruger, who thor-
oughly understood his people, had remained in office for fifteen
years. But during this period the Uitlanders had come to outnumber
the Boers by nearly two to one ; it was they who provided the wealth
of the nation, but were subject to the heaviest taxation, and had no
voice in the Government. They were in fact treated with less liberality
than the natives of India by the British Government. For years they
had remonstrated, but were without redress. Though their popula-
tion was thoroughly cosmopolitan the majority were of British stock,
and were the least likely to put up with incompetence and
injustice.

Industry is as characteristic of the Uitlander as indolence is of
the Boet. . . . If they are characterized by a gambling spirit
which makes them nervous and excitable in comparison with
their more stolid neighbours and if, from having to fight their
way through the mass of unprincipled men who flock to a gold-
field, and from leading a life free from the restraints of social
opinion, few among them are either honest or truthful,—yet
their wonderful enterprise and initiative must be admitted, and
not many could be found who have had to work so hard, risk
so much, and often undergo hardship to gain their money. They
have no religion nor strong family ties to unite them; for
practically the only religion of the Uitlander is the religion of
work, and the greater proportion are unmarried or have left
their wives behind. Nor have they had experience of that
military co-operation which has been the main cause of union
among the Boers. But they have brought with them the business
principles of modern countries, and they know the value of
voluntary co-operation in the midst of competition. They
possess, therefore, a faculty of which the Boers know nothing—
of voluntary combination; and as a result they have indivi-
duality and initiative. In so far, then, as the Uitlanders, not
being formed into a separate state, possess organization, that
organization has many elements of efficiency. As a body, they
lack the steadying effect which old-established institutions and
tradition give, but they have the advantage of being able readily
to adapt themselves to new requirements. And this adaptability
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to the needs of the occasion is likely to show itself in political life
as it has already in industrial.

Enterprise, an irresistible force, found itself in contact with stolidity,
an inert mass ; and none could foresee the outcome.

The headquarters of the Boers was in Pretoria, where they did
nothing but sit and legislate ; that of the Uitlanders was round
Johannesburg, where they worked hard and contributed the bulk of
the revenue. The Boers regarded them with deep suspicion, and they
the Boers with sullen discontent. It was true that, as things then were,
the miners themselves were content with their wages, which were
high ; but things would be different at the present rate of immigration
which, if continued, would result in a falling market and in
unemployment.

On arrival at Cape Town in mid-December, Younghusband went
at once to ask Cecil Rhodes for information concerning the position
in the Transvaal, but “found him anything but forthcoming”.
Rhodes invited him to dinner but “ talked in a dreamy, soliloquizing
way about many things”; affected an ungracious manner ; and
concerning the Transvaal referred him to his brother Colonel Frank
Rhodes in Johannesburg. Thither accordingly Younghusband went,
and found the Colonel, who invited him to stay indefinitely, most
hospitable, kind, and confidential. From him and from the other
leaders of the political agitation—the Reformers—who met frequently
at his house he learnt much, and found * the atmosphere tense with
conspiracy ’.  Arms, they told him, were being secretly imported ;
help was coming from British territory ; Jameson was rcady to rein-
force them from over the border when they were themselves ready
to strike ; they meant to rise and seize the Government. But it was
a big risk. Few at present were ‘in the know’; numbers were
needed to ensure success, but with numbers there grew also the risk
of exposure. (Listening to this talk with detachment, Younghusbagd
reflected how difficult would secrecy be in the case of a rebellion in
India, and also how difficult would be its detection.) But the
Reformers were not revolutionaries at heart, and before the end of the
month their ardour had cooled considerably. They asked Young-
husband to go back to Rhodes in Cape Town, and request him to
stop Jameson at once from entcring the Transvaal to support a revolt,
as that revolt could not be made—yet. On the 28th, however,
Charles Leonard, Chairman of the Transvaal National Union, issued
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a challenging Manifesto which declared for a genuine, free, and
independent Republic—pending a general meeting to be held on
January 6th.

I arrived at Cecil Rhodes’ house at the time I had arranged
with him, and found him seated in the verandah with about
a dozen men looking as if they had nothing on earth to do except
loaf all day long. He hardly noticed me when I joined in, but
after a time said to me, “ Where have you come from?”
“ Johannesburg,” I replied. “ How are things going there 2™
he asked. * Much the same as usual,” I'said. And he then began
talking to the others. But presently he said casually to me,
“ Have you seen my hydrangeas ? Ishould like you to see them.”
And off he lounged with me up the garden. But as soon as we
were out of earshot he said, *“ Now tell me sharp what you have
tosay ; we can’t be away long or those fellows will be suspicious.”
I told him that the Johannesburgers were not for it and wanted
Jameson stopped. He said, “ What ! do you mean to say that
there is not 2 man in Johannesburg who will get up and lead a
revolution and not mind if he’sshot 2> ““ Apparently there isn’t,”
I said. “ Would you do it yourself 2"’ he asked. “ Certainly
not,”” I replied. “I don’t want to lead revolutions in Johan-
nesburg.” He gave his customary grunt as if he thought the
whole crowd, including myself, were a white-livered lot ; and
then he said as Johannesburg would not risc he would telegraph
and stop Jameson.

Younghusband returned immediately with this news to the
Reformers ; but only a couple of days later, on December 3oth, the
startling report came that Jameson, ignoring Rhodes’ message, was
already marching to Johannesburg.

I well remember the 1ooks of utter dumbfoundedness with
which the news was rcceived. It simply took men’s breath
away : the audacity of the move, and the awful consequences
which it might involve. And upon none did it produce a greater
sense of consternation than on the leaders of the political
agitation.

They knew well that Dr. Jameson and his force had been on the
Bechuanaland border for the past month, waiting and ready to come
to their assistance when the need should arise ; but they had made
every effort to prevent his coming before they themselves were ready.
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They had even given into his hands, when he was himselfin Johannes-
burgh six weeks before, the famous *“ Women and Children " letter, 2
provisional request for military aid should disturbance arise. But the
disturbance had not arisen ; on the contrary, the President had actually
shown signs of taking notice of the Leonard Manifesto and had made
promises. Moreover, the Reformers themselves were far from ready.
A block on the railway had held up their expected supply of rifles ;
they needed and were expecting ten times that number. ~And finally,
on comparing notes, they found that they had only three or four
hundred men on whom they could depend. Their hand was forced,
and prematurely. Nevertheless, without panic but in good heart, they
dealt out what weapons they could, formed corps, and commenced
drilling. Till then it was certain that the majority had not wished to
fight, but now, in sight of these steady and efficient preparations,
realizing that they had at last a fighting chance, and also that neutrality
was no longer possible, they boldly joined forces with the Johannesburg
insurgents.

On the evening of the 31st the Boer Government under General
Joubert in Pretoria requested a deputation from Johannesburg to
come and discuss arrangements for the avoidance of a conflict ; and
it was agreed on both sides that neither should meanwhile take any
action against the other ; that Johannesburg should retain its defensive
attitude, and that Pretoria should not attack or invest it. There was,
however, no agreement that action should not be taken against Dr.
Jameson. Almost at the same time came a proclamation from the
High Commissioner repudiating his action, and calling upon all
British subjects in the Transvaal to render him no assistance. This
was communicated also by telegram to the Reform Committee who,
after considering it, authorized their representatives in Pretoria to
inform the Government that, if they would allow Dr. Jameson to
enter Johannesburg without opposition, they would guarantee with
their lives to send him back. But meanwhile the High Commissioner
was himself on the way to Pretoria to effect a settlement ; so the
Reform Committee despatched a member to meet Dr. Jameson with
a copy of the Proclamation and induce him to stop. Meanwhile,
however, rumour reached the city that Jameson had already engaged
a detachment of Boers near Krugersdorp with success, and he expected
to make a triumphal march into the city within a matter of hours.
Such was his popularity among the Uitlanders, and so great their
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admiration of his audacity, that * they would have given him an
unparalleled ovation, accepted him as their future leader, and followed
him unquestioningly through everything”. When, therefore, on
January 2nd he was within reach of the city, Younghusband rode out
with a Dutch-speaking companion, Mr. Heygate, to meet him.

Galloping over the grassy plains about twelve miles out we
met a Boer patrol, who pointed their rifles at us in an unpleasant
manner ; but we held up our hands to show that we were
unarmed, and they let us pass on. On cresting a ridge we sud-
denly saw beneath us, near the hamlet of Vlakfontein, two
bodies of men who we thought were on the point of attacking
each other, till one party turned round and slowly marched
back towards Krugersdorp. By the regularity of its movements
we knew it could only be Dr. Jameson’s force. . . . We then
rode straight into a Boer Commando, and I went up to the
Commandant, Cronje, told him I was Correspondent of The
Times, and asked for news. He said the news was that Jameson
had just surrendered, and that I might go and see him and his
men being marched off. We were allowed to ride up to the
retiring column, but not to converse with the officers and men,
who were riding along in their shirt-sleeves unarmed between
escorts of Boers. They looked terribly tired, but were as hard
and determined a lot as could be brought together, and the
bravery which they had displayed earned the unstinted admiration
of the Boers.

They had marched for ninety hours and during the last twenty-four
hours had fought almost constantly, with but a few hours’ sleep on
the whole journey and no time in which to cook their food. They
had been out-manceuvred by the Boers, posted behind kopjes, into
a shallow hollow from which they could not force a way out. They
were utterly exhausted. * The whole affair was bad in its inception
and miscrably managed. No one knew better than Jameson what a
horrible blunder he had made ; and no man ever did more than he
did to retricve a blunder.”

A dectailed account of the raid was jotted down by Younghusband
on the spot, as follows :

Ficld-cornet Potchefstroom told us that yesterday Jameson
first attacked the Boer force at the George and Mary mine, two
miles north-west of Krugersdorp (a small mining township)
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twenty-one miles west of Johannesburg. Fighting took place
from 3 p.m. to 11 p.m., Jameson making three principal attacks
and doing great damage with his artillery which the Boers,
having then no guns, were unable to reply to. He said that both
then and to-day Jameson’s men behaved with the greatest gal-
lantry, and also that admirable arrangements had been made at
Krugersdorp for nursing the wounded of both sides. This
morning the Boers took up a position at Vladfontein—eight miles
the Johannesburg side of Krugcrsdorp, on a circuitous road to the
south by which Jameson was marching. During the night the
Boers had been reinforced both with men and with artillery and
maxims. Their position was exceedingly strong, on an open
slope, but behind a ridge with rocks cropping up out of it. It
was a right-angled position and Jameson attacked in the re-
entering angle, thus having fire both in front and on flank. To
attack, the men had to advance over perfectly open gently-sloping
grass, while the Boers fired on them behind the rocks with rifles,
artillery and maxims. The Boers, as far as I could see, were not
much superior in numbers to Jameson’s force of 700 men, but
their position was unassailable, and Jameson, after making a des-
perate effort to break through, surrendered. I asked permission
to see him but was refused, and it is, therefore, impossible to say
why he surrendered, but it is known that he was made aware of
the impossibility of sending assistance from Johannesburg. In
any case it would have been no disgrace to have been beaten by
so brave a foe as the Boers. These simple rough men, in ordinary
dress with a rifle slung over their shoulders, spoke in fecling terms
of the fine courage shown by their assailants. They were per-
fectly calm even in this their first flush of victory and without
a trace of boastfulness. They simply said the thing was impos-
sible and hence the present result. They only knew of about
twenty of Jameson’s men killed—no officer.

Younghusband galloped back as hard as he could go to Johannes-

burg, sent off his telegram announcing the surrender,! and then went

1 The full text of Younghusband’s despatch to The Times is given in pp. 145~
146 of The Transvaal from Within (1900), by J. P. FitzPatrick, who was Secrctary
to the Reform Committee and suffered imprisonment with his colleagues. Of
this book Lord Rosebery in a foreword wrote that it bears on every page
and in every sentence the mark of truth, and gives wholesale and in detail an
extraordinary and appalling record of the way in which the Government of the
Transvaal was carried on, and the subjection to which it reduced our fellow-
countrymen there ”. FitzPatrick was also famous as the author of Jock of the
Bushveldt and The Outspan.
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straight into the Reform Committee Room. “I was the first to
bring the news of the disaster.”

The Reformers, whose position in the city was now quite helpless,
desired him to go at once to Pretoria to ascertain what the feeling
there was. Their case was indeed unenviable. An angry mob of
their own citizens gathered round their offices, abusing them for
having left Dr. Jameson in the lurch ; and they could hope for but
little mercy from the Boer Government. This was confirmed by
Younghusband when he returned from an interview with General
Joubert in Pretoria, where the principal talk was about “ putting holes ™’
through the Reformers.  On hearing this, a few *“ who disliked having
holes made in them said they had better off it to Cape Town while
they could . But the four leaders who had signed the incriminating
letter to Dr. Jameson never flinched for a moment.

Frank Rhodes, with that toss of his body so characteristic of
him, and throwing out his legs, said that as he had gone in for
the thing he was going to see it through at any cost. And George
Farrar, with his usual tug at his moustache, similarly said that he
for one was not going to run away now they were in a tight place.
The other two who signed the letter—Lionel Phillips and John
Hays Hammond—also determined to stay on and face the
consequences, whatever they might be.

Apparently certain death, or at least a long imprisonment,
awaited them on the one hand, and on the other they might
quietly withdraw and in a few hours be out of all danger.

They were sentenced to death, though the sentence was eventually
commuted to fines of £25,000 each. In imprisonment they were at
first treated with extreme roughness—worse even than that accorded
to Dr. Jameson and his officers. All England and all South Africa
was appalled at the savagery of the death sentence. Younghusband
bears witness to the fortitude with which it was borne, and vindicates
them against the wholly unwarranted stigma of disloyalty. He makes
it clear that *“ however much miscalculation and misunderstanding
there may have been, there was no disloyalty ", in the hope that *“ that
decpest reproach of all upon the character of a man may be erased
forever ”. And of them all he has the highest tribute for Colonel
Frank Rhodes, whose motives were entirely disinterested.

But T may dwell for a moment on onc pathetic figure, for
whom no one can be so hard as not to feel some sympathy. It
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is of the man who as a boy gained his cricketing colours on the
playing-fields of Eton ; who for years served in one of the finest
cavalry regiments of the British army ; who gained the D.S.0.
for his gallantry on Herbert Stewart’s hard desert march to the
relief of Gordon at Khartoum ; who is the solitary survivor of
Sir Gerald Portal’s arduous mission to Uganda, and who, through
loyalty to his younger brother, had engaged in an ill-fated scheme
in which he had absolutely no personal interest, and which had
now brought him, a colonel in the British Army, to the prisoner’s
dock, to be sentenced to death in a foreign country. . .. But
what he must feel even harder than his death sentence, or the
imprisonment in Pretoria gaol, or the fine of (25,000 imposed
upon him, or the enforced resignation of his commission in the
army and the consequent blighting of his whole career, is the
persistency with which so many of his countrymen still believe
that he and the other leaders were guilty of disloyalty to Dr.
Jameson in not going out to meet him.

The whole political situation in South Africa was tense as a result
of this abortive revolt. If Cecil Rhodes had entertained the idea of
a United South Africa under the British flag, President Kruger was
now believed to be equally ambitious to unite it under the Dutch.
There was even talk of a repudiation of the London Convention, and
of an attack by the Boers upon British Territory. Kruger was now
in a position to pose before the world as the injured innocent.  Young-
husband, therefore, lost no time in seeking an interview with him,
and with Joubert, and Chief Justice Kotze.

My interview with Kruger was especially interesting, for he is
an altogether unique personality. In the old Puritan days there
may have been men similar to him ; but certainly at the present
day no one like him exists, and perhaps no one of his peculiar
stamp will ever appear again. . . . Undoubtedly the principal
impression given me was the rugged strength of the man. Here
was one who had as a boy left the Cape Colony in the Great
Trek of 1836, and spent his whole life in a struggle for ind;pcnd-
ence. Personally brave and with a force of character which has
bent the people who made him their leader to do his will, hc'has
first made his country and then kept it intact from aggression.
Uneducated in all else save the knowledge of human nature, he
has skilfully guided his people through dangers which would
have overcome most others. And if his constant reference to



1896 PRESIDENT KRUGER 179

Biblical texts give a stranger an impression of sanctimoniousness,
this may be explained by the fact that the Bible is probably the
only book he has ever read.

President Kruger cannot be numbered among the most
enlightened and progressive rulers of the earth, and he has never
shown indications of any feverish ambition to push his country
higher up on the scale of civilization ; but he is astute, strong and
firm ; he has one or two fixed ideas which he never departs
from. . . .

On the present occasion I told him that I'had seen and heard of
the preparations which were being made, and I asked him what
assurances he could give me on the subject. Sitting there in his
well-known attitude in an upright armchair, smoking a huge
pipe and expectorating profusely, he thumped upon the table
at his side and bellowed back his answer, that as long as his country
was not attacked he would attack no one. His people were scattered
farmers and had no desire for the hardships OF military service.
If their country were invaded they willingly assembled for the
defence, but they were in no way aggressively inclined. He
acknowledged that his government was making considerable
military preparations, but the Transvaal had been wantonly
invaded once, and he must guard against its being similarly
invaded again. . .. As he rose to say good-bye, he again
repeated to me most emphatically that I might tell people in
England that unless we attacked him he would never attack us.

I asked him if he could hold out any hopes of granting the
Uitlanders the franchise. Yes, to all who were loyal to the State.
What, I asked, was his test of such loyalty 2 The taking up of
arms in its defence. He distrusted the ordinary Uitlanders and
especially the burghers of the city. They had once torn down
the Transvaal ﬂag, and had even hooted him, he said. That, to
a man of Kruger’s stamp, is unforgettable ; conciliation would
not be his line, but rather dogged opposition and isolation.
When I remarked that the Uitlanders furnished about five millions
sterling out of the five-and-a-half millions which the revenue
produced, but were not allowed one single word in regard to its
cxpenditure, he simply said that they were at any rate free to
make as much money as they pleased, and he asked me to name
any pcople who were less heavily taxed than they were. When
I showed him that the Uitlanders of the Transvaal paid about ten
times as much as the people of Great Britain, he merely said that
he had not heard it befpore ce
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Younghusband attended several sittings of the Volksraad, and was
confirmed thereby in his impression both of the sturdiness of the
President and of his exasperating stubbornness. Dressed in an old
black frock-coat with a broad vivid green sash over his shoulder, he
sat beside the Chairman on a raised dats, round which the members
sat in semi-circular rows. Rough-bearded men, in sombre black, they
were reminiscent of ““a country vestry meeting in an English parish ”,
One after another they would rise and speak with great volubility
and much gesticulation, but with little attempt at reasoning. Some-
times the Chairman himself would join, and still more frequently
the President.

On my first visit there I saw Mr. Kruger, almost before the
original speaker had finished, risc and roar in his deep big voice
at the meeting, and almost break the table with his violent thumps
upon it. I thought that something very important must be under
dcbate, but was told that they were merely debating whether
some minor official’s salary should be cut down or increased.
Mr. Kruger is always emphatic upon whatever subject he speaks.
But when he wishes to really enforce a point he comes round
to his great stock argument that the independence of the country
would be endangered if what he wishes is not agreed to. This
is unfailing, but must surely now be getting a little threadbare.

Much as he could not help admiring the old man’s character and
personality, Younghusband felt that he would only have received his
just deserts if Jameson’s raid had succecded, and he had been turned
out of office.

He returned to England in April and spent a week-end with the
proprictor of The Times, where he met Lord Wolscley who said that
“ everybody was blaming everybody clse for the Raid, but the only
person he blamed was the man who put in Frank Rhodes to lcad a
revolution . He also met Joseph Chamberlain at the Colonial Office.
“ He had very clear, clean-cut ideas, and expressed them incisively.
He had not much patience with the Reformers, but said that if Kruger
attempted to carry out the death sentence on them it would mean
war.” In July The Times asked him to return to South Africa, go
all round it and report again on the whole situation.

I went back to Johannesburg and Pretoria, had another inter-
view with Kruger, now coming much under the influence of the
Germans, whom Dr. Leyds was teaching him to look upon as 2
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counterpoise to the British, and then travelled through the Free
State, visited Basutoland, saw something of the eastern province
of Cape Colony, drove across Pondoland to Natal, returned to
Pretoria, and from there went to Delagoa Bay, took a steamer
to Port Beira, and, in a wagon with Harry Cust, trekked
from Massa Kessi to Fort Salisbury, the capital of Mashona-

land.

He arrived in Bulawayo at the conclusion of the Matabele campaign.
The fact that there had been a rebellion did not surprise him. The
newly-formed Chartered Company of Rhodesia * had not the men
to govern with . They were petty traders whose only qualification
was that they could speak the native language, but they had no instinct
for administration, and “in all good faith they did things which
alarmed and irritated the Mashonas. It is not astonishing, therefore,
that the Mashonas proceeded to massacre every white man they could
lay hands on.”

In Salisbury he stayed with Cecil Rhodes for a fortnight. The

great empire-builder was in a somewhat chastened mood.

He made what in his curious way was meant to be his amends

to me. ‘I was rude to you at Cape Town wasn’t I ?°— Well,
’ . [4 b ’

yes, you were,” I replicd.—‘I was damned rude, wasn’e 12°—

* As you put it that way, you were,’ I'said. He gave me a grunt

of satisfaction. Quite frankly, I did not take to him even then.

He surrounded himself with a court of quite inferior men, and a

lot of his talk was dreadful rubbish. . . . But I made a mistake
in being put off by his idiosyncrasies. 1 failed to see the bigness
of the man. . .. His settlement with the Matabele in the

Matoppo hills was a finc cxample of his methods at their best,
and of the influence of his personality. He hated danger. He
was a busincss man, and from a business point of view it was
silly to risk your lifc when you might be safe.  Yet, when circum-
stances required it, he could screw himself up to face danger as
composedly as the bravest . . . It was a fine feat, and is a
standing cxample of the wisdom of letting wisdom go by the
board ; and all the more remarkable because he was then with-
futkany official position whatever and was at the bottom of his
uck. . ..

Allowing for all Rhodes’ defects of character, defects of insight into
men and matters, and mistakes in method, Younghusband recognized
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that he was in his way a genius and that * at heart he was a great
gentleman .

“ Political events are always difficult to forecast, but in the case of
a new country like the Transvaal it is especially necessary to make
some attempt to forecast the future.” The latter half of Young-
husband’s book is mainly devoted to this attempt, and also to a fore-
cast of the probable trend of events in the Rhodesias. It is a reasoned
and reasonable assessment of the balance of probabilities in a very
complex situation. He criticizes the dilatory policy of the British
Government which, blind to its opportunities and neglectful of its
responsibilities, had led to a condition of affairs in the whole of South
Africa which adequate foresight might have prevented; and the
intolerant, obstructive policy of the Boers which, under President
Kruger, provoked hostility from the very men who in ten years’ time
would turn the Transvaal into one of the great industrial centres of
the world. ““ If this state of affairs continues, a revival of trouble on
a greater scale may certainly be expected. . . . Gratitude is not to
be expected between nations, but each has to see that it is used with
justice by the other.” He also foresees a probable rival in Germany.—
He gives an astonishingly accurate forecast of the probable future
of Rhodesia, as it unfolds itself before his eyes *“ as it were upon the
just-invented Edisonian system of moving pictures” ; emphasizes
the necessity of  regarding the intercsts of the natives as inseparable
from the interests of the country " ; and concludes that on the whole
and in the main “the pushing Chartered Company, spirited and
generous as it has always shown itself, can do more for them (both
black and white) than the slow and rightcous Imperial Government
cver would ”.—He considers all the factors—industrial, economic,
geographical, and psychological—that should be taken into account
in order to solve the whole complex political situation in South
Africa.

When in Natal he was madc acquaintcd with a Mr. Gandhi, then
the leading merchant in Durban, but was not convinced by his argu-
ments in favour of wholesale immigration of Indians into that colony.
“ He is the spokesman of the Indian community, and is a particularly
intelligent and well-educated man, who has studied for three years 11
England and lives in a well-furnished villa at Durban.” Gandhi
invited him to a dinner where he met several other high-caste Indians,
and together they ventilated to him their * grievances "', which werc
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many. They claimed complete liberty in the colony on the ground
of their status there as British subjects. Younghusband, however, was
of opinion that such a claim was not justified.

The law of self-preservation is the first law of being; and
when we find young men in England advised against going to
Natal and elsewhere in South Africa because the position they
might have filled is now occupied by Indians, we need not be
surprised that the colonists are so determined to restrict the
immigration . . . And Indians have no great right to complain
even if immigration is restricted ; for during all the centuries
of the past they might have done with Natal what British
colonists with courage and enterprise and resource have now
accomplished. It can therefore be no special hardship or injustice
to them if the colonists allow them to eat of the fruit of the tree
of their own labours in limited quantities, and refuse to permit
them to bear down the whole tree.

In the space of a brief chapter it is impossible to do even approximate
justice to the political acumen, the moderation, fair-mindedness,
attention to details and grasp of essentials, which Younghusband
displays in this study of the South African scene. In default of such,
we conclude it with a scrap of writing in one of his note-books, dated
May 1899, while in Central India, and headed * Transvaal Situation ™.

Necessity to consider the situation without much reference
to present actors on the spot. One cannot have much sympathy
with the present-day Uitlander ; personally he is considerably
less attractive than the Boer. The latter has a history and a
romantic one ; he is a sturdy individual with an idea thoroughly
imbued in his character—independence ; and for that idea he is
perfectly ready to lay down his life.  The ruling idea in the mind
of the Uitlanders is money-making : for that idea they are not
ready to lay down their lives, but they are quite ready to leave
their country. In fact they all swore to do so in 1896 when they
swore allegiance to the Republican Flag.

But the natural sympathy of Englishmen with the sturdy
character of the Boers, and the involuntary dislike which often
arises for purc money-grabbers, must not be allowed to cloud
the judgment or blind us to the true elements in the situation.

What it comes to is this—that the Boers, a brave but an ignor-
ant and backward pcople, are abrogating to themselves a very
rich portion of the carth’s surface, and by wasting it are making



184 SOUTH AFRICA—THE JAMESON RAID 1806

mankind the poorer. Who can doubt that if the Transvaal
had been in the hands of a civilized European power for the last
twenty years, and especially if it had been in the hands of that
power which holds the remaining part of South Africa and the
outlet to the sea, it would now be twice its present population,
and furnishing a living to perhaps millions who are now almost
starving in Europe ?

Have the Boers the right to stand in the way of progress?
They have not been in the country for even a century; they
were the pioneers, it is true ; but others followed very shortly
after and it was they, not the Boers, who discovered and developed
its resources.

The Boers must be forced to surrender their present position,—
but not by the Uitlanders themselves. Money-making men
form a very useful part of the body politic—as the sustaining
system does in the individual. But they have very little idea
of public affairs or of regulating political conduct. Their business
is to supply and they supply very well. It is not their business
to rule and guide, and they consequently do it very badly,
whenever they are called upon to do so. They might therefore
be guided and ruled and controlled by those whose business it is
to guide, rule, and control ; that is, by the British Government
through its Agent in Pretoria. It should be the Government
and not the Uitlander who should take the initiative.

The object of that initiative should be . . .

Unfortunately the writing ends there. No doubt he would have
made the objective explicit; but in general terms it may be sum-
marized by a sentence in his book : * The future prosperity of the
country depends upon whether those who have fought for it and
those who have worked for it may be welded together into a united
community.”

Again in 1900 :

Everybody is astonished at the Boer armament, and it is taken
for granted as evidence of the intention for a long time to estab-
lish a Dutch Republic. But it may be noted that every arm
and ammunition now used has been imported since the Rald-
At the time of the Raid none but Martinis. At that time, 1t was
evident that leading men in South Africa did not think much of
Boer strength or they would hardly have attempted to rush to the
Transvaal with a few hundred men. It is a fact too that at that
time Dutch colonial opinion was against the Boers of the Trans-
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vaal and I doubt if a single one would have given his adherence
to the plea of the Dutch Republic. The entire situation was
changed by the Raid.—So much for history.

What would have been best to do at the time? Not much
good making such reflections after the events. But yet they
may help as a guide for future action. Well then, our best action
would probably have been to still more distinctly repudiate the
Raid by punishing its author, but at the same time to have sent
troops to South Africa and called upon the Boers to stop arming,
and redress grievances.

Finally, what should be our future course of action? . . .



Chapter XV

MARRIAGE: RAJPUTANA AND INDORE

OUNGHUSBAND concluded his book The Heart of a Contitent
with some well-considered observations on missionary
enterprise in China, and on the effects produced upon
himself by his travels. As regards the first :

I do not think that a mere casual traveller like myself ought to
presume to judge in too assured a way the many really earnest
men who, taking their lives in their hands, have gone out to
impart to the Chinese a religion which they believe would help
to elevate and rouse those ignorant of its blessings. . . .

And after stressing this point he continues :

I may say at once that my sympathies are entirely with the
missionaries, and having seen the noble men I have met with in
the far interior of China, and realized the sacrifices they have
made, I say that the hearts of all true Englishmen and of all true
Christian nations ought to go out to encouraging and helping
those who have given up everything in this life to do good to
others. I only wish that those who from the prosperous, com-
fortable homes of their native country so severely criticize mis-
sionary enterprise, could see one of those splendid French
missionaries whom I met in North Manchuria, and who h_ad
gone out there for his life and would never sce his home again,
I feel sure that any fair-minded Englishman would see that this
was a real man—a man to whom his sympathies might tn_lly go
out, and who was really likely to contribute to the elevation of
the human race.

But he agrees with the critics that there are many missionaties who
fall far short of that high level, and it is thesc unfortunately who,
having never penetrated beyond the fringes of civilization, a\r't‘:.the
most frequently met with, and have often given cause for criticisms
that are only too just. They are like camp-followers in the van of
an army who prefer the base to the firing line. But it is not by these
that genuine missionary enterprise should be judged. His own
criterion is pragmatic—" by their fruits ye shall know them”. Do

186
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they make their converts better men than they were before, and are
they better men themselves 2—To intercalate the ideal, example is
always better than precept. And if precept becomes dogma, it is
worse than unedifying. As for the Christian missionary who can see
no truth whatever in any religion other than his own, he had much
better stay at home. Religion is a universal human aspiration and it
is common to all peoples. And very many professed Buddhists and
Mohammedans * lead lives not clearly worse than Christians . Their
devotion also is not less :

I remember the rude Mongols, far away in the midst of the
Gobi Desert, setting apart in their tents the little altar at which
they worshipped. I recall nights spent in the tents of the wan-
dering Kirghiz, when the family of an evening would say their
prayers together; I think of the Afghan and Central Asian
merchants visiting me in Yarkand, and in the middle of their
visits asking to be excused while they laid down a mat on the
floor and repeated their prayers; of the late Mehtar of Chitral,
during a morning’s shooting among the mountains, halting,
with all his court, for a few minutes to pray ; and lastly, of the
wild men of Hunza, whom I had led up a new and difficult pass,
pausing as they reached the summit to offer a prayer of thanks,
and ending with a shout of “ Allah !”

As regards the second, his own impressions of travel, he attains a
degree of eloquence not surpassed in his later writings. A traveller
in such various scenes and climes, and among so many types of the
human race, by whom he is constantly questioned about the natural
phenomena around them, is compelled, he says, to reflect on the
immense gulf that separates his knowledge from theirs, as well as
upon the meanings of the things he sees, and further, “ his fancy
inevitably wanders into fields of discovery yet to come .

No one, indecd, who has been alone with Nature in her purer
aspects, and secn her in so many different forms, can help pon-
dering over her meanings ; and though, in the strain and stress of
travel, her deepest messages may not have reached my ear, now,
in the aftercalm, when I have all the varied scenes as vividly
before me as on the day I saw them, and have moreover leisure
to appreciate them and feel their fullest influence, I can realize
something of her grandeur, the mighty scale on which she works,
and the infinite beauty of all she does.
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It was in his long, lonely marches across the Gobi Desert (when he
was only twenty-three) that the wonders of the universe entered into
him and became part of the structure of his soul. * There, before
me, was nothing but Nature. The boundless plain beneath, and the
starry skies above.” He had brought with him a book on astronomy,
which he read by day as he read the stars themselves—" in the far,
original depths of Nature ”—during the long night marches. “In
those pure skies the stars shone out in unrivalled brilliancy, and hour
after hour I would watch them in their courses over the heavens, and
think on what they are and what they represent, and try to realize
the place which we men hold in the universe stretched out before
me.”  He thought of their inconceivable number, their immeasurable
distances, their stupendous sizes and velocities. And what lay beyond
them ? Is the universe infinite or finite 2 Wil they eventually burn
themselves out “ till the whole universe is a whirling vortex of dead
worlds ? or are life and heat to come to them again by impact with
one another, or in some yet unknown manner”? And what is
happening in them now ? . . . He thought of primitive men whom
he had met in remote mountain valleys, to whom their valley was
their whole world : who knew nothing of cultivated plains, or of
the ocean ; to whom such things as a railway or a telegraph would
seem supernatural, and the men who could invent and make them
as of an altogether superior order to themselves. He thought of the
children of the desert for whom the little ball of fire they saw by day
and the tiny specks they saw by night were really no more than they
seemed to be; and the apparently illimitable desert a flat expanse
which constituted the whole world. May there not then exist in

other worlds beings of an intelligence and a spirituality vastly greater
than our own?

Man is the highest form of living being in this single littlc world
of ours—this little speck, which is to the universe as the smallest
grain of sand to the stretch of the scashore. But is he the highest
in the whole universe ? Arc not the probabilities overwhelm-
ingly in favour of his not being so? Would it not be the
veriest chance if, among all thesc millions of worlds, this one

on which we live should have happened to develop the highest
being ?

Might there not be other beings in those other worlds with powers
of vision which, compared with ours, could be both telescopic and
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microscopic ; and with senses, not only keener than, but also different
from ours ; with telepathic faculties of communication ; or longer
lived, measuring their life-span by centuries instead of years, and thus
accumulating stores of knowledge and experience far beyond our
capacity ? There was the possibility too of intercommunication
within the vast stellar spaces; and of societies “ as superior to our
own as ours is to the savage, where culture of the mind, where sympathy
and love, and all that is noblest in man’s moral nature, have attained
their highest development, and are given fullest play.” . . .

And yet, from the opposite point of view, how enormous to our
seeing is this tiny mote of star-dust which we inhabit, whose magni-
tude, compared with that of its sun (itself an inconsiderable orb), is
as that of a pin’s head to an orange. Those colossal mountains he
had seen, and which now rose again before his mind’s eye in all their
massive grandeur—the Tian-shan, K.2, Nanga Parbat and the rest—
they were to the earth in which they were rooted but as the rough-
nesses on the rind of an orange to the whole fruit, scarcely perceptible
to a spectator from another sphere.—And what of all the multifarious
forms of existence to which this world, so huge and yet so little, gave
life? Its countless tribes of men and animals, its teeming swarms of
birds and fishes and insects, its multitude of trees and plants and
marvellous wealth of flowery beauty—are they not all branches of
the same primordial root ? To what goal are they progressing, and
upon what lines of evolution ?  And as for humanity, is it not possible
that for man there is a line of growth beyond the intellectual—namely,
the moral and the religious ? For * the brain capacities of primitive
man are no smaller than those of civilized man, and his mental abilities
are no less ”.  The future line of advance for men lies in their recogni-
tion of their responsibilities as integral members of a social whole,
“in the subordination of their individual interests to the well-being
of the whole society to which they belong .

Nowhcre has this principle been more deeply impressed than
on the society formed by the Christian religion, and may we
not then conclude that, if that society now finds itself foremost
in all the societies of the world, it is so because of the inherent
superiority of the principles which it professes ?

* * »* * *

But there was also another influence—a private one—to which at
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this period of his life Frank Younghusband owed much. This was
his friendship with a lady who, since his return to India after his
winter in Kashgar, became his confidante and filled the place in his
affections then vacant by the loss both of his mother and his love. In
the spring of 1892 he was appointed Assistant Resident of Kashmir,
where this lady’s husband was an unofficial resident ; and until his
marriage five years later, though they met infrequently, they corre-
sponded constantly. On both sides the friendship was entirely open
and unembarrassed. His first letter is dated from Gulmarg on
23rd May 1892 :

We have seen so much of each other lately and have gradually
become friends, that I feel I should like to tell you one great
thing about my life, a thing which I can hardly bear to speak
about but which I should like you to know.

Eight years ago when I was a very young subaltern I fell in
love with a girl and knowing it was no use thinking of marrying
then, I set to work to gain myself a good position and took to
this travelling. Four years afterwards, and after I had made my
first big journey, I proposed but was refused for the time, but
was eventually accepted. Then when my parents heard of the
engagement they were very much against it, naturally perhaps,
fearing that it might ruin my prospects of a career. The engage-
ment was accordingly broken off and I immediately set out on
another journey, remained a few months in India and then started
off again on my last journey. While I was away this last time
my parents wrote and said they no longer had any objections
to my being married and I again wrote and proposed. I had
to wait four and a half months for the answer, and then I heard
that she was engaged to someone else. Five days later, I got the
news—totally unexpected—that my mother had died, and these
two shocks broke me down in a way I have not yet entirely
recovered from, and have made me feel cver since nervous and
uncertain when I am not really absorbed in a thing. 1 have
been so much alone that I have got to shudder and shrink from
solitude and from myself, and you cannot know what a relief
it is to feel that I have at any rate one friend near me who knows
about it all. I am all right and strong and cheerful and dont
mean to have anything to do with desponding or moping or
looking on the black side of things ; it is only that I feel a bit
weak at times, and it really does relicve me just to tell you. . ..

[A few days later.] I am just struggling with myself to keep



1896 THE CLUE TO LIFE'S MEANING 191

from dreaming of all the past and the longings in my heart, and
to try and get on with everyday life but I cannot bring myself
to do it. My thoughts will go wandering off and the longing
to have some one who should be all in all to me is so intense
I can hardly bear up at times. I feel just as in a race when all the
strength has gone out of you. I am not despondent though—
I do know how much good and how much brightness there
is in life. It is only that since that love was taken out of my life
my strength seems to have gone too and I find it so hard to stand
alone.

But a few weeks later it was his part to play the réle of comforter,
when his new-found friend was bereaved of her favourite brother.
This event set the seal on their mutual trust and understanding. In
July of the same year he wrote to her of the deepest secret of his life.

You know me well enough now to know that I do not care
for cant or to parade my religious feelings, but I have been tried
so deeply in my life and have had such opportunities, as perhaps
no other living man has had, of communion alone with God and
Nature, that I often feel as though I had got closer to God than
other men and that I can help those around me to understand
Him better. No one who has seen what I have seen, and still
more surely no one who has been influenced as I have been by
those beauties and grandeurs, those scenes of peace and rest,
those scencs of might and strength—and by that spring within
me which has even made me feel at times as if one day, when I
have been tried and proved and tempered sufficiently, I shall be
able to give a message to the worli—by the griefs and pains of
disappointed love and of the loss of the dearest one of all—
by the joys of sweet home-life and heart-deep friendships ; no
one who has been influenced as I have been by all these things
can doubt that there must be an all-pervading Spirit in Nature
that has caused this influence, and this Spirit is God, and this
Spirit, this God, must and does work for good—that everything
improves, and above all man—he always has been, is now, and
always will be improving, struggling and striving on to a higher
and more perfect life, and he is urged and influenced on to this
by that all-pervading Spirit and the essence of that Spirit is Love.
It is by love that man—individually and collectively—will be
perfected and that was the message of Christ—though the old
original simple message has been distorted and hidden by the
creeds and doctrines of religious sects, like every other religion
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that has ever been. . . . These are the higher promptings in
me, but God knows and you know how miserably I fail to carry
them out.

There followed his two years absence in Chitral, and then his
year in South Africa, during which the correspondence continued
atintervals. He had intended to make a round trip of Central Africa,
but a bout of fever in Beira reminded him that he was always fitter
in the snows than in the tropics. At the same time an entirely new
thought had entered his mind : it was the idea of “ settling down”.
From Beira en route to Salisbury, on j1st October 1896, he wrote
again to the same friend :

It does seem foolish of me not to have stayed in England, and
again I am making more resolves to have a real good spell
there. . . . I believe now that I should marry if I stayed any
length of time. Of course I have no one in my mind. It is
only that lately I have felt quite differently than I used to do about
it, and this racketing life is beginning to tell on me and anyhow
I think I shall definitely give up the Central African trip. . . .

His expectations were nearer fulfilment than he guessed, as the
following letters show :

18 April, 1897. London. When are you coming down?
The week after next I am going down to Wales to stay with
my married sister. My father and sister Emmie will be going
down to Haslemere the same day. I want so much to see you
quietly later on to talk over a matter which is filling my mind
just now but which I will not write about.

26 April. Yes, dearest friend, that is it. I have fallen in love
and have wanted so much to tell you. . . . It came about on
board ship coming home. . . . You are the only person besides
my father and my sister Emmie that I have<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>